

Karlsruher Schriftenreihe Fahrzeugsystemtechnik

Benedikt Fengler

Manufacturing-constrained multi-objective optimization of local patch reinforcements for discontinuous fiber reinforced composite parts



Benedikt Fengler

Manufacturing-constrained multi-objective optimization of local patch reinforcements for discontinuous fiber reinforced composite parts

Karlsruher Schriftenreihe Fahrzeugsystemtechnik Band 81

Herausgeber

FAST Institut für Fahrzeugsystemtechnik Prof. Dr. rer. nat. Frank Gauterin Prof. Dr.-Ing. Marcus Geimer Prof. Dr.-Ing. Peter Gratzfeld Prof. Dr.-Ing. Frank Henning

Das Institut für Fahrzeugsystemtechnik besteht aus den Teilinstituten Bahnsystemtechnik, Fahrzeugtechnik, Leichtbautechnologie und Mobile Arbeitsmaschinen.

Eine Übersicht aller bisher in dieser Schriftenreihe erschienenen Bände finden Sie am Ende des Buchs.

Manufacturing-constrained multi-objective optimization of local patch reinforcements for discontinuous fiber reinforced composite parts

by Benedikt Fengler



Karlsruher Institut für Technologie Institut für Fahrzeugsystemtechnik

Manufacturing-constrained multi-objective optimization of local patch reinforcements for discontinuous fiber reinforced composite parts

Zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades eines Doktors der Ingenieurwissenschaften von der KIT-Fakultät für Maschinenbau des Karlsruher Instituts für Technologie (KIT) genehmigte Dissertation

von Benedikt Fengler

Tag der mündlichen Prüfung: 04. Dezember 2018 Erste Gutachterin: Dr.-Ing. Luise Kärger Zweiter Gutachter: Prof. Dr. Andrew N. Hrymak Dritter Gutachter: Prof. Dr. Frank Henning

Impressum



Karlsruher Institut für Technologie (KIT) KIT Scientific Publishing Straße am Forum 2 D-76131 Karlsruhe

KIT Scientific Publishing is a registered trademark of Karlsruhe Institute of Technology. Reprint using the book cover is not allowed.

www.ksp.kit.edu



This document – excluding the cover, pictures and graphs – is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-Share Alike 4.0 International License (CC BY-SA 4.0): https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-sa/4.0/deed.en



The cover page is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-No Derivatives 4.0 International License (CC BY-ND 4.0): https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nd/4.0/deed.en

Print on Demand 2020 – Gedruckt auf FSC-zertifiziertem Papier

ISSN 1869-6058 ISBN 978-3-7315-1006-2 DOI 10.5445/KSP/1000104717

Kurzfassung

Diese Arbeit leistet einen Beitrag zur Optimierung von lokalen endlosfaserverstärkten Patches, unter Berücksichtigung von Fertigungsbedingungen.

Die Kombination von diskontinuierlich und kontinuierlich faserverstärkten Kunststoffen bietet ein breites Anwendungsspektrum. Dabei kann die hohe Gestaltungsfreiheit der diskontinuierlich faserverstärkten Kunststoffe (DiCoFRP) mit den hohen spezifischen Materialeigenschaften der kontinuierlich faserverstärkten Kunststoffe (CoFRP) kombiniert werden. Dieser Ansatz erfordert allerdings spezifische Optimierungsstrategien. Daher wurde eine Mehrziel-Optimierungsstrategie, in welcher Fertigungsrandbedingungen Berücksichtigung finden, für die Positionierung und Dimensionierung von lokalen Endlosfaserverstärkungen entwickelt.

Der in dieser Arbeit entwickelte Mehrziel-Optimierungsansatz verwendet dabei einen evolutionären Algorithmus als Optimierungsalgorithmus. Da diese Klasse von Algorithmen eine Vielzahl von Funktionsauswertungen erfordert, sind effiziente Methoden zur Bewertung der Fitnesswerte notwendig. Aus diesem Grund wird eine kinematische Drapiersimulation zur Vorhersage der Patch-Geometrie verwendet. Um die Fähigkeit der kinematischen Drapierung zu demonstrieren, wird ein Vergleich mit einem mechanischen Ansatz durchgeführt. Dieser Vergleich zeigt den Vorteil der kinematischen Drapiersimulation, die geringe Rechenzeit, sowie deren Nachteil, eine weniger genaue Vorhersage des Umformverhaltens.

Als Zielfunktionen für die Mehrzieloptimierung werden sowohl strukturelle als auch prozessbezogene Ziele verwendet. Als strukturelles Optimierungsziel wird die Bauteilsteifigkeit verwendet, welche mittels einer linear-elastischen Struktursimulation ermittelt wird, während für das prozessbezogene Ziel eine Verzugssimulation durchgeführt wird. Um die prozessbezogenen Zielfunktionen, Bauteilverzug und Eigenspannungen, zu ermitteln, muss das Aushärteverhalten modelliert werden. Hierfür wird eine Abagus Subroutine vom Typ UEXPAN verwendet, mit welcher sich das Aushärteverhalten und die daraus resultierenden Dehnungen effizient bestimmen lassen. Neben dem Verzugsziel werden weitere relevante Fertigungseinflüsse und -randbedingungen aus dem Halbzeug-, Drapier- und Co-Molding-Prozess diskutiert und finden während der Optimierung Berücksichtigung. Die Visualisierung der Optimierungsergebnisse erfolgt mit Hilfe von Heat-Maps, in denen Bereiche hervorgehoben werden, welche den größten Einfluss auf die Optimierungsziele haben. Darüber hinaus werden Ungenauigkeiten aus dem Herstellungsprozess mittels einer Robustheitsbewertung berücksichtigt. Hierfür wurde ein Workflow entwickelt, um die beiden Robustheitsbewertungsgrößen, Degree of Robustness und Robustness Index, im Nachgang zur Optimierung zu berechnen. Die Berechnung erfolgt mit einem rechnerisch effizienten Ansatz, unter Verwendung eines Kriging-Metamodells welches auf den bei der Optimierung gewonnenen Daten aufbaut.

Die entwickelte Optimierungsstrategie wird anhand einer Reihe von Anwendungsbeispielen, angefangen bei einfachen 2D-Geometrien bis hin zu einem komplexen 3D-Beispiel, demonstriert. Dabei wird der Einfluss verschiedener Einstellungen des Optimierungsalgorithmus diskutiert. Dabei wird auch der Einfluss der Anzahl der Zielfunktionen auf die Performance des Optimierungsansatzes anhand der 3D-Beispielstruktur demonstriert.

Abstract

In this work, contributes to the optimization of local continuous fiber reinforcement patches, under consideration of manufacturing constraints.

The combination of discontinuous and continuous fiber reinforced plastics offers a wide range of applications. Thereby the high degree of design freedom of the discontinuous fiber reinforced plastics (DiCoFRP) can be combined with the high specific material properties of continuous fiber reinforced plastics (CoFRP). This approach requires specific optimization strategies. Therefore, an multi-objective optimization strategy for the placement of local reinforcement patches, under consideration of manufacturing constraints, has been developed.

The multi-objective optimization approach developed in this thesis uses an evolutionary algorithm as optimization algorithm. Since this class of algorithms requires a large number of function evaluations, efficient methods for the evaluation of the fitness values are necessary. Therefore, a kinematic draping simulation is used for the prediction of the final patch geometry. To demonstrate the ability of the kinematic draping approach, a comparison with a mechanical approach is performed. This comparison shows the advantage of the kinematic draping simulation, low computational time, as well as its disadvantage, a less precise prediction of the forming behavior.

During the multi objective optimization, structural and process related objectives are considered. As structural objective the components stiffness is taken from a linear-elastic simulation, while for the process related objective a warpage simulation has to be performed. For the prediction of the warpage related objectives, distortion and residual stress, the curing behavior has to be modeled. An Abaqus subroutine UEXPAN is used for the efficient modeling of the curing behavior and the resulting strains. Besides the warpage objective, further relevant manufacturing constraints, coming from the semi-finished product, draping process, and co-molding process, are discussed and considered as constraints during the optimization. The visualization of the optimization results is done with heat-maps, where areas are highlighted in which a reinforcement has the largest impact on the objectives. Furthermore, inaccuracies from the manufacturing process are taken into account during a robustness evaluation. Therefore, a workflow has been developed to calculate the two robustness evaluation measures degree of robustness and robustness index. The calculation of these measures is done with a computational efficient approach, by using a Kriging meta model, which is built on the data gained during the optimization.

The developed optimization strategy is demonstrated with a number of application examples, starting with simple 2D geometries up to a complex 3D example. Thereby, the influence of different settings of the optimization algorithm are discussed. The effect of increasing the number of objective functions on the optimization performance is demonstrated with the 3D example structure.

Contents

Kurzfassung i					
Abstractiii					
1	Intro	oduction	1		
	1.1.	Motivation	1		
	1.2.	Objectives of the thesis	2		
	1.3.	Structure of the thesis	3		
2	Stat	e of the Art	5		
	2.1.	Overview of the SMC process with continuous			
		fiber reinforcements	5		
	2.2.	Structural optimization	6		
	2.3.	Composite optimization	10		
	2.4.	Multi objective optimization	18		
	2.5.	Draping simulation	22		
	2.6.	Curing and warpage simulation	24		
	2.7.	Robustness studies in context of optimization	27		
	2.8.	Meta-models in the context of optimization	29		
3	Pato	h optimization method	.33		
	3.1.	Definition of patch optimization problem	33		
	3.2.	Basic definition on the optimization space	34		
	3.3.	Evolutionary algorithm	36		
		3.3.1. Crossover	38		
		3.3.2. Mutation	41		
		3.3.3. Selection	42		
	3.4.	Fitness calculation	44		
4	Dra	ping simulation method	.47		
	4.1.	Kinematic draping method in the context of an			
		optimization strategy	47		

	4.2.	Workflow of the draping simulation	
	4.3.	Numerical verification	50
	4.4.	Conclusion on draping simulation	55
5	Curi	ng and warpage simulation	57
	5.1.	Kamal-Malkin curing model	57
	5.2.	Svanberg method for expansional strain	59
	5.3.	Implementation of the curing and warpage model	62
	5.4.	Calculation of the local material parameter based on	
		fiber orientation and fiber volume content	63
	5.5.	Numerical verification	64
	5.6.	Conclusion	71
6	Mul	ti-objective optimization along the CAE chain	73
	6.1.	Manufacturing constraints	73
	6.2.	Workflow of the multi-objective patch optimization	76
	6.3.	Convergence criteria	79
	61	Heat mans	01
	0.4.	הפמנ-ווומףג	81
7	0.4. Арр	lication examples and numerical results	81 81
7	App 7.1.	lication examples and numerical results Plate structure	81
7	0.4. App 7.1. 7.2.	lication examples and numerical results Plate structure Slightly curved structure	81
7	 App 7.1. 7.2. 7.3. 	lication examples and numerical results Plate structure Slightly curved structure IRTG reference structure	
7	 App 7.1. 7.2. 7.3. 7.4. 	lication examples and numerical results Plate structure Slightly curved structure IRTG reference structure Conclusion on application results	
7	 App 7.1. 7.2. 7.3. 7.4. Rob 	lication examples and numerical results Plate structure Slightly curved structure IRTG reference structure Conclusion on application results	81
7	 App 7.1. 7.2. 7.3. 7.4. Rob 8.1. 	lication examples and numerical results Plate structure Slightly curved structure IRTG reference structure Conclusion on application results ustness study Robustness measurements	81
7 8	 App 7.1. 7.2. 7.3. 7.4. Rob 8.1. 	lication examples and numerical results Plate structure Slightly curved structure IRTG reference structure Conclusion on application results ustness study Robustness measurements 8.1.1. Degree of robustness	81 87 99 107 116 119 120
8	 App 7.1. 7.2. 7.3. 7.4. Rob 8.1. 	lication examples and numerical results Plate structure Slightly curved structure IRTG reference structure Conclusion on application results ustness study Robustness measurements 8.1.1. Degree of robustness 8.1.2. Robustness index	81 87 99 107 116 119 120 121
8	 App 7.1. 7.2. 7.3. 7.4. Rob 8.1. 8.2. 	lication examples and numerical results Plate structure Slightly curved structure IRTG reference structure Conclusion on application results ustness study Robustness measurements 8.1.1. Degree of robustness 8.1.2. Robustness index Kriging meta-model	81 87 99 107 116 119 120 121 123
8	 App 7.1. 7.2. 7.3. 7.4. Rob 8.1. 8.2. 8.3. 	lication examples and numerical results Plate structure Slightly curved structure IRTG reference structure Conclusion on application results ustness study Robustness measurements 8.1.1. Degree of robustness 8.1.2. Robustness index Kriging meta-model Implemented workflow	81 87 99 107 116 119 120 121 123 125
8	 App 7.1. 7.2. 7.3. 7.4. Rob 8.1. 8.2. 8.3. 8.4. 	lication examples and numerical results Plate structure Slightly curved structure IRTG reference structure Conclusion on application results ustness study Robustness measurements 8.1.1. Degree of robustness 8.1.2. Robustness index Kriging meta-model Implemented workflow Application example	81 87 99 107 116 119 120 121 123 125 129
8	 App 7.1. 7.2. 7.3. 7.4. Rob 8.1. 8.2. 8.3. 8.4. 8.5. 	lication examples and numerical results Plate structure Slightly curved structure IRTG reference structure Conclusion on application results ustness study Robustness measurements 8.1.1. Degree of robustness 8.1.2. Robustness index Kriging meta-model Implemented workflow Application example Conclusion on robustness studies	81 87 99 107 116 119 120 121 123 125 129 133
7 8 9	 App 7.1. 7.2. 7.3. 7.4. Rob 8.1. 8.2. 8.3. 8.4. 8.5. Con 	lication examples and numerical results Plate structure Slightly curved structure IRTG reference structure Conclusion on application results ustness study Robustness measurements 8.1.1. Degree of robustness 8.1.2. Robustness index Kriging meta-model Implemented workflow Application example Conclusion on robustness studies	81 87 99 107 116 119 120 121 123 125 129 133

	9.2. Outlook	138
10	References	141
11	List of figures	157
12	List of tables	165
13	List of symbols	167
14	Vocabulary for evolutionary algorithm	171

1 Introduction

1.1. Motivation

Optimization tools are often part of the product development process, where problem specific strategies are necessary to find the best solution. Thereby, the range of optimization strategies varies depending on the tools used for the initial geometry concept creation, such as topology optimization, to methods used in a later steps of the design process, such as shape optimization. When using composite materials, the number of design variables is significantly increased, since the material composition itself can serve as an optimization objective. In addition, the high anisotropy of this material class has to be considered during the optimization process, to fully exploit the excellent weight-specific stiffness of composite materials. For this purpose, optimization strategies specifically developed for composite materials are necessary.

Furthermore, the part's material cost can be reduced when combining discontinuous fiber reinforced polymers (DiCoFRP) with local reinforcements, such as continuous fiber reinforced patches (CoFRP), to create load carrying paths. Therefore, a commonly used optimization objective is to achieve highest performance in terms of maximum stiffness, while using a minimum amount of reinforcement material. In addition, the concurrent use of continuous and discontinuous fiber reinforced composites, allows a combination of the advantages of both material classes, i.e. DiCoFRP and CoFRP. While the excellent weight specific properties of the continuous reinforced material are utilized in highly loaded areas, the discontinuous reinforced composite material offers a wide range of design freedom. To achieve an advantageous combination of both material classes, an optimization strategy dealing with the positioning of the continuous fiber reinforcements (patches) is necessary. In general, the use of virtual optimization tools reduces the number of expensive prototypes, since the product quality can be increased in an early phase of the design process. Therefore, a number of different optimization approaches have been developed in the past, mostly focusing on isotropic materials. The methods presented for composite optimization are usually focusing on either continuous or discontinuous reinforcements, while the combination of both material classes has not been a research focus. Hence, a method should be proposed, to combine both material classes, utilizing the advantages of each class. In addition, the quality and feasibility of optimization results should be increased by the incorporation of manufacturing constraints during the optimization. An additional improvement of the optimizations result can be achieved by performing a robustness evaluation. Thereby, further influences of the manufacturing process can be incorporated, to ensure that the predicted optimum remains an optimal solution in the real process.

1.2. Objectives of the thesis

The global objective of this thesis is the development of a strategy for the optimization of position and size of continuous fiber reinforced patches, under consideration of manufacturing constraints and warpage.

Therefore, a multi-objective optimization method has to be implemented, which allows a parametric optimization of the patches and the determination of the final Pareto front, where a Pareto front defines a multi-objective tradeoff curve. In addition to the Pareto front, a second tool for the designer should be proposed to support the patch positioning in the final part. Manufacturing constraints, like maximum patch size or feasible patch geometries, shall be considered during the optimization. For this purpose, an efficient draping simulation has to be implemented in the optimization workflow. Furthermore, a warpage objective should be integrated in the optimization workflow to limit arising distortions and inner stresses. Therefore, curing and warpage simulation models have to be implemented. Draping method and curing simulation need to be implemented in a CAE chain to model the entire process from starting material to final product, which is finally used for the optimization. In addition, a method for the visualization of the optimization results has to be developed, which can assist the designer in finding the area, in which the patch reinforcement has the largest impact.

Since the robustness of an optimization result is an important objective, a method should be proposed, which allows for evaluation of the final front's robustness. Therefore, a meta-model based robustness evaluation method has to be implemented, which uses the results from the multi-objective optimization as input information.

1.3. Structure of the thesis

The thesis is organized as follows: An overview of the state of the art, regarding the methods used and developed in this thesis is given in Chapter 1. In Chapter 2, the patch optimization method is introduced, and an introduction in the field of evolutionary algorithm is given, including basic definitions regarding optimization.

The used kinematic draping simulation method is presented in Chapter 3. In addition, a comparison of kinematic and mechanical draping methods is given here. The approach of the proposed curing simulation is introduced in Chapter 4. Besides the curing method, the approach used for the calculation of the residual strains, occurring during cure, is given here.

The optimization along the CAE chain, developed within this work, is presented in Chapter 5. In addition, the constraints, resulting from the manufacturing process, to be considered within the optimization are discussed in this chapter. The developed optimization approach is applied to a number of application examples, numerically verified and discussed in Chapter 6. To further include manufacturing inaccuracies in the optimization process, a robustness evaluation method is developed. The proposed workflow of the robustness evaluation method is presented in Chapter 7. First, an overview of robustness evaluation, in the context of multi-objective optimization is given. Furthermore, a surrogate model approach, used for the robustness evaluation, is presented. In addition, the developed method is applied to an application example, introduced in the previous chapter.

This thesis is concluded with Chapter 8, summarizing the findings and giving an outlook for further research in the field of composite optimization.

2 State of the Art

2.1. Overview of the SMC process with continuous fiber reinforcements

The optimization strategy of this thesis focuses on the compression molding process of sheet molding compounds (SMC) with over-molding of continuous fiber reinforced patches. Therefore, a brief introduction in the processing of patch-reinforced SMC parts is given here.

The first step is the preparation of pre-impregnated semi-finished products (prepreg) with discontinuous and continuous fiber reinforcement (DiCoFRP and CoFRP), cf. Figure 2-1 (a) and (b). After the resin is applied to the bottom foil, either continuous or discontinuous fibers are added, and finally a resincoated top foil is applied. Within the GRK2078 project frame of this thesis, an unsaturated polyester polyurethane hybrid (UPPH) resin system is used for both prepregs [1]. Once the fabrication of the semi-finished products is done, the materials are cut and stacked. After a near net-shaped draping process of the CoFRP material, cf. Figure 2-1 (c), the material is positioned in the press and co-molded, cf. Figure 2-1 (e). The last steps of the process are the demolding and deburring of the final parts, cf. Figure 2-1 (f). The reader is referred to Sharma et al. [2] for further details on the SMC process, and to Bücheler et al. [1] for the specific requirements of the combination of SMC with local patch reinforcements. The manufacturing of components with multiple fiber architectures, like SMC with unidirectional reinforcements, and their behavior during the manufacturing process, was also discussed by Corbridge et al. [3].

The lightweight ability of the combination of continuous and discontinuous fiber reinforced materials has been demonstrated within several industrial applications. Akiyama [4] presented a trunk lid and an engine cover, while Bruderick et al. [5] showed a more holistic approach with the design of the

Dodge Viper, where several SMC components are used in combination with CoFRP.



Figure 2-1: Process for continuous-discontinuous-fiber reinforced thermoset components, used within GRK2078; discontinuous-fiber prepreg preparation (a), continuous fiber prepreg preparation (b), handling and near net-shape draping (c), position and orientation control of the continuous reinforcement (d), co-molding (e), and final deburring (f) [1]

2.2. Structural optimization

In product development, optimization methods have gained an important role, since they allow a designer to improve a component's performance in early design phases. Therefore, several different approaches have been developed in the past. Structural optimization methods can be classified in the three main groups sizing, shape, and topology optimization. For these approaches the degree of design freedom increases from sizing to topology optimization. While using a size optimization method, only a given set of dimensions are subject to the optimization, such as the cross section thickness of beam elements, cf. Figure 2-2. Whereas, shape optimization is a more flexible approach, allowing also to change the shape of the geometry. Here usually a set of control points for morphing is defined to describe a flexible geometry. These points work then as degrees of freedom for the optimization. In the example given in Figure 2-2, the shape of the holes would be subject to the optimization process. The approach with the highest degree of freedom, regarding geometry changes, is the topology optimization. In a product development process, topology optimization is usually used in an early state to create a conceptual design [6]. While size and shape optimization start from an almost final part design, topology optimization starts from a rough design space with a uniform material distribution. Therefore, usually a volume constraint is used, to describe the maximum allowed amount of material [7]. For a detailed overview on topology optimization methods, the reader is referred to Eschenauer and Olhoff [8]. A comprehensive overview and evaluation of structural optimization methods in general was published by Saitou et al. [6]. The approach presented here is a combination of shape and topology optimization, where the change of patch size is a kind of shape optimization, while the positioning of the patch can be assigned to the field of topology optimization.



Figure 2-2: Comparison of structural optimization approaches [9]

Since for most applications the quality of optimization results can be increased by the incorporation of manufacturing constraints, this topic has been a field of research for some time. One of the first constraints to be included in topology optimization was the consideration of an extrusion direction, which ensures that the resulting geometry can be manufactured by an extrusion process [10]. In the same work, the authors developed an approach for the consideration of a mold opening direction in the topology optimization. While using a cast molding part as an application example, Zhou et al. demonstrated the influence of manufacturing constraints on the quality of the optimization result.

Zuo et al. [11] introduced further machining and manufacturing constraints for the topology optimization. To ensure a post-processing, such as milling, they proposed a minimum hole size control, which allows them to remove small holes form the resulting structure. Furthermore, they integrated a symmetry constraint in the optimization, which is able to ensure demoldability for injection molded parts.

The approaches from Zhou et al. [10] and Zuo et al. [11] were integrated in the so-called Solid Material with Penalization Model (SIMP), where a virtual density is used as optimization parameter. Therefore, in both approaches the density distribution over the thickness of the model is used as constraint, in a way that no change of the gradient in thickness direction is allowed. For a detailed explanation of the SIMP approach the reader is referred to Harzheim [7].

The importance of manufacturing constraints for industrial applications is demonstrated by Gruber et al. [12]. They used topology optimization with integrated minimum member size control, to generate design proposals for an aircraft structure. Liu et al. [13] discussed the influence of different manufacturing constraints on the topology optimization results. For this purpose, they compared different constraints like minimum hole size (to prevent small holes) or length control methods (to prevent checker boarding). Focusing on injection molded parts, they demonstrated the capability of a rib thickness gradient method to ensure the same thickness along a rib, which is useful to prevent problems with warpage. They also demonstrate the usefulness of the extrusion and tool opening direction constraint. Usually gradient-based optimization approaches are used for topology optimization. Chapman et al. [14] showed in their work the integration of an evolutionary algorithm in the topology optimization. In their approach, they use the elements as design variables, which results in a large number of design variables, even for small models. Thereby, every element corresponds to an entry in the vector of design variables, which is in the context of evolutionary algorithm also called gen string. For larger structures, they proposed an approach for the building of sub-groups as well as a connectivity check. Within their work they focused only on 2D structures.

Even though size and shape optimization are usually used in later steps of the design process, those methods can also be used to provide input for initial design concepts. For this purpose a truss structure, consisting of beam elements, is used as a representation for the geometrical optimization problem. Those representations are typically used in civil engineering optimization problems. [15]

Like topology optimization, shape optimization has been a topic in research for a while. Haftka and Grandhi [16] give a good introduction of the applied methods. Furthermore, they describe some reccurring problems, like stress localization due to sharp edges generated by the change of shape or the need of mesh refinement during the optimization. An overview of the latest developments and trends, with focus on aerodynamic applications, for shape optimization methods was given by Skinner and Zare-Behtash [17]. It has been proven by several authors, that including manufacturing constraints in the optimization workflow significantly increases the quality of the results [11– 13]. In addition, it could be seen that evolutionary algorithms are able to deal with complex optimization problems, like topology optimization [14].

Beyond the described methods, approaches with the integration of surrogate-models or reduced-order models have been used for structural optimization [6]. Additionally an approach to use particle swarm optimization (PSO) methods as algorithm for a structural optimization problem have been presented by Perez and Behdinan [18]. A PSO approach for 2D topology optimization has been presented by Luh et al. [19], thereby they used the elements as discreet design parameters. Another field gaining attention for the development of optimization methods is the additive manufacturing, since this technology is able to realize relatively complex structures, following mostly the result from the optimization. Therefore, Liu et al. [20] addressed this topic in their work, by the consideration of deposition paths during the optimization run. Contrary to evolutionary algorithm, PSO is usually used for single objective optimization only, furthermore, a rather complex modeling of the optimization problem is necessary, as input for the optimization process.

2.3. Composite optimization

Since composite materials offer several additional degrees of design freedom, such as fiber or matrix type, fiber volume content, or stacking sequence of laminates, special optimization strategies are necessary to fully exploit the abilities of this material class. Common topology optimization approaches are not able to cover all possible degrees of design freedom. Therefore, several approaches have been made to expand the capability of topology optimization for composite applications.

Topology and structural optimization for composite applications

In their work, Blasques and Stolpe [21] utilise the classical laminate theory (CLT) within a topology optimization. Based on a predefined set of layer types, a list of possible layups, each consisting of several layers, is created a-priori. Those materials where then assigned during the topology optimization, thereby the material assignment represents an additional parameter, compared with the common topology optimization approaches. Dai et al. [22] extended this approach by integrating the CLT directly in the optimization loop, considering 2D geometries only, but offering more degrees of freedom for the optimization. Therefore, not only the predefined layups can be used, but all possible layer combinations.

A more holistic approach is presented by Liu et al. [23], where they use three different objectives, resulting from a static load case, a frequency analysis, and a crash simulation. Therefore, the model is divided by a user-predefined segmentation, each of this segments has a specific layup and thickness, where the thickness serves as design parameter. For these parameters, a specified number of simulations is done to create a Kriging surrogate model, which is then used as input for a particle swarm optimization algorithm.

As the fiber orientation has a major influence on the mechanical properties, orientation optimization strategies have been addressed by several authors [24–28]. Savic et al. [27] used an improved hit and run algorithm for the optimization of fiber orientations in I-profiles. Therefore, they subdivided the profile in several regions and used the local fiber orientation of each region as a design parameter. Focusing on 2D structures, Legrand et al. [28] proposed a method for the optimization of the element orientation. Here, they integrated a genetic algorithm in a finite element simulation, with the global strain energy as objective function. Extending this approach, Vosoughi et al. [25] used a genetic algorithm combined with a particle swarm method to maximize the buckling load of a given structure.

Process parameter optimization

Since the mechanical properties of composite materials are strongly dependent on the manufacturing process, it is self-evident to study the abilities of virtual process optimization. An approach for the minimization of the shear angle is presented by Skordos et al. [29], thereby they used a combination of an evolutionary algorithm and a kinematic draping simulation, with the orientation of the layers as an optimization parameter. In addition, an optimization of the draping process with a mechanical-based draping simulation was proposed by Chen et al. [30], where they used a series of springs to model and optimize the gripping system used during the draping process. A two-loop CoFRP optimization workflow, considering a process and structural simulation has been developed by Kärger et al. [31]. In their work, they used the process simulation to optimize the draping process, while the structural performance is evaluated subsequently by a structural simulation, considering the results from the process optimization. A further method to consider draping effects in the optimization is introduced by Kaufmann et al. [32]. Since they focus on the weight optimization, they create an a-priori draping data base, which then can be used during the optimization loop. This means the draping simulation is not part of the optimization loop.

With the minimization of residual stresses, Sonmez and Akbulut [33] focus on the optimization of the tape laying process itself. Therefore, they included a thermoplastic tape laying process simulation in the optimization loop, while searching the optimum process parameters. In the optimization workflow, the tape laying process simulation is combined with a residual stress analysis, including a degradation model, and a simulation of the bonding process. Therefore, they used the process parameters such as temperature, roller velocity, and heated length as design variables. With this, they performed a single objective optimization to identify the optimal process window, in terms of residual stress minimization, with the degree of bonding and the thermal degradation as constraints.

Optimization of layup and stacking sequence

A topic covered by several authors is the search for the optimum layup configuration. This has been first addressed by Le Riche and Haftka [34], where they used an evolutionary algorithm to optimize the buckling load of a structure. An extended approach was introduced by Zehnder and Ermanni [35], with their patch based optimization of a boat structure. In their context, a patch is defined as an area with a constant layup and thickness, within a structure. These patches have to be defined a priori, and their shape will remain the same during the optimization, while the stacking sequence in each patch is subject to the optimization.

The latest development has been presented by Albanesi et al. [36], where they extended the optimization quality by including manufacturing constraints, besides mechanical constraints, to minimize a component's weight. Therefore, they combined a genetic algorithm with a Laplace crossover and a power mutation approach, using ply order, ply number, and ply drop as design parameter. They used a wind turbine blade as reference model, to demonstrate the proposed approach, cf. Figure 2-3.



Figure 2-3: Example of a stacking sequence optimization for a wind turbine blade [36]

Since composite materials consist of several components, there has been some work done, dealing with the optimization of the material composition. Sadagopan and Pitchumani [37] suggested a method to minimize manufacturing cost, while maintaining mechanical and thermal properties. In their work, they compared a genetic algorithm and a simulated annealing approach, while searching for the optimum material composition, in terms of fiber architecture, fiber and matrix type, and fiber volume fraction.

A special case of reinforcing structures is covered by Jansson et al. [38] with the optimization of local unidirectional reinforcement tows, cf. Figure 2-4,

where the authors proposed a method of the combined optimization of the layup and tow thickness, while the geometry remains unchanged.



Figure 2-4: Example of a local tow reinforcement [38]

Rettenwander et al. [26] introduced an iterative approach for the optimization of local part thickness and fiber orientation. Here, thickness and fiber orientation are not modified at the same time, but instead optimized sequentially after each other. This loop is run through several times. The optimization of local thickness and fiber volume content is addressed by Qian et al. [39] with an element based approach. To consider manufacturability, they included a combination step, in which they combined small regions with similar thickness to larger regions with equal thickness. Thereby, areas which are too small to manufacture are removed. Using a spare wheel housing as case study, the authors demonstrated the capacity of their approach [40].

A method to consider uncertainties during a laminate optimization procedure was presented by Kalantari et al. [24], where they used fiber orientation, fiber volume fraction, local thickness, and stacking sequence as parameter. In the proposed method, they incorporated a lower and an upper bound for the consideration of scattering within the three parameter fibers volume fraction, fiber orientation, and local thickness. Therefore, in each iteration, an intermediate step is included, in which a worst-case scenario for the three scattering parameter is assumed, while the total thickness and volume fraction remain constant. The result from this worst-case scenario is then used during a stacking sequence optimization.

While looking at commercially available solutions, the most common method is the implementation in Altair's software OptiStruct, cf. Figure 2-5. Here, a procedure consisting of the three main steps free-size optimization, composite size optimization, and composite shuffling is implemented. The result of the free-size step are the required thicknesses of each layer with a defined fiber orientation. Based on this result, the Size Optimization is used to calculate the necessary thickness of each ply, thereby discrete thicknesses are considered to ensure manufacturability. In the final step, the stacking sequence of the laminate is optimized.



Figure 2-5: Composite optimization procedure implemented in OptiStruct (Source: altairhyperworks.com)

Optimization of local patch reinforcements

In their work, Mathias et al. [41] focused on the optimization of composite repair patches for aluminium structures. Therefore, they used a spline-based representation of a 2D patch as a reinforcement for damaged structures, cf. Figure 2-6. Beside the control points, they used the global patch orientation as well as the local fiber orientation as optimization parameter. Zehnder and Ermanni [35] proposed a similar approach, by using a parametric CAD model to describe the patch geometry for the optimization.



Figure 2-6: Example of a spline-based definition of a local repair patch [41]

Rettenwander et al. [42] introduced a method for the optimization of local unidirectional reinforcement patches. The positioning of the patches is done with respect to a stress field resulting from a finite element simulation, where the patches follow the main stress paths. This procedure is based on the CAIO method (Computer Aided Internal Optimization), where tailored fiber rovings

are oriented along the principle stress trajectories. Therefore, they focused on 2D structures and did not include a draping step. Another approach for the optimization of the fiber orientation based on the CAIO method was proposed by Klein et al. [43]. In their work, they also focused on 2D structures only. Focusing on repair strategies, Kashfuddoja and Ramji [44] used a genetic algorithm for the optimization of the shape of local patches, therefore the dimensions of patches with predefined geometries are used as parameters. The optimization is performed with four predefined layups. The design parameters of the composite patch, like fiber orientation or fiber volume content, remain unchanged.

A different definition for a patch is given by Zhang et al. [45], in their approach a patch refers to an area with a uniform stacking sequence. Here, they subdivided the initial geometry a priori in patches, for which they used the ply orientation as parameter and a weighted sum, consisting of the two objectives compliance and eigenfrequency.

Optimization of local reinforcements for composite parts has shown its potential in several different applications. In most cases, manufacturing effects are not considered during the optimization process, though these effects can largely influence the optimization process, and should therefore be included in the workflow. Furthermore, several approaches are only applicable for 2D applications, and do not consider draping effects in the structural optimization. In addition, the presented approaches focus mostly on the optimization of single objectives, from either a process or structural point of view. Here a more holistic approach is necessary, to fully exploit the advantages of composite materials.

2.4. Multi objective optimization

In general a multi-objective optimization problem can be formulated as

$$\begin{aligned} \text{Minimize } [F(x)] &= [F_1(x), F_2(x), \dots F_k(x)]^{\mathrm{T}}, \\ x \in X \end{aligned} \tag{1}$$

subject to

$$g_j(x) \le 0, \qquad j = 1, 2, \dots m$$
 (2)

$$h_i(\mathbf{x}) = 0, \qquad i = 1, 2, \dots n$$
 (3)

where k is the number of objective functions F(x) and x represents the vector of design variables in a feasible design space X. Furthermore, the constraints are given by j inequality constraints g(x) and i equality constraints h(x). The objective of the optimization is to find a solution x which minimizes all objective functions simultaneously. In general, a minimization is sufficient for all problems, since a maximization can be formulated as

$$Maximize [F(x)] = Minimize [-F(x)].$$
(4)

For most engineering applications, the objective functions have opposite correlations, which means that improving one objective will impair another one. To quantify these differing correlations, Villfredo Pareto described the idea to find a set of optimal solutions, the so called Pareto set or Pareto front [46–48]. The Pareto optimality is defined as a set of solutions $\mathbf{x} = [\mathbf{x}_1, \mathbf{x}_2, \dots, \mathbf{x}_k]$ for which no point \mathbf{x}^* exists, with $F_i(\mathbf{x}) \ge F_i(\mathbf{x}^*)$ for all $F_i(\mathbf{x})$ and $F_i(\mathbf{x}) > F_i(\mathbf{x}^*)$ for at least one function $F_i(\mathbf{x})$, with $i = 2 \dots n$ as the number of considered fitness functions. To solve this problem several different approaches exist in literature. Thereby, two quality measures are pursued to evaluate the optimization algorithms. The first is to ensure convergence in the direction of the best solutions, and the second is to maintain a certain diversity along the front, to obtain a better representation of the first, cf. Figure 2-7. Additionally should be mentioned, that it cannot be ensured that

an optimization converges to a global optimum rather than a local. This applies in general for multi-objective as for single-objective optimization problems.



Figure 2-7: Main objectives of a multi-objective optimization: Convergence to an optimal front and a high diversity along the final front

For the most common multi-objective optimization method, the weighted sum approach, different strategies are presented in literature [48, 49]. The idea of this method is to combine all objective functions on a single objective function, in a way that only one function U has to be minimized. For the simplest case U is defined as

$$U = \sum_{i=1}^{k} w_i * F(x)_i, \qquad F_i(x) > 0 \; \forall i$$
(5)

In which w_i represents the individual weighting factors for each objective function F_i . Several studies have been conducted with these methods, and several variations have been published. For the creation of a Pareto set, the optimization has to be done with several different sets of w. Furthermore, those methods are susceptible to user influence, since the different sets of w

have to be selected by the user. Therefore, no non-problem-specific strategy exists, which means that the user has to have a good knowledge of the behavior of the objective functions to define a reasonable set of w. [48]

In addition several other strategies, like the weighted global criterion or the lexicographic method, have been developed with the aim to find the Pareto optimal set. All of those methods have in common, that multiple optimization runs, each with adjustments made by the user, are necessary [48], except for genetic algorithm methods. With these methods it is possible to calculate the complete Pareto front within one optimization loop. Therefore, these methods are insensitive to user influence, since here no weighting vector w has to be defined. In the following, an overview of engineering applications of multiobjective optimizations is given. Despite this drawback, in most cases a weighted sum approach is implemented to solve these problems.

Walker and Smith [50] used a genetic algorithm for the simultaneous optimization of mass and deflection. Therefore, they used a weighted sum method, while a Tsai-Wu failure criteria is incorporated as a constraint. Thereby the fiber orientation of each ply and the laminate thickness are implemented as discreet design parameters. Almeida and Awruch [51] investigated the influence of different methods for the representation of the design variables, while using a genetic algorithm with a weighted sum. Hemmatian et al. applied a gravitational search algorithm [52] and an ant colony optimization method [53] to solve a composite optimization problem, with the objectives of total weight and cost, while combining different material types.

A patch optimization procedure is presented by Mejlej et al. [54], where they used a combination of two different genetic algorithms. In their work, they covered the stiffness and weight optimization, combined in a weighted sum, of local reinforced metallic components, but did not include forming or warpage simulation to predict the realized patch position or to consider warpage.
Although most references use a weighted sum method, some approaches have been done to use Pareto optimization approaches in engineering optimization. Vo-Duy et al. [55] used the contrary optimization problem, minimization of weight and maximization of natural frequency, to demonstrate the ability of genetic algorithm in finding the Pareto front. Thereby, they also showed the influence of the number of optimization design variables by varying them from one variable to three variables. Ermakova and Dayyani [56] applied a weighted sum method and a genetic algorithm to a shape optimization problem. In their work, they pointed out the problems with the random character of genetic algorithm, which in their case results in non-smooth results.

Another field for the application of multi-objective optimization techniques are optimization procedures covering several different simulation methods for the calculation of the fitness functions. Eck et al. [57] introduced a method to consider a process cost objective, resulting from the resin transfer molding (RTM) process, within the optimization. Therefore, they used a surrogate model tool, which they called process-estimator, to predict the mold filling time and total process cost depending on the stacking sequence. A simultaneously structural and aerodynamic optimization approach is introduced by Dal Monte et al. [58], where they concurrently optimize the stiffness and the generated power of a wind turbine blade. Akmar et al. [59] suggested a multiscale approach for the optimization of hybrid composite layup structures. Their approach consists of a genetic algorithm, which is used to optimize the weave pattern by using a representative volume element (RVE), and an ant colony method for the optimization of the stacking sequence.

Pohlak et al. [60] developed an approach for the optimization of large composite parts, where they use cost and time as objectives, while considering stress, displacement, and maximum thickness constraints. The optimization is performed on a meta-model, which is trained with input data from a freesize optimization. It has been proven by several authors, that evolutionary algorithms are able to solve complex engineering optimization problems. Nevertheless, most approaches utilize a weighted sum approach rather than a multi-objective optimization, which results in several optimization runs, from which each is subject to user influence. Furthermore, it could be seen that the combination of different simulation methods is a promising field. Therefore, a structural simulation will be coupled in this work with process simulation, warpage prediction and kinematic draping simulation, to form a multi-objective optimization approach. In addition, the use of meta-models has been proved to be useful for composite optimization problems. Therefore, a meta-model approach will be used for the evaluation of robustness.

2.5. Draping simulation

Since the fiber structure determines the mechanical properties of the final part, it is important to predict the fiber architecture of continuous fibre reinforcements by draping simulation. In principle, the available draping simulation approaches can be separated in two fields, kinematic (also known as mapping approaches) and mechanical methods [61]. Both approaches have been developed with a different focus. Mechanical approaches are based on constitutive models and offer higher prediction accuracy of the actual material behavior [62–65]. Therefore, a good knowledge of the material behavior is essential. Compared to this, kinematic approaches offer only an approximate prediction of the material behavior and, thus, do not require material characterization. Moreover, kinematic approaches are usually very efficient. Due to the lack of exact modeling of the material behavior, it is not possible to predict wrinkling by kinematic draping simulation. Nevertheless, van West et al. [66] proposed a knowledge-based prediction of wrinkling by selecting the initial paths in a way, that the shear angle can be used as an evidence. Therefore, they placed the initial paths close to the point of interest. Nevertheless, this approach is only feasible for simple geometries, since the initial paths have to be placed individually for each possibly problematic geometry

feature. Long and Rudd [67] used the kinematic draping simulation to predict hotspots of fiber misalignment. Thereby, they used different angles for the initial paths as representation of different fiber orientations of the undraped fabric. Since the draping simulation used here is a kinematic method, this chapter will focus on kinematic draping simulation.

The basic assumption, made for kinematic draping simulation of unidirectional fiber reinforcements, is a simple shear deformation of the material, where the length of the fibers and the spacing between the fibers is assumed to be constant during the forming process, cf. Figure 2-8. The kinematic draping approach has been first introduced by Mack and Taylor [68] for the forming behavior of woven textile fabrics. Woven textiles can be assumed to deform in pure shear, where the length of the fibers in both directions is kept constant. The following assumptions are made for kinematic draping simulations:

- 1. fibers are inextensible,
- 2. warp and weft crossing points act as pivoting points,
- 3. no slipping occurs at the pivoting points,
- 4. the distance between two pivoting points is much less than the smallest curvature radius of the surface,
- 5. the fabric is everywhere in contact with the surface.

Those constraints serve as basis for every implementation of a kinematic draping approach, and will therefore also be applied here.



Figure 2-8: Assumptions of the simple shear deformation behavior of unidirectional fiber reinforcements, used for the kinematic draping simulation, where fiber length and distance between the fibers remain unchanged during the draping procedure [61]

The drawbacks and advantages of kinematic methods have been extensively studied by multiple authors. A main disadvantage of kinematic draping simulation is the dependence of the simulation result on the choice of the starting point and of the initial path of the kinematic algorithm. Van West et al. [66] demonstrated the influence of the initial path for the draping of a corner bending, where the results depend heavily on the selected starting point. Vanclooster et al. [69] systematically studied the influence of different orientations of the initial path and different positions of the starting point.

Sharma and Sutcliffe [70] used a double curved structure to compare the results of a forming experiment with the result from a draping simulation. Furthermore, they showed that the kinematic draping simulation has problems to predict the shear angle in areas with fast changing curvature. Pickett et al. [71] used a rear seat bench and wheel arches of an automotive structure to prove that a kinematic draping simulation can be used to get a first impression of the draping behavior in an early state of product design, since it is reasonably robust and requires only a minimum of data input. Nevertheless, they also pointed out that the starting point and initial path has a significant influence on the result of the simulation.

It has been proven by several authors, that a kinematic draping simulation is sufficient to give a coarse representation of the patch's geometry. However, a comparison of the results gained with a FE based draping simulation and a kinematic draping simulation, is performed within this thesis. Furthermore, the kinematic draping simulation has significant benefits, in terms of computational time. Since the proposed optimization procedure requires a large number of calculations, a kinematic draping approach is used in this work.

2.6. Curing and warpage simulation

The causes for warpage during composite manufacturing processes can be split up into a thermal and a chemical part. The thermal proportion results from the different coefficients of thermal expansion of fiber and matrix, while the source for the chemical proportion is the creation of covalent bonds during the curing of the matrix. The distance between the monomer molecules in the liquid state is dominated by Van der Waals interactions. Since the specific distance of covalent bonding is about an order of magnitude smaller, the curing of the matrix results in a shrinkage of the matrix material. The amount of shrinkage is thereby influenced by type and concentration of matrix, hardener, inhibitor, and fillers [72].

The model used in this thesis to describe the curing behavior was first introduced by Kamal [73], which is a further development of a model proposed earlier by Kamal and Sourour [74] including additional fitting parameters. The governing equations are presented in Section 5.1. A model for the curing of sheet molding compound (SMC) during the compression molding process was proposed by Lee [75]. The approach proposed by Lee covers the kinetic mechanism with governing equations for initiation, inhibition and propagation of the curing process. Furthermore, Lee presented a method for the simulation of the heat transfer within the SMC material, during the compression molding process, and compared his simulation results with experimental data. Since the chemical composition of the SMC material used in this thesis is not available, the method from Lee could not be used here and, thus, the Kamal model is chosen. However, the choice of the curing model does not affect the principal goal of the thesis, since the curing simulation is not the main focus, but its implementation in the optimization workflow.

An overview of different kinetic models is given by Halley and Mackay [76], where they present the typically used approaches, like first and nth order, polynomial, or autocatalytic models. Furthermore, they present the common methods for the chemo-rheological characterization, as well as for the curedependent modeling of the viscosity.

In their work, Tseng and Osswald [77] presented an FE based method for the prediction of shrinkage and warpage of short fiber reinforced thermoset composites during the compression molding process. Furthermore, they consid-

ered the fiber orientation from the process simulation for the shrinkage calculation. A separation of different effects, leading to warpage, was done by Radford and Rennick [78]. According to their work, the most important influences are material anisotropy, temperature gradient through parts thickness direction, and part-tool interactions.

Bogetti and Gillespie [79] presented an approach for the prediction of process induced stress and deformations within thick-section thermoset composite laminates. For this purpose, they proposed a combination of a one-dimensional cure simulation to calculate the gradients of degree of cure and temperature over the thickness. A micro-mechanical model is used to calculate the temperature and cure dependent material properties, while an incremental laminated plate theory is used to calculate the laminate properties, and perform the warpage calculation.. In addition, they presented a method to calculate the development of the Young's modulus depending on the degree of cure. Based on this work, Svanberg and Holmberg [80–82] developed an approach for the calculation of the strains resulting from curing. In their approach they split the occurring strains in a chemical and a thermal component. The governing equations are presented in Section 5.2. The presented approach is relatively computationally inexpensive, and therefore used within this thesis.

While focusing on unsymmetrical laminates, Wisnom et al. [83] analyzed the basic mechanism causing residual stress and distortion, and especially their development during cure. Thereby, they showed that after vitrification, the main cause for distortion is thermal stress, while before vitrification thermal and chemical stresses, have to be considered. In their work, Wisnom et al. focused on experiments, and did not perform simulations. Hossain [84] proposed the inclusion of a modeling of the material's stiffness increase during curing in combination with a phenomenological viscoelastic curing model, to achieve a better prediction of the residual stresses and distortion than the approach presented by Svanberg, but with greater computational costs.

Warpage optimization was addressed by Gao and Wang [85]. Their approach consists of a design of experiments (DOE) to create training points for a metamodel, which is then used to link warpage and process parameter. Since they focused on injection molding, they used Moldflow during the DOE to create the necessary sample points for the meta-model. Thereby, a Kriging model was used to link the resulting warpage with the design parameters injection time, mold and melt temperature, packing time and pressure. Oliaei et al. [86] present a method for the optimization of warpage and volumetric shrinkage, utilizing Moldflow and an artificial neural network. Thereby they used a similar parameter set as Gao and Wang.

The curing model presented by Kamal showed that it is able to sufficiently predict the resin's curing behavior, with a reasonable amount of fitting parameters and experimental effort. Furthermore, the approach presented by Svanberg is an efficient and robust method for the prediction of the occurring warpage. As for the draping simulation, computational efficiency is preferred over accuracy in this work, since the optimization workflow requires numerous simulation runs. A detailed process simulation has to be performed after the optimization to account for further process influences.

2.7. Robustness studies in context of optimization

The idea of incorporating uncertainties from manufacturing in the product development process trace back to Taguchi [87, 88], where the topic is covered from the final product quality point of view. The first integration of a robustness criteria in an optimization workflow was proposed by Conceição [89], where they used a robustness measurement as a constraint for a weighted sum optimization.

The first implementation of a robustness measurement as an objective in single-objective optimization was presented by Jin and Sendhoff [90]. They proposed an expectation-based and a variance-based method for the prediction of the robustness. For the calculation of the robustness value with the expectation-based method, a number of random sample points in the neighborhood of the current solution is created, and their mean value is used as a fitness metric of the current design. The variance-based method utilizes a standard deviation around the current solution as an estimation of its robustness. The standard deviation is calculated a-priori for different conditions, based on a reference set.

For a multi-objective optimization, the first implementation of a robustness consideration was presented by Deb and Gupta [91]. In their work, they presented two different approaches. The first method is to consider an effective fitness function, rather than the real fitness function. Therefore, they proposed to include deviations in manufacturing or other sources into the fitness evaluation step. The second method proposed by Deb and Gupta, is to introduce a robustness-based fitness function, which is then used as a constraint for the optimization. Sun et al. [92] included a variation of relevant design parameters in a crash simulation. Utilizing a particle swarm optimization method (PSO), they included surrogate models in the optimization loop, to avoid computationally expensive simulation runs.

Several benchmark problems for robustness in optimization runs are proposed by Gaspar-Cunha et al. [93]. In their work, they included the robustness as an objective for the optimization. The robustness of a solution is thereby evaluated by a number of test points, randomly created within the neighborhood of the current solution. An overview of applicable robustness optimization methods was given by Jin and Branke [94]. Furthermore, Beyer and Sendhoff [95] presented an extensive overview on robust optimization, in which they focus on robustness in terms of changes in the production process, model sensitivities, and parameter drifts during operation time. A brief survey on the consideration of uncertainties in optimization was given by Schuëller and Jensen [96], where they suggest to include an uncertainty analysis in the product development process to improve the performance and quality of a developed product. A method for the consideration of manufacturing inaccuracies in the topology optimization, to improve the robustness of a solution, has been proposed by Troll [97]. Thereby, the focus was on the SMC process with varying fiber orientations in the SMC material, but without consideration of local reinforcements.

Since it is important for engineering applications to consider the robustness of an optimization result, the robustness should be included as an additional decision making criteria for the design engineer. In the context of this work, the robustness evaluation is performed during a post processing step of the optimization to further account for manufacturing influences. Thereby, the aim of the evaluation is to predict a process range, which has to be maintained to ensure that the optimum predicted by the optimization is an optimum that can be achieved by the manufacturing process.

2.8. Meta-models in the context of optimization

In general, a meta-model is used as an approximation of a detailed physicalbased simulation. It is more efficient to run, which means, that meta-models have a trade-off between accuracy and efficiency. Therefore, in context of an optimization, a meta-model builds the link between the design parameter vector \boldsymbol{u} and the fitness F of the design. If the simulation model $s(\boldsymbol{u})$ is defined as

$$F = s(\boldsymbol{u}) \tag{6}$$

then the meta-model $m(\boldsymbol{u})$ can be described as

$$\hat{F} = m(\boldsymbol{u}) \tag{7}$$

and

$$F = \hat{F} + \varepsilon, \tag{8}$$

where ε represents the error of approximation [98].

According to Simpson et al. [98], meta-models are especially useful in early states of product design, since there is large uncertainty regarding the constraints, design parameters, and manufacturing process. In addition, meta-models are useful for optimization-based robustness studies, since production failures cannot be predicted precisely in an early design state and have to be estimated, based on expert knowledge. Simpson et al. [98] give a good overview of available meta modeling strategies.

An extremely flexible but complex modeling approach is the one proposed by Krige [98, 99], which is especially well-suited for deterministic problems. Thereby, the approach from Krige consists of a known approximation function to model the global behavior, and a realization of a stochastic process to correct the trend function and ensure the interpolation of all design points. The model proposed by Krige is referred to as Kriging model, and was intentionally used to create maps of underground geologic deposits using irregular spaced boreholes data. A meta-model based optimization approach, for engineering applications was presented by Park and Dang [100], where they used an FE simulation to create training points for a meta-model, which is then used for the optimization. The approach was extended by Rouhi et al. [101], where they implemented a loop, with several meta-model creation steps. Thereby, the bounds of the sampling space for the meta-model are tighten to the current optimum, to achieve a better representation of the most promising area. This is achieved by an refinement of constraints for the sample point selection. Furthermore, a good overview on meta modeling in an engineering context was given by Wang and Shan [102], where they focused on the topics of real world applications, role of meta-models in engineering, and applied model types.

Due to its flexibility, the Kriging model is used as meta-model for the robustness evaluation within this thesis. Furthermore, this type of model provides a high prediction quality in areas close to the training points. This characteristic is beneficial in this work, since the robustness evaluation focuses on the vicinity areas. Thereby, the results gained by the evolutionary algorithm during the optimization can be used as training data.

3 Patch optimization method

3.1. Definition of patch optimization problem

Some of the content in this section has been published in [103].

A general definition of a multi objective optimization problem is given by equation (1) in Section 2.4. Based on this the patch optimization problem can be formulated as

Minimize
$$F(\boldsymbol{u}) = [F_1(\boldsymbol{u}), F_2(\boldsymbol{u})]^{\mathrm{T}}, \boldsymbol{u} \in \boldsymbol{U},$$
 (9)

where F_1 and F_2 are the objective functions, \boldsymbol{U} represents the design space and \boldsymbol{u} the vector of design variables, given by

$$\boldsymbol{u} = [\boldsymbol{x}, \boldsymbol{y}, \boldsymbol{l}, \boldsymbol{\varphi}]^{\mathrm{T}}.$$
 (10)

Here, the position of a patch center point M is defined by the set of coordinates (x, y). Furthermore, φ represents the orientation of the patch, and l the patch length. In the proposed approach the width of the patch w is kept constant according to usual manufacturing conditions, and is therefore not an optimization parameter. The described patch definition is visualized in Figure 3-1.



Figure 3-1: Visualization of the patch optimization problem, with the center point M, the center point coordinates (x, y), patch orientation φ , length l, and width w

Furthermore, constraints for the design variables have to be defined. Based on equation (2) and (3), the patch optimization problem is constrained by

$$x_{\min} < x_i < x_{\max}$$

$$y_{\min} < y_i < y_{\max}$$

$$l_{\min} < l_i < l_{\max}$$

$$\varphi_{\min} < \varphi_i < \varphi_{\max}$$
(11)

Thereby the design variables l and φ are modelled as discrete design parameters, with the step size $l_{\rm step}$ and $\varphi_{\rm step}$, which restricts the design space to practical solutions.

3.2. Basic definition on the optimization space

A definition of the optimization space is given to clarify the difference between the search, design, and solution space. These three domains are used for the definition of the optimization workflow, as well as for the definition of the robustness. The basic correlations are visualized in Figure 3-2. Here, the design space D corresponds to a set of all possible designs, represented by all possible combinations of design variables \boldsymbol{u} , and the solution space S to a set of all possible solutions, represented by all possible fitness values. For an unconstrained problem, is

$$D, S \in \mathfrak{R}.\tag{12}$$

The subset F corresponds to the fitness values of all solutions, that are feasible for the optimization problem, constrained by the specifications from equation (11). Furthermore, the set of feasible designs can be defined by

$$\boldsymbol{U} = \{ \boldsymbol{u} \in D | f(\boldsymbol{u}) \in \boldsymbol{F} \}, \tag{13}$$

where f(u) is the function used to map between design and solution space, which is in the context of this thesis equal to the fitness evaluation.



Figure 3-2: Definition of search space, design space, and solution space for an optimization problem

In addition, a search space G is defined. The search space is the representation of the design values, used by the optimization algorithm to perform the search operations. Therefore a mapping between the search and the design space is necessary, where g(u) is a function used to map the design parameter, both ways, between design and search space. In the presented approach a binary representation is used for the search space, cf. Chapter 3.3, therefore $g(\mathbf{u})$ represents a transformation from integer values to a binary representation. Furthermore, it should be clarified that for optimization approaches with real-value-search methods this would lead to the simplification G = D.

3.3. Evolutionary algorithm

Some of the content in this section was already published in [103].

The idea of an optimization algorithm based on Darwin's principal of the survival of the fittest, was first introduced by Holland [104]. Therefrom, the field of evolutionary algorithms evolved, which consists of several different strategies, like genetic algorithms, evolutionary strategies, genetic programming, and evolutionary programming [105]. Today, the most popular type of evolutionary algorithm is the genetic algorithm, which is why both terms are often used synonymously. Contrary to other evolutionary algorithms (e.g. evolutionary strategies), for genetic algorithms mutation is not the primary search operator, but a crossover step is included to propose solutions based on prior solutions [106]. Since a genetic algorithm is applied here, this section will only focus on this methods.

The general workflow of a genetic algorithm is shown in Figure 3-3. First, an initial population $\psi_{initial}$, consisting of Ψ individuals, is created randomly within the design space. In the context of evolutionary algorithms, an individual corresponds to a design vector \boldsymbol{u} . After a fitness value is assigned for each individual (cf. Section 3.4), a selection (cf. Section 3.3.3) and a crossover step (cf. Section 3.3.1) is performed to create an offspring generation. In addition to the crossover operator, a mutation step (cf. Section 3.3.2) is applied, to increase the diversity in the population.

Once the fitness calculation for the offsprings is done, the new population ψ_{i+1} is formed by a selection procedure. Thereby, a distinction is made between the generational and the steady-state approach. The generational approach considers only the offsprings κ_i for the next generation, while the

steady-state approach considers both, parents ψ_i and offsprings κ_i [107]. Here, the steady-state approach is applied, since it is more likely to converge.

After the new population ψ_{i+1} is formed, again a crossover is performed to create new individuals. This procedure is repeated until either a defined number of generations n is reached, or a convergence criteria is met, cf. Section 6.3. The result of the optimization is given by the final population ψ_{final} , which represents the Pareto optimal front.

In addition it should be mentioned that the size of the population has an important influence on the optimizations convergence behavior, since a too small population has not enough diversity for a crossover to be useful, while a too large population will have a slower convergence rate.



Figure 3-3: General workflow of an evolutionary algorithm with the main steps fitness evaluation, crossover, mutation, and selection.

There is a large variety of different algorithms proposed in literature [48, 108– 111]. Since the focus of this thesis is not the development of an optimization algorithm, but an optimization strategy applying existing algorithms, one algorithm is selected and used to perform all calculations. The algorithm used within this thesis is the no-dominated sorting genetic algorithm II (NSGA-II) developed by Deb et al. [112], which is an improved version of the NSGA, proposed by Deb and Agrawal [113]. The peculiarity of the NSGA-II is that the fitness calculation is based on a domination value, cf. Section 3.4.

3.3.1. Crossover

The purpose of the crossover phase is to create new possible solutions (offspring) based on existing individuals (parents). In general it can be distinguished between real-value and binary crossover operator [113]. For realvalue operators, the search space is equal to the design space, cf. Figure 3-2. In contrast, binary operators use a mapping function g(u) to transfer the real-value design parameters into binary representations and, thus, use a binary search space for the crossover, cf. Figure 3-2. A binary representation is used in the proposed algorithm, since it is the most common approach in literature [114]. Therefore, the crossover operators used within the scope of this thesis are from the binary type, and only this type will be further discussed.

The first crossover type, which is investigated in this study, is the multi-point parameterized binary, where each design variable is threaten individually. Therefore a binary representation of the design vector \boldsymbol{u} is created, and a bit switching operation is performed on each parameter individually, cf. Figure 3-4. Here, two parents are used to create two children. Thereby, the parents are selected randomly within the current population, and the crossover process is repeated until the desired population size is reached. The behavior of the crossover operator can be controlled with the two parameters, probability ϑ_c and number of points μ . The parameter μ is used to set the number of bit-switching operations done per parameter during the crossover process. In Figure 3-4 an example with $\mu = 1$ is given. The probability parameter ϑ_c is used to set the crossover probability for each parameter, and is defined by

$$\vartheta_{\rm c} \in [0,1],\tag{14}$$

where 0 represents a crossover probability of 0 %, while 1 corresponds to 100 %. The crossover probability is used to ensure, that an offspring can also consist of unchanged parts of the parents, which leads to a more pronounced local search around the parents.



Figure 3-4: Example for a multi-point parametrized binary crossover with number of points $\mu = 1$

The second crossover operator is the multi-point binary. Here, all design parameters are combined in one gene representation, cf. Figure 3-5. The bitswitching operation is then performed on this gene, which has the peculiarity that one design parameter can be changed on multiple positions, while other design parameters may not changed at all. The crossover process is controlled with the same parameters, μ and ϑ_c , as the multi-point parametrized crossover.





Both binary crossover methods share the characteristic, that the average value of the decoded gene stays the same during the crossover process, since the bits are purely exchanged cf. Figure 3-6, [113]. This can be proven by taking the mapping equation

$$g_i(\boldsymbol{u}) = \sum_{k=0}^{m} b_{i,k} * 2^k,$$
(15)
where $i = \text{parent1}, \text{parent2}, \text{offspring1}, \text{offspring2}$

where m represents the maximum number of bits used for the representation and the bit-string b_i is defined as

$$b_i = [b_0, b_1, \dots, b_k], \quad \text{with } b_n \in \{0, 1\}.$$
 (16)

$$\frac{g_{\text{parent1}} + g_{\text{parent 2}}}{2} = \frac{g_{\text{offspring 1}} + g_{\text{offspring 2}}}{2}.$$
 (17)

The mean value of parents and offsprings is defined by

With equation (15), and the fact that the number of "ones" and "zeros" has to be equal before and after the crossover, it can be seen that the mean value has to stay constant during the crossover process.



Figure 3-6: A special behavior of the binary crossover operator is that the decoded average of both parent and offspring strings stays the same

In addition, the definition of the crossover spread factor *s*, taken from Deb and Agrawal [113], is introduced by

$$s = \left| \frac{g_{\text{parent1}} - g_{\text{parent 2}}}{g_{\text{offspring 1}} - g_{\text{offspring 2}}} \right|, \tag{18}$$

with

$$s < 1$$
 are contracting crossover (local search),
 $s > 1$ are expanding crossover (global search), (19)
 $s = 1$ stationary crossover.

Since the mean value is equal before and after crossover, cf. equation (17), a stationary crossover means that parents and offspring remain the same before and after crossover, which of course is undesirable.

3.3.2. Mutation

Beside the crossover, a mutation step is performed as a secondary search operator. While the primary driver of the optimization is the crossover, the mutation is used to increase the diversity within the population, cf. Figure 2-7. In general, mutation is applied after the crossover step on the offspring population κ_i , cf. Figure 3-3. Similar to the crossover, a probability for the mutation can be defined as

$$\vartheta_{\rm m} \in [0,1]. \tag{20}$$

The mutation operation is applied on the binary representation, and switches one or more randomly selected bits from 0 to 1 or vice versa. The process is illustrated by example in Figure 3-7.



Figure 3-7: Example for a bit switching mutation operation

The mutation probability ϑ_m is applied for each parameter individually. Therefore, by using basic equations from the theory of probability, the overall probability distribution for mutation \mathbb{P} can be calculated by

$$\mathbb{P}(\eta_{\mathrm{m}},\eta_{\mathrm{nm}}) = \left(\vartheta_{\mathrm{m}}^{\eta_{\mathrm{m}}} * (1-\vartheta_{\mathrm{m}})^{\eta_{\mathrm{nm}}}\right) * k$$
(21)

with

$$k = \frac{(\eta_{\rm m} + \eta_{\rm nm})!}{\eta_{\rm nm}! * \eta_{\rm m}!}$$
(22)

where $\eta_{\rm m}$ is the number of mutated and $\eta_{\rm nm}$ the number of non-mutated design variables.

3.3.3. Selection

The selection phase is used to choose the individuals that should survive in the next generation. Several different strategies are presented in literature, like tournament selection, fitness proportional selection, generational selection, roulette-wheel selection, elitist selection, and below-limit selection [107, 115, 116]. As for the crossover operator, the most common approaches are used for the selection. Therefore, the elitist and below-limit selection methods are used in this thesis, and this chapter focuses only on these two approaches.

When using the elitist method, only the individuals on the Pareto front survive in the next generation. This means that in the example, given in Figure 3-8, only individuals from front 1 are taken from one generation to the next. Considering the fronts from Figure 3-8 (a), the elitist approach would not consider individual q_2 when setting up the next generation, since fitness 1 of individual q_1 is slightly better than those of q_2 . While doing so, promising individuals might be rejected when setting up the next generation. To overcome this problem, the below-limit approach has been proposed, where an adjusted number of fronts is taken from generation to generation.

While the below-limit approach would work better for the configuration presented in Figure 3-8 (a), the contrary applies for Figure 3-8 (b). Here, also the individuals on front 2 are preserved to the next generation. Since, all individuals in a generation serve as possible parents during the crossover, cf. Section 3.3.1, the convergence rate would be expected to be significantly lower, assuming that parents with considerably worse fitness will result in offsprings with worse fitness values.



Figure 3-8: Subdivision of the results into different fronts, with fronts good (a) and bad (b) for a below-limit selection method

Both methods can be used in combination with a niching pressure. Thereby, only one individual in a defined area is taken. The aim of this method is to

increase the diversity along the final front and to prevent local accumulations of individuals, cf. Figure 2-7.

3.4. Fitness calculation

Some of the content in this section was already published in [103].

In terms of optimization, a fitness of a solution is defined as a measure for the solution's capability to fulfill the optimizations objectives [110]. The most common approach to combine multiple objectives is to use a weighting function, cf. equation (5). However, the weighting approach has the drawback, that the optimizations result is directly influenced by the selected weighting factors. Therefore, an approach without weighting is used here.

First, the fitness values of the objective functions have to be evaluated for each individual j in the current generation, cf. Figure 3-3. In this work, the fitness evaluation is done by an Abaqus simulation, cf. Section 6.2. Once the objective functions are evaluated, they must be made comparable. Therefore, a domination value d_j is calculated

$$d_j = \sum_{i=1}^n d_{ji} \tag{23}$$

with

$$d_{ji} = \begin{cases} 1, F_1(u_j) > F_1(u_i) \text{ and } F_2(u_j) > F_2(u_i) \\ 0, \text{ else} \end{cases}$$
(24)

where the fitness values $F_k(u_j)$ represent minimization objectives, n is the total number of individuals and

$$j = [1, 2, \dots, n].$$
 (25)

The selection process is then made, based on the domination value. Figure 3-9 shows the evaluated domination values for an example set of individuals. In addition, the dominated area for each point is highlighted, which corresponds to the visualization of equation (23).



Figure 3-9: Visualization of the domination values and dominated areas for an example set of individuals

Furthermore, the domination value is used to arrange the individuals into different fronts, cf. Figure 3-8. It is obvious, that all individuals with a domination value of zero are those which lie on the Pareto front [46, 47].

4 Draping simulation method

4.1. Kinematic draping method in the context of an optimization strategy

Most of the content in this chapter has been published in [103].

Due to the high number of simulations performed during an evolutionary optimization, a very efficient draping algorithm is needed. Since kinematic draping simulation requires small computation times than constitutive-based draping simulation, kinematic methods are, from a computational point of view, more suitable for optimization workflows. Furthermore, the optimization shall work as a suggestion for the designer and not as a final verification. Hence, a mechanical draping simulation must be performed afterwards to ensure manufacturability of the optimized patch setup without forming defects like wrinkling, fiber fracture or gapping. This is similar to topology optimization, where a verification simulation is needed to ensure the load-bearing capacity of the optimized topology [7]. The focus of the draping simulation within the presented optimization workflow is the calculation of the final patch geometry, while the prediction of forming defects is not yet relevant. Therefore, kinematic draping simulation is chosen to be sufficient for the aspired purpose. The drawbacks regarding the dependence on the initial starting point are not highly important, since all possible starting points are taken into account by the proposed optimization workflow. Furthermore, a comparison of FE based and kinematic draping simulation will be given in Section 4.3 using the example of a curved reference structure. This comparison is used to discuss the advantages and disadvantages of both methods.

4.2. Workflow of the draping simulation

The method presented in this chapter was already published in [103].

The general assumption of kinematic draping simulation is the inextensibility of the material in fiber direction. Depending on the type of fiber reinforcement, the deformation of the material is assumed as pure shear or simple shear along the fiber direction. While woven fabrics deform in pure shear, unidirectional reinforcements are assumed to deform in simple shear, as shown in Figure 2-8.

Starting point a, patch orientation φ , patch length l_0 and width w_0 are the necessary input parameters for the kinematic draping simulation. Another required input is the geometry of the initial component, on which the patch is going to be draped. The first step is to create the initial paths A and B on the part surface, starting from the given starting point in the center of the patch, cf. *Figure 4-1 (a)*. Thereby, path A is the initial path in fiber direction, while B is perpendicular to the fiber direction.

For the calculation of the next node $a^{\langle i+1 \rangle}$ from the current node $a^{\langle i \rangle}$ at path A, a number of constraints need to be fulfilled. First, the distance between both nodes is set to be equal to the defined mesh size m

$$|a^{} - a^{}| = m.$$
(26)

Furthermore, the node $a^{\langle i+1 \rangle}$ has to be on the initial component surface

$$a_3^{\langle i+1\rangle} = F(a_1^{\langle i+1\rangle}, a_2^{\langle i+1\rangle}),$$
(27)

where $a_1^{\langle i+1 \rangle}$, $a_2^{\langle i+1 \rangle}$ and $a_3^{\langle i+1 \rangle}$ are the x, y, and z components of the new node and F(x, y) represents the surface of the initial component. Additionally, it has to be ensured that the given global patch direction φ is maintained. With these assumptions all nodes along the initial paths A and B can be calculated, cf. Figure 4-1 (a).



Figure 4-1: Node calculation, starting from the initial paths A and B (a), and for all further nodes (b).

Based on these initial paths, all other nodes can be calculated. From the assumption of simple shear (Figure 2-8) the following equations can be derived for the parallel paths

$$\left| \boldsymbol{a}^{} - \boldsymbol{a}^{} \right| = m , \qquad (28)$$

$$\left| \boldsymbol{a}^{} - \boldsymbol{a}^{} \right| = m,$$
(29)

with
$$i = 1, 2, \dots \frac{l_0}{m}, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots \frac{w_0}{m}$$

Equation (28) and (29) represent that the distance between the fibers as well as the fiber length is constant during the draping process. Here, $a^{\langle A(i+1),B(j) \rangle}$ is the next node on path A, while $a^{\langle A(i),B(j+1) \rangle}$ is the closest node on path B, cf. Figure 4-1 (b), l_0 the initial patch length and w_0 the initial patch width. Again, the node has to be on the part surface, which is represented by Equation (27). Rearrangement of equations (27), (28) and (29) leads to the following system of equations

$$0 = \left(a_{1}^{\langle A(i+1),B(j+1)\rangle} - a_{1}^{\langle A(i+1),B(j)\rangle}\right)^{2} \\ + \left(a_{2}^{\langle A(i+1),B(j+1)\rangle} - a_{2}^{\langle A(i+1),B(j)\rangle}\right)^{2} \\ + \left(a_{3}^{\langle A(i+1),B(j+1)\rangle} - a_{3}^{\langle A(i+1),B(j)\rangle}\right)^{2} \\ - m^{2} \\ 0 = \left(a_{1}^{\langle A(i+1),B(j+1)\rangle} - a_{1}^{\langle A(i),B(j+1)\rangle}\right)^{2} \\ + \left(a_{2}^{\langle A(i+1),B(j+1)\rangle} - a_{2}^{\langle A(i),B(j+1)\rangle}\right)^{2} \\ + \left(a_{3}^{\langle A(i+1),B(j+1)\rangle} - a_{3}^{\langle A(i),B(j+1)\rangle}\right)^{2} \\ - m^{2} \\ 0 = a_{3}^{\langle A(i+1),B(j+1)\rangle} - F(a_{1}^{\langle A(i+1),B(j+1)\rangle}, a_{2}^{\langle A(i+1),B(j+1)\rangle}),$$
(30)

which has to be solved for all nodes. The presented kinematic draping approach is implemented in MatLab and embedded in the optimization work-flow.

4.3. Numerical verification

To demonstrate the ability of the kinematic draping method used within this thesis, it is compared with results from an established mechanical method developed by Dörr et al. [117]. Therefore, three reference patch configurations are defined, cf. Figure 4-2. The tool geometry used here has different angles for the two edges D1 and D2.

Configuration A is a simple, single-curved forming of the patch at the edges. In configuration B the patch is placed over the corner bendings, which results in more complex deformation than configuration A. In the last configuration, the patch is additionally rotated to further increase the complexity of the forming process.

A [0/90/0] layup with a total thickness of 1.5 mm is used for the mechanical draping simulation. For each reference configuration, the first 0° layer is compared with the results from the kinematic draping simulation.



Figure 4-2: Tool geometry with two different angles at the sides D1 and D2, and three reference patch configurations A, B, C

The results of configuration A are shown in Figure 4-3. For the simple deformation applied here, kinematic and mechanical draping simulation create the same results. This shows, that the kinematic draping is able to create reliable results for simple geometries.



Figure 4-3: Comparison of the results for configuration A: kinematic method (green) is congruent with mechanical method (blue) [118])

Comparing the results from configuration B, cf. Figure 4-4, it can be seen that the kinematic draping method is not able to give a correct representation of the deformation process within the corner bendings. The corner bendings result in material accumulations, which cannot be modelled by kinematic draping methods, cf. Figure 4-4 (b). Therefore, the folding of the patch in the corner bending can not be predicted correctly. The disadvantages of the kinematic draping simulation, when it comes to doubled curved structures, has also been demonstrated by Sharma and Sutcliffe [70]. Comparing the results of the simulations, cf. Figure 4-4 (c), with the experimental result, cf. Figure 4-4 (d), it can be seen that the mechanical method predicts the final geometry better than the kinematic draping simulation. However, the main part of the patch. Therefore, the result of the kinematic draping simulation can be seen as a good approximation of the patch's final position.



Figure 4-4: Comparison of the results for configuration B: the kinematic model (green) differs from the mechanical model (blue) only in the corners of the structure, perspective view (a), top (b), bottom view (c) [118], experimental result (d) [119]

The results of the last configuration are presented in Figure 4-5. As for configuration B, the kinematic draping simulation shows disadvantages in predicting the correct geometry in the corner bendings. Here, the kinematic draping simulation is not able to correctly predict the material movement resulting from the corner bending. However, as for configuration B, the differences affect only small areas of the patch, while the main parts of the geometry are predicted correctly. Furthermore, it should be mentioned that this effect depends strongly on the considered geometry, since the deviation created at the double curved geometry would increase with increasing patch length beyond the curvature



Figure 4-5: Comparison of the results for configuration C: top view with details D1 and D2 (green: kinematic method blue: mechanical method [118])

The advantage of the kinematic draping simulation becomes clear, when comparing the necessary time for the simulation, cf. Table 4-1. While the kinematic draping simulation is performed within only a few seconds, the mechanical method needs a couple of hours. Since a large number of draping simulations is necessary during one optimization run, it becomes obvious that a mechanical method cannot be used here.

Configuration	Kinematic draping	Mechanical method
А	25 s	1 h 54 min
В	25 s	1 h 23 min
С	30 s	8 h 31 min

Table 4-1: Comparison of the computational times for the reference configurations

4.4. Conclusion on draping simulation

A kinematic draping method has been implemented, which fulfills the requirements of an optimization strategy based on an evolutionary algorithm. A comparison of kinematic and mechanical draping methods has been presented to show the advantages and disadvantages of a kinematic draping approach. Results and computational time have been compared for three different reference patch configurations, with different degrees of geometrical complexity. Taking the results of the comparison with the mechanical draping simulation into account, the kinematic draping simulation can be seen as a good approximation of the patch's forming behavior. In general, for the kinematic draping simulation, no material parameters are necessary. In addition, the computational time of a kinematic draping simulation is much faster, compared with the mechanical method.

Furthermore, the optimization shall work as a suggestion for the designer and not as a final verification. Therefore, a mechanical draping simulation must be performed afterwards to ensure manufacturability of the optimized patch setup without forming defects like wrinkling, fiber fracture or gapping.
5 Curing and warpage simulation

5.1. Kamal-Malkin curing model

The calculation of the warpage, occurring during the manufacturing process is directly related to the curing of the resin. Therefore, the approach used for the prediction of the curing is presented first. For an exothermal crosslinking reaction, the degree of cure is defined by

$$q(t) = \frac{H(t)}{H_{\text{max}}}$$
(31)

where H(t) and H_{max} are the accumulated enthalpy until time t and the total reaction enthalpy [84]. In addition, q(t) is per definition

$$q \in [0,1],\tag{32}$$

where 0 represents the uncured and 1 the fully cured state. Based on this, a cure rate

$$\frac{dq}{dt} = f(q,T),\tag{33}$$

can be defined depending on the state of cure q and the temperature T, where the function f(q,T) depends on the resin type. Several different approaches to describe the cure rate, depending on the used material type, can be found in literature. An overview is given by Halley and Mackay [76].

The simplest form to model the development of cure is the nth order model [76]

$$\frac{dq}{dt} = k(1-q)^n \tag{34}$$

with the Arrhenius equation

$$k = k_0 \exp\left(-\frac{A}{RT}\right) \tag{35}$$

with R as the universal gas constant, the material dependent parameter k_0 and A, and the order of reaction n. In addition, an autocatalytic model approach can be given with the kinetic equation [74, 120]

$$\frac{dq}{dt} = kq^m (1-q)^n , \qquad (36)$$

where k is defined according to equation (35), while m and n represent the order of reaction. Based on this, Kamal [73] combined both approaches and derived the following phenomenological model

$$\frac{dq}{dt} = (k_1 + k_2 q^m)(1 - q)^n \,. \tag{37}$$

Again, k_i is calculated with the Arrhenius equation

$$k_i = k_{i0} \exp\left(-\frac{A_i}{RT}\right), i \in 1, 2.$$
(38)

Since this model is used in this work to describe the curing behavior, the six material dependent parameters $n, m, k_{10}, k_{20}, A_1$, and A_2 must be determined. The data have been determined by DSC measurements performed by Schwab [121].

It should be mentioned that all of these approaches have the drawback, that a small initial state of cure has to be defined to start the reaction. Therefore, the initial state of cure is set to

$$q_0 = 0.01.$$
 (39)

5.2. Svanberg method for expansional strain

The expansional strain is calculated based on the approach proposed by Svanberg and Holmberg [80, 82]. In addition, for the calculation of cure-induced residual stresses and deformation in fiber-reinforced composites, either the material properties have to be homogenized or the fiber and matrix have to be considered separately. Hence, homogenized material parameter will be used here, the mapping and homogenization step is explained in Section 5.4.

The stress tensor is defined by

$$\sigma_{ij} = C_{ijkl} \, \varepsilon_{kl} - C_{ijkl} \, \varepsilon_{kl}^{\rm E} \tag{40}$$

where $C_{ijkl.}$ is the stiffness tensor, ε_{kl} is the mechanical and ε_{kl}^{E} the expansional strain tensor. Thereby, the stiffness tensor is temperature dependent,

$$C_{ijkl} = \begin{cases} no \ stress \ , q < q_{gel} \ and \ T \ge T_g(q) \\ C_{ijkl}^r, q \ge q_{gel} \ and \ T \ge T_g(q) \\ C_{ijkl}^g \ , T < T_g(q) \end{cases}$$
(41)

where C_{ijkl}^r and C_{ijkl}^g are the stiffness tensor for the rubbery and glassy state, while in the liquid state no stress development is expected to occur. Considering the approach from Svanberg and Holmberg [80, 82], the expansional strain can be divided into a thermal part ε_{kl}^T and a chemical part ε_{kl}^C

$$\varepsilon_{kl}^{\rm E} = \varepsilon_{kl}^{\rm T} + \varepsilon_{kl}^{\rm C}.$$
 (42)

The thermal strains can be expressed by

$$\varepsilon_{kl}^{\rm T} = \int_{0}^{t} \alpha_{kl}(T,q) \frac{\partial T}{\partial t'} dt' , \qquad (43)$$

where the coefficient of thermal expansion α_{kl} depends on temperature and degree of cure

$$\alpha_{kl} = \begin{cases} \alpha_{kl}^{l}, q < q_{gel} \text{ and } T \ge T_{g}(q) \\ \alpha_{kl}^{r}, q \ge q_{gel} \text{ and } T \ge T_{g}(q) \\ \alpha_{kl}^{g}, T < T_{g}(q) \end{cases}$$
(44)

where α_{kl}^{l} , α_{kl}^{r} , and α_{kl}^{g} are the coefficients of thermal expansion in the liquid, rubbery, and glassy state. T_{g} is the glass transition temperature and q_{gel} the gel point of the resin. The gel point characterizes the change from liquid to solid behavior.

Similar to the coefficient of thermal expansion, a coefficient of chemical shrinkage is introduced, which correlates the chemical expansion to the curing rate. Thus, the strain resulting from the chemical shrinkage can be written as

$$\varepsilon_{kl}^{\rm C} = \int_{0}^{t} \beta_{kl}(T,q) \frac{\partial q}{\partial t'} dt' , \qquad (45)$$

while the coefficient of chemical shrinkage β_{kl} is also dependent on the temperature and on the degree of cure, and can be expressed by

$$\beta_{kl} = \begin{cases} \beta_{kl}^{l}, q < q_{gel} \text{ and } T \ge T_{g}(q) \\ \beta_{kl}^{r}, q \ge q_{gel} \text{ and } T \ge T_{g}(q) \\ \beta_{kl}^{g}, T < T_{g}(q) \end{cases}$$
(46)

where β_{kl}^{l} , β_{kl}^{r} , and β_{kl}^{g} are the coefficients of chemical shrinkage in the liquid, rubbery, and glassy state. Since the chemical shrinkage is only present in the matrix, the coefficient β_{kl} can be calculated from the matrix properties. Therefore, Svanberg and Holmberg [80, 82] suggested the following approach

$$\beta_{kl}^{\text{matrix}} = -\frac{\Delta V^{\text{matrix}}}{3},\tag{47}$$

where ΔV^{matrix} represents the relative matrix cure shrinkage, which represents the relative volume change of a resin from liquid to fully cured state. This corresponds to the assumption, that the cure shrinkage is evenly distributed in all spatial directions. Furthermore, the following simplification shall apply

$$\beta_{xx}^{\text{matrix}} = \beta_{yy}^{\text{matrix}} = \beta_{zz}^{\text{matrix}}$$

$$\beta_{kl}^{\text{matrix}} = 0 \qquad (48)$$
with $k, l = [x, y, z], k \neq l$

During the homogenization step, the coefficients β_{xx} , β_{yy} , and β_{zz} are adjusted according to the corresponding fiber volume fraction and fiber orientation, cf. Section 5.4.

The relative cure shrinkage of the matrix can be estimated from an experiment by [80, 81]

$$\Delta V^{\text{matrix}} = \frac{\rho_{\text{matrix}}^{\text{liquid}}(T_{\text{cure}}) - \rho_{\text{matrix}}^{\text{cured}}(T_{\text{cure}})}{\rho_{\text{matrix}}^{\text{cured}}(T_{\text{cure}})} * \frac{1}{q(T_{\text{cure}})}$$
(49)

where $\rho_{\text{matrix}}^{\text{liquid}}$ and $\rho_{\text{matrix}}^{\text{cured}}$ are the density of the liquid and the cured resin, respectively. Furthermore, T_{cure} is the temperature at which the resin was cured during the experiment and $q(T_{cure})$ is the degree of cure achieved at the end of the experiment.

The glass transition temperature is the temperature at which the transformation from rubbery to brittle state occurs, resulting from temperature decrease. Hence, the knowledge of this value is essential for the definition of the material properties stiffness, thermal expansion and chemical shrinkage. The glass transition takes usually place within a temperature range, rather than at one specific temperature. The glass transition temperature depends on the degree of cure, which can be expressed with the DiBenedetto equation [80, 82]

$$\frac{T_{\rm g} - T_{\rm g0}}{T_{\rm g0} - T_{\rm g0}} = \frac{\lambda * q}{1 - (1 - \lambda) * q}$$
(50)

where $T_{\rm g0}$ and $T_{\rm g\infty}$ are the glass transition temperature of the uncured and the fully cured matrix, respectively, and λ represents a material system dependent parameter.

5.3. Implementation of the curing and warpage model

Svanberg's approach is implemented within an Abaqus user subroutine of the type *UEXPAN*. To be implemented, equations (42) - (45) have to be formulated in an incremental form, using the forward integration scheme

$$\varepsilon_{kl}^{\rm E}(t + \Delta t) = \varepsilon_{kl}^{\rm E}(t) + \Delta \varepsilon_{kl}^{\rm E} , \qquad (51)$$

where ε^{E} represents the expansional strain. According to the approach, the expansional strain can be split up in a thermal (ε^{T}) and a chemical (ε^{C}) component

$$\Delta \varepsilon_{kl}^{\rm E} = \Delta \varepsilon_{kl}^{\rm T} + \Delta \varepsilon_{kl}^{\rm C}.$$
 (52)

with

$$\Delta \varepsilon_{kl}^{\mathrm{T}} = \alpha_{kl} * \Delta T \tag{53}$$

and

$$\Delta \varepsilon_{kl}^{\rm C} = \beta_{kl} * \Delta q, \tag{54}$$

where ΔT and Δq are the temperature and cure gradient. The coefficients α_{kl} and β_{kl} are selected according to equations (44) and (46). For the used material, the coefficients α_{kl}^{l} and β_{kl}^{l} of the liquid state are assumed to be zero, since the strains remain undeveloped in the liquid state. In addition, the curing coefficients in rubbery state β_{kl}^{r} and glassy state β_{kl}^{g} are considered to be identical. Besides this, the stiffness tensor depends also on temperature and degree of cure, cf. equation (41). However, since there is no material data available for the used material, the stiffness tensor for the glassy state is used for all states. This simplification should be sufficient enough here, since the main focus of this thesis is on the optimization procedure.

Since an initial degree of cure q_0 is required for the implemented curing model, cf. equation (37) and (38), it is set to 0.1 %. Furthermore, the gel point $q_{\rm gel}$ is set to 60 % for all calculations performed. Both values represent assumptions based on known material systems. Since no measurement for the development of the glass transition temperature $T_{\rm g}$ dependent on the degree of cure is available for the material system used, $T_{\rm g}$ is assumed to be constant during the curing process.

5.4. Calculation of the local material parameter based on fiber orientation and fiber volume content

The coefficient of thermal expansion for the patch is calculated based on the method proposed by Schapery [122]. According to Schapery's approach, the coefficient of thermal expansion in fiber direction can be calculated by

$$\alpha_{\parallel} = \frac{E_{\text{matrix}} * \alpha_{\text{matrix}} * (1 - \theta) + E_{\text{fiber}} * \alpha_{\text{fiber}} * \theta}{E_{\text{matrix}} * (1 - \theta) + E_{\text{fiber}} * \theta}$$
(55)

where $E_{\rm fiber}$ and $E_{\rm matix}$ are the Young's moduls of fiber and matrix, while θ is the fiber volume content. Here, the carbon fiber is assumed to be isotropic.

This simplification should be feasible, since the focus of this work is on the development of an optimization procedure. Furthermore, the coefficient of thermal expansion perpendicular to the fiber direction is

$$\alpha_{\perp} = (1 + \eta_{\text{matrix}}) * \alpha_{\text{matrix}} * (1 - \theta) + (1 + \eta_{\text{fiber}}) * \alpha_{\text{fiber}} * \theta - \alpha_{\parallel} * (\eta_{\text{matrix}} * (1 - \theta) + \eta_{\text{fiber}} * \theta),$$
(56)

where η_{matrix} and η_{fiber} are the Poisson's ratios of matrix and fiber.

The fiber orientation distribution within the discontinuous fiber reinforced component is calculated by a preceding process simulation. The resulting anisotropic coefficients of thermal expansion are calculated with the method proposed by Rosen and Hashin [123]:

$$\alpha_{ij} = \alpha_{\text{matrix}} * (1 - \theta) + \alpha_{\text{fiber}} * \theta + \frac{\alpha_{\text{matrix}} - \alpha_{\text{fiber}}}{K_{\text{matrix}}^{-1} - K_{\text{fiber}}^{-1}} \\ * \left[3 * S_{kkij} - \left(\frac{1 - \theta}{K_{\text{matrix}}} + \frac{\theta}{K_{\text{fiber}}}\right) \right],$$
(57)

where S_{kkij} is the compliance matrix, and K_{fiber} and K_{matrix} are the bulk modulus of fiber and matrix.

The coefficients for chemical shrinkage, also dependent on fiber orientation and fiber volume content, are calculated with the same approach as the coefficient of thermal expansion. The material parameters used for the thermal and chemical coefficients are given below in Table 5.2.

5.5. Numerical verification

Since the curing model is the basis for the calculation of inner stresses and warpage, the results obtained with the curing model are investigated first. Experimental results are taken from Schwab [121]. For the characterisation

of the used matrix system, DSC measurements have been performed by Schwab to measure the heat flux created during curing. The total enthalpy H_{max} and the accumulated enthalpy H(t) of the exothermal crosslinking process can be calculated with a numerical integration. The temperature profiles used for the experiments and the simulations are given in Figure 5-1. Thereby, two different heating rates are used to characterise the curing kinetic of the resin. Based on this, the degree of cure over time can be described by equation (31) and the fitting parameters of the Kamal-Malkin model can be calculated (equations (37) and (38)), which are given in Table 5-1.

Table 5-1: Fitting parameters of the Kamal-Malkin curing model, based on DSC measurements performed by Schwab [121]

<i>k</i> ₁₀	<i>k</i> ₂₀	$A_1 \left[\frac{J}{mol} \right]$	$A_2 \left[\frac{J}{mol} \right]$	m	n
0.9601	0.9996	3.2637 * 10 ⁴	3.0737 * 10 ³	0.7743	1.3988



Figure 5-1: Temperature curve of the heat rates used for DSC experiments and simulations

The comparison of experimental and simulation results is shown in Figure 5-2. Here, cure rate and degree of cure are compared in both the time and temperature domains. Comparing the results in the time domain, a good agreement of experiment and simulation can be seen for a heat rate of 20 K/min, while for a lower heat rate of 15 K/min the cure rate is slightly overestimated by the simulation, cf. Figure 5-2 (a). When looking at the degree of cure, cf. Figure 5-2 (b), the first increase is slightly too early for the higher heat rate, and a little delayed for the lower heat rate, showing an acceptable overall compromise. Comparing the results in the temperature domain, a small shift in the cure rates to higher temperatures can be observed for both heat rates, cf. Figure 5-2 (c). The degree of cure fits well for the higher cure rate, whereas there is a small deviation for the lower cure rate, where the reaction starts at a higher temperature in the simulation than in the experiment, cf. Figure 5-2 (d). In general, only small deviations between experiment and simulation occur, which shows that the Kamal-Malkin curing model has a good prediction quality for the curing behavior of the material system.



Figure 5-2: Comparison of the results from the DSC experiments (dashed lines) and simulations (solid lines) for two different heat rates (15 K/min, 20 K/min): development of the cure rate (a) and degree of cure (b) over time; development of the cure rate (c) and degree of cure (d) over process temperature

After the curing model, the strain calculation approach is discussed. Therefore, two different material model setups are used. The first model considers only the different coefficients of thermal expansion for fiber and matrix, while the second model uses the complete Svanberg approach, including chemical shrinkage, cf. Section 5.2. The comparison of the two models shall demonstrate the influence of the chemical curing on the strain and warpage development. The simulation model and the temperature profile used for the evaluation are shown in Figure 5-3, while the material parameters used for the calculations are given in Table 5.2. For simplicity, a unidirectional fiber direction with a symmetric layup is used, with the fiber direction equivalent to the global x-direction, cf. Figure 5-3. The temperature profile consists of a period of constant temperature, which simulates the time the material spends in the tool, and a cool down phase, in which the temperature is reduced to room temperature. The temperature is thereby applied uniformly on the whole part. To exclude an influence of geometrical effects on the results, a flat plate structure is used. To enable a free deformation in membrane direction, the nodes B1, B2, and B3 are constrained in x, y, and z direction, respectively.

Material parameter	Symbol	Value	Unit	Source	
Glass transition tem- perature	T _g	140	°C	fitting	
Initial degree of cur- ing	q_0	0.1	%	assumption	
Gel point	$q_{\rm gel}$	60	%	assumption	
Volume shrinkage	ΔV	5.6	%	[124]	
Young's modulus	$E_{\rm matrix}$	3.1	GPa	[125]	
	E_{fiber}	73	GPa	[125]	
Poisson's ratio	$\eta_{ m matrix}$	0.39	-	[125]	
	$\eta_{ m fiber}$	0.22	-	[125]	
Fiber volume content	$\theta_{\rm SMC}$	0.22	-	[125]	
	$ heta_{ ext{patch}}$	0.47	-	[125]	
Glassy state					
Thermal expansion	$\alpha^{\rm g}_{\rm matix}$	6 * 10 ⁻⁵	1/°C	[126]	
	$lpha_{ ext{fiber}}^{ ext{g}}$	2,25 * 10 ⁻ 6	1/°C	[127]	
Curing	$\beta^{\rm g}_{ m matix}$	-0.0187	1/°C	Equation (47)	
	$eta^{ m g}_{ m fiber}$	0	1/°C	-	
Rubbery state					
Thermal expansion	$\alpha^{\rm r}_{\rm matix}$	1,5 * 10 ⁻⁴	1/°C	$2.5 * \alpha_{matix}^{g}$ [80]	
	$\alpha^{\rm r}_{ m fiber}$	2,25 * 10 ⁻ 6	1/°C	[127]	
Curing	$\beta_{ m matix}^{ m r}$	-0.0187	1/°C	Equation (47)	
	$\beta_{ ext{fiber}}^{ ext{r}}$	0	1/°C	-	

Table 5-2: Material parameters used for the calculation of the expansional strain

Comparing both simulation results, it can be seen that the developed strain is significantly underestimated when curing effects are not considered, cf. Figure 5-4 (b). The chemical shrinkage occurs after the gel point is reached ($q = q_{gel}$), until the temperature is below T_g . Thereafter, no further curing takes place and the strain development depends only on the directional-dependent coefficient of thermal expansion. Consequently, from there on the strain development for both examples is alike.



Figure 5-3: Plate model with the constraints B1, B2, B3, and the reference evaluation point A (a), and temperature profile (b)

Comparing the strain components, the strain transverse to the fiber direction (cf. Figure 5-4 (b), E22) is largely effected by the influence of the chemical shrinkage, since the matrix behavior is dominant. Contrary to this, the influence is less significant in the fiber direction (cf. Figure 5-4 (b), E11).



Figure 5-4: Resulting displacement (a) and resulting strain (b) at reference point A, cf. Figure 5-3 (a) with consideration of curing and without consideration of curing.

5.6. Conclusion

The curing model presented by Kamal [73] was used to model the curing behavior or the UPPH resin system used within this thesis. A comparison of the simulation results with experimental results showed a good accordance for different heat rates.

Beside the curing calculation, a strain calculation was performed based on the method proposed by Svanberg [82]. With this approach, the influence of the incorporation of chemical strain during the curing process could be demonstrated. For this purpose, the strain development with consideration of curing was compared with a simulation, where only different coefficients of thermal expansion where considered.

With dependence on fiber orientation and fiber volume content, the effective coefficients of thermal expansion for the UD reinforcement patch were calculated with the method of Schapery [122]. The anisotropic coefficients for the discontinuous fiber reinforced component were calculated with the approach proposed by Rosen and Hashin [123]. Furthermore, the assumption was made, that the effective coefficients of chemical shrinkage can be calculated with the same approach as the coefficients of thermal expansion.

6 Multi-objective optimization along the CAE chain

6.1. Manufacturing constraints

The incorporation of manufacturing constraints within the optimization gives the essential benefit, that the optimized part can be manufactured as predicted or at least close to the predicted optimum. Therefore, the manufacturing constraints, which apply for the SMC process and should be integrated within the optimization loop, will be discussed in this section. First, the basic constraints of the compression molding process with local reinforcement patches (co-molding), and their influence on the optimization are presented. Thereafter, variations resulting from the production of the semi-finished product and the co-molding process are presented, which could influence the optimization result.

Semi-finished product

Since the cutting of the patches is done automatically, usually no scattering in the initial length and width of the patch is expected [128]. However, the positioning of the prepreg material on the cutting table is done manually. As a result, the initial fiber orientation may deviate from the patch length direction, cf. Figure 6-1 (a). Thereby, the variation of the orientation is typically in a range of $\pm 3^{\circ}$ from the optimum orientation [128]. Additionally, the fiber orientation can be influenced by the prepreg production process, in a way that a misalignments goes through the whole patch, cf. Figure 6-1 (b). This failure can result in rated break point of the patch. The variations caused by fiber misorientation are considered by a variation of the orientation of the total patch within the robustness evaluation, cf. Section 8.3. Furthermore, to minimize waste and simplify the manufacturing process, the reinforcement patch should have an initially rectangular geometry [128]. Thereby, a minimum and a maximum patch size, depending on the initial components dimensions, should be considered. The minimum and maximum constraint is directly implemented in the definition of the optimization problem, cf. equation (11), and therefore implemented in the optimization algorithm.



Figure 6-1: Inaccuracies during the prepreg production: misalignment of patch and fiber direction during cutting (a), and shift in the fiber orientation of the semi-finished product (b)

Draping process

An obvious restriction is that the reinforcement patch has to be completely within the area of the initial component. A further restriction, resulting from the process, is that a patch reinforcement is only possible on either one or the other side of the initial component. These restrictions are incorporated in the draping simulation, where the patches are cut at the border of the initial component, cf. Section 4.2. Furthermore, the final geometry of the reinforcement patch is predicted by the kinematic draping simulation. A further process constraint, incorporated within the draping simulation is the prevention of undercuts of the patch, which would be impossible to manufacture. In addition, the consideration of user-defined no-go-areas for the reinforcement patch is possible within the draping simulation. No-go-areas in the context of patch reinforcements, to be considered here, are preserved spaces for inserts or areas with too complex geometry or a too high slope, making the draping process impossible [128].

Co-molding process

The third group of influencing variables are the process-induced local variations of the material constitution. Therefore, the manufacturing influence related to the DiCoFRP component is the fiber orientation, which is provided by a process simulation and used as input for the optimization. Thereby, the fiber orientation influences the mechanical performance and the warpage, which is predicted with respect to the fiber orientation, cf. Section 5.4.

During the co-molding process no influences regarding the thickness of the patch are expected [128]. The deformation and displacement of reinforcement patches has been studied by Bücheler and Henning [129]. Their results for the displacement and deformation of the patch during the molding process are shown in Figure 6-2. Since the material system used within this thesis is a UPPH resin, the deviations for the UPPH resin are going to be used as input for the robustness evaluation, cf. Section 8.4. Once the co-molding process is done, the adhesion between the patch and the SMC material is unproblematic, since the same resin system is used for both materials.



Figure 6-2: Resulting total deformation (left) and displacement (right) for a patch reinforcement during the manufacturing process [129]

Summarizing the influences of the manufacturing inaccuracies, two main sources of deviations can be identified, orientation, in terms of the whole

patch or the fibers, and size changes, like patch length and width. Furthermore, the most important question, to be answered by the robustness evaluation is, how accurate the process has to be, to ensure that a predicted optimum remains an optimum for the real part. Therefore, a robustness evaluation is performed after the optimization.

6.2. Workflow of the multi-objective patch optimization

Most of the content in this chapter was already published in [103].

The general approach of the patch optimization chain is shown in Figure 6-3. Thereby, the optimization procedure can be divided into the three main parts: pre-processing, optimization loop and post-processing. The pre-processing phase starts with a design phase for the initial component. After the initial design is specified, a process simulation is performed to predict the fiber orientations for the SMC component. Based on the fiber orientations, the material parameters are calculated within a mapping step. After the pre-processing part is done, the optimization starts. Since the optimization loop is the main scope of this work, it will be discussed in the following sections. The last part of the optimization chain is the post-processing step. Here the Pareto front is evaluated (Section 6.3) and heat maps are created, cf. Section 6.4.



Figure 6-3: CAE chain used for the patch optimization

The more detailed workflow of the optimization loop is shown in Figure 6-4 (a). Firstly, the initial population of design variable vectors u_i is created with uniform random distribution for each parameter within the given design space. Secondly, the initial fitness calculation is performed (Figure 6-4 (c)), where the kinematic draping simulation (cf. Chapter 1) is integrated into the fitness calculation step (cf. Section 3.4) of the multi-objective genetic algorithm. The draping simulation is used to create the necessary input for the structural simulation in terms of position and fiber orientation of the formed CoFRP patch. Furthermore, the draping simulation is used to return the fitness value F_2 . Fitness value F_2 represents the amount of used patch length. Since the random selection of design variables u may create patch lengths, which overlap the boundaries of the geometry, two different scenarios have to be distinguished:

- The patch fits completely on the DiCoFRP component: Here the patch usage is equal to the design parameter, representing the patch length.
- 2. The patch fits not completely on the DiCoFRP component: Here the patch is cut at the border of the component and the resulting length is returned as F_2 .

Subsequent to draping simulation, a structural simulation computes the fitness value F_1 , which represents the compliance of the component, quantified by the global strain energy. For linear-elastic material behavior, the strain energy can be defined by

$$W_{\varepsilon}^{\text{global}} = \int_{\Omega} \sigma^{\mathrm{T}} * \varepsilon \, dV = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \boldsymbol{P}_{i}^{\mathrm{T}} * \boldsymbol{d}_{i}$$
(58)

where P_i and d_i are the nodal forces and nodal displacements of a finite element model with n element nodes.



Figure 6-4: Integration of the fitness calculation in the genetic optimization algorithm of the Dakota tool box (a), used to solve the patch optimization problem (b) by applying the two-step fitness calculation (c).

The fitness calculation step is slightly adapted, when the warpage simulation is included in the optimization run, since the fitness value F_2 results then from the warpage simulation. Therefore, the fitness calculation is performed as presented in Figure 6-5. In this case, the draping simulation is only used to calculate the final patch geometry and the resulting fiber orientation as input for structural and warpage simulation. The resulting patch length is not investigated as an additional objective function in order to limit the number of fitness values to be evaluated.



Figure 6-5: Fitness calculation when incorporating a warpage simulation in the optimization

For the optimization algorithm, the open access software toolkit Dakota is used, an implementation of the Sandia National Laboratories [130]. The Dakota toolkit provides diverse operators for genetic algorithms (as the ones described in Section 3.3) as well as an interface between analysis code and optimization methods. Within the optimization loop, two termination criteria can be used: a maximum number of iterations n and a convergence metric.

6.3. Convergence criteria

Since multi-objective optimizations have the goal to predict a wide range of the Pareto front, more than one criterion is needed to properly characterize the performance. The criteria presented first in this section, are developed to evaluate the final results of the optimization. In addition, a convergence metric is necessary during the optimization runs to measure the improvement between two generations. Therefore, Dakota offers a metric consisting of three different criteria, which cannot be changed manually [130]. Finally the criteria developed are compared with the Dakota criteria.

The three criteria, introduced within this thesis to evaluate the convergence rate, the quantity of solutions, and the diversity, are:

1. Dominated area for the evaluation of the convergence rate. The dominated area is defined as the area enclosed by the current front and the extreme points k_1 and k_2 and therefore represents the progress of the optimization. Therefore, the extreme points are defined by

$$\boldsymbol{k}_{i} = [F_{1}(\boldsymbol{u}_{i}), F_{2}(\boldsymbol{u}_{i})]^{T}, i \in 1,2$$
 (59)

$$k_1 = \{k | F_1(u_1) > F_1(u) \forall u \in U\}$$
(60)

$$k_2 = \{k | F_2(u_2) > F_2(u) \forall u \in U\}$$
(61)

The dominated areas of two successive fronts are exemplarily shown in Figure 6-6.

- 2. Number of solutions along the Pareto front.
- 3. *Patch length distribution.* The patch length is modeled as a discrete design variable. Therefore, the *percentage share of the patch length partitions along the Pareto front* is used to describe the distribution along the front. This criterion is only used, if the patch usage is one of the objectives.



Figure 6-6: Dominated area calculation for generation i (black solid line) and i + 1 (grey dotted line), and the maximum points k_1 and k_2 (red dots).

The following criteria are implemented in the Dakota workflow, and will therefore be used during the optimization run:

1. Spread of the solutions within the design space, which is calculated by

$$\Delta F = |\boldsymbol{k}_1 - \boldsymbol{k}_2| \tag{62}$$

where k_1 and k_2 are calculated according to equation (60) and (61).

2. *The density along the current Pareto front,* is used to measure the diversity within a current solution.

3. The relative "goodness" of the current front. To measure the relative goodness, the number of individuals on front (i - 1) dominated by front i is counted.

All three criteria are evaluated for each generation and implemented as percentage change between two generations. From these three criteria the highest percentage change is taken to evaluate each generation. The optimization is terminated, when a user defined percentage change is less than a specified value, for a defined number of subsequent generations. [130]

Comparing the proposed convergence criteria with the criteria implemented in Dakota, a number of advantages can be seen. When evaluating the convergence rate, the Dominated area is used instead of the solutions spread, since it is a more precise method to measure the optimizations progress, taking all points on the front into account instead of only the extreme points. The diversity measurement is done with the patch length distribution, since it subdivides the solutions in groups connected to the input parameter. The overall progress of the optimization can be better described, when taking the dominated area and the total number of solutions into account, instead of the Dakota-defined "goodness" of a generation.

6.4. Heat-maps

Since the multi-objective optimization does not result in one best solution, but in a set of solutions, a tool needs to be introduced to help a designer to choose the right position for the patch reinforcement. The final Pareto front can be used to select one specific solution, but thereby a large amount of the information gained during the optimization, is not used any more. Therefore, the heat map is proposed here as an additional tool to visualize the optimization results.

The heat map focuses on the evaluation of the global strain objective in conjunction with the patch usage or the warpage objective. Therefore, the patch position (including patch length) is visualized by means of a heat-map, which weights the resulting fitness values. The results along the Pareto front are summarized in a weighted form, thereby the weighting factor is calculated by

$$= \frac{\frac{\omega_i}{1}}{\left(\frac{F_1(u_i)}{F_{1,\max}(u_{\max})}\right) * \left(\frac{F_2(u_i)}{F_{2,\max}(u_{\max})}\right)}, i$$
(63)
= 1 ... n

with *n* as the number of individuals on the Pareto front, $F_{1,max}$ is the maximum value observed for fitness 1, and $F_{2,max}$ the maximum value observed for fitness 2, respectively. The weighting is normalized and plotted on a uniform mesh, which is only used for visualization purposes, cf. Figure 6-7. Thereby, areas with high patch concentration, cf. red regions in Figure 6-7, should be preferred over those with a lower patch concentration, cf. blue regions in Figure 6-7.

The resulting heat map taken from the application example, cf. Section 7.2, is used here to demonstrated the function of the heat map. Therefore, three different approaches to create the heat map are compared. The first and most evident way, is to visualize only the individuals from the final Pareto front, cf. Figure 6-7. With this approach, those areas are visualized, where the patches have the largest impact for the reinforcement criteria.



Figure 6-7: Heat map with the individuals from the final Pareto front only, where the colour represents the patch concentration along the final front (red = high patch concentration, blue = low patch concentration), while the abscissa and ordinate axes represent the initial components x and y coordinates

The second way is to visualize all individuals incorporated in the optimization process, cf. Figure 6-8. This results in a more unclear representation, since a significantly larger number of solutions, spread over the whole search space, is incorporated in the visualization process. Nevertheless, the advantage of this method is the visualization of the areas being searched by the optimization.

The last visualization method is shown in Figure 6-9, where a user-defined number of individuals from the Pareto front is visualized. This approach is useful, if the Pareto front can be constrained to a specific range, to be visualized. With this approach, the visualization results in a clearer picture, since only a smaller number of individuals is taken into account.

Beside the performance evaluation, the heat map is a useful tool for the designer to find the areas in which the reinforcement is most effective. While the visualization proposed in Figure 6-8 is more useful for the performance evaluation, the visualization of a selected number of individuals from a constraint area on the Pareto front is a helpful tool for the designer.



Figure 6-8: Heat map with all results obtained during the optimization (colour and axes as for Figure 6-7)



Figure 6-9: (b) Heat map with a selected number of individuals (colour and axes as for Figure 6-7); here the 15 stiffest individuals are visualized ((a) red dots in the Pareto front)

7 Application examples and numerical results

7.1. Plate structure

In this section, three plate examples are used to demonstrated the influence of the crossover type (plate-1), the influence of different patch numbers (plate-2) on the performance of the algorithm, and the behavior of the algorithm with a large number of generations (plate-3).

Application example plate-1

The first application example is used to demonstrate the ability of the method to solve the patch optimization problem. Based on equation (9), the optimization problem is formulated as

$$Minimize F(u)$$
(64)
= Minimize [global strain energy, patch usage]^T,

with the definition of the global strain energy given in equation (58). Furthermore, the influence of the crossover type is studied with this example. Therefore, the setup of the test calculations is shown in Table 7-1.

The load case is a bending load, cf. Figure 7-1 (b), where the design area is the top side of the plate. For the crossover comparison, the basis setup A-Opt 1 is used as benchmark. To characterize the distribution within the search space, all solutions are arranged in groups with patch-length steps of 25 mm, from 0 mm to 425 mm maximum patch length for example A. The division into the seventeen groups will also be used for A-Opt-2. The distribution of the results within the search space is shown in Figure 7-1 (a). The presented figure shows that solutions with smaller total patch length are more likely to

appear. This is also demonstrated by the percentage share of all A-Opt 1 results in Figure 7-1 (d). In the given example, the shortest possible patch length is 25 mm, therefore patch usage group 1 remains empty. Furthermore, four reference points are given in Figure 7-1 (a), which correspond to the patch configurations shown in Figure 7-1 (c). These points shall help to evaluate the optimization results.

	structure					
Name	Crossover	Muta- tion	Replace- ment	Nich- ing	Number of patches	
A-Opt 1	Parameterized binary	High	Elitist	No	2	
A-Opt 2	Multi-point bi- narv	High	Elitist	No	2	

Table 7-1. Sotup of the evolutionany algorithm used for the test calculations with the plate

Comparing the Pareto fronts, both optimizations converge to a similar front, cf. Figure 7-2 (a), which allows the assumption that the proposed approach runs stable. The convergence rate, represented by the increase of the dominated area (Figure 7-2 (b)), is significantly higher for the multi-point binary crossover (A-Opt 2) than for the parameterized binary crossover (A-Opt 1). This is due to the fact, that the multi-point binary crossover can change a design variable on several bits, while other design variables remain unchanged. Consequently, the multi-point binary crossover has a more pronounced global search than the parametrized binary crossover, which only applies one change per variable. Comparing the number of solutions found on the final Pareto front, the multi-point binary crossover also has a better performance. Both heat maps show the similar result that a reinforcement on the left side of the plate will create the best result in terms of the total strain energy, Figure 7-2 (e) and (f). This can also be seen by the proposed reference points, cf. Figure 7-1 (c), where configuration 4 is the best solution, in terms of strain energy minimization. Comparing the distribution of the solutions on the Pareto front of A-Opt 1 (cf. Figure 7-2 (d)) with the distribution of all solutions of A-Opt 1 (Figure 7-1 (d)), it can be seen that the qualitative distribution is very similar. As for A-Opt 1, the solutions along the Pareto front of A-Opt 2 also show a tendency to smaller total patch lengths.



Figure 7-1: Distribution of all calculated individuals in the search space of A-Opt 1 (parametrized binary crossover) in comparison with four reference solutions (a). The blue points represent the final Pareto front. Load case used for application example plate-1, where A represents the constraint and B the load (b). Patch configurations of four reference solutions (c). The red bars illustrate the resulting percentage share of all individuals (blue and grey dots in (a)) for each patch-usage group with a steplength of 25mm (d). (from [103], modified)

Summarizing the crossover effects, the multi-point binary crossover offers a better performance in terms of convergence rate and number of found solutions. Since both final Pareto fronts are quite similar, the multi-point binary

crossover is used to perform the optimization runs with the curved structure, cf. Section 7.2.



Figure 7-2: Comparison of the results of the two crossover processes A-Opt 1 (parameterized binary crossover) and A-Opt 2 (multi-point binary crossover): (a) Comparison of the final Pareto fronts, (b) the dominated area for the evaluation of the convergence behavior, (c) development of the number of elements on the current Pareto front for each generation, (d) percentage share of the solutions along the Pareto front (blue dots in (a)) for each length-group with a step-length of 25mm, (e) heat map for A-Opt 1, (f) heat map for A-Opt 2. [103]

Application example plate-2

As second application example a plate structure with a different load case is used, to demonstrate the influence of the patch number on the final optimization result. Furthermore, the influence of the mutation probability is investigated. This study was published by Fengler et al. [131]. Based on equation (9), the optimization problem is formulated as

$$Minimize F(u)$$
(65)
= Minimize[displacement, patch usage]^T.

With the first fitness value as the displacement, a local criterion is used instead of a global criterion. The amount of patch used as reinforcement is used as second criteria. The load case is presented in Figure 7-3 (b), where the constrained side is represented by A, while the load is applied in form of a line load at B. In addition, the line at B is used as evaluation set for the displacement criterion.

To demonstrate the influence of the number of patches on the optimization result, the patch number is set to $N_p = [1,2,3]$, while all other parameters remain constant during the optimization run, cf. Table 7-2. The maximum number of generations for this example is n = 50.

Name	Crossover	Muta- tion	Replace- ment	Nich- ing	Number of patches
A-Opt 3	Parameterized binary	High	Below- limit	No	1
A-Opt 4	Parameterized binary	High	Below- limit	No	2
A-Opt 5	Parameterized binary	High	Below- limit	No	3

Table 7-2: Setup of the evolutionary algorithm used for the patch number influence study
The mutation parameter is set to $\vartheta_m = 0.2$ for every calculation, cf. Section 3.3.2. Based on this and with equation (21) the actual probability for mutation can be calculated, depending on the number of patches and thus the number of design variables. The calculated actual probabilities for three possible events no mutation, mutation of 50 % of the design variables and mutation of all design variables are given in Table 7-3. Comparing the probabilities, it can be seen, that for the one-patch optimization the majority of individuals remains un-mutated, while for the optimization with larger patch numbers, the amount of unchanged solutions is considerably lower. A mutation of all design variables would comply with a random search, and is therefore undesirable. Looking at the probability of a mutation in every design variable, it can be seen that it is negligible small for the one-patch optimization, and almost zero for A-Opt 4 and A-Opt 5.

Name	No mutation	Mutation of 50 % of the design varia- bles	Mutation of all de- sign variables
A-Opt 3	40.96 %	15.36 %	0.16 %
A-Opt 4	16.77 %	4.59 %	~ 0 %
A-Opt 5	6.87 %	1.55 %	~ 0 %

Table 7-3: Calculated actual probability of mutation, based on the number of design variables and a probability of mutation $\vartheta_m = 0.2$

The final Pareto sets for the different patch number configurations are shown in Figure 7-3 (a). The resulting curves show similarities in fitness ranges that could be covered by all patch configurations. These similar results are caused by multiple patch solutions, with one long patch and one or two patches with the defined minimum patch length. The longest patch is located here in a similar position, as for the calculation with fewer patches. This can also be demonstrated with the heat maps, cf. Figure 7-4 (b) to (d), created for the section of the Pareto front covered by all patch configurations.



Figure 7-3: Load case and evaluation of the example structure plate-2 for different patch numbers: Comparison of the different Pareto fronts (a), load case used for all calculation (b), the dominated area for the evaluation of the convergence behavior (c), development of the number of elements on the current Pareto front for each generation (d)

The progress of the optimization run is demonstrated with the dominated area, Figure 7-3 (c). Here can be seen, that the dominated area for the solutions with one patch (A-Opt 3) is, as expected, significantly smaller than for the two- and three-patch runs. Furthermore, it can be seen that the difference between the two- and three-patch solutions is rather small, which is also visualized in Figure 7-3 (a). In addition, A-Opt 3 converges significantly faster to a final front, cf. Figure 7-3 (c). This is due to the fact that the number of design variables is smaller here. When looking at the number of solutions found, the quantity of solutions is the largest for the A-Opt 3. The explanation

therefore is, that once the optimization has converged, the focus is on increasing the number of solutions along the front.

Comparing the section of patch usage covered by all three optimization runs, cf. Figure 7-4 (a), it can be seen that all optimization runs create a Pareto front with distinct steps. This is caused by the discrete modeling of the design parameter length. When using more than one patch, the gaps between the steps are closed, since the total length is a combination of the individual design parameter. The values in-between two steps is thereby created by patches cut at the border of the plate, which is more likely to appear for larger patch numbers. The effect of a significantly larger amount of solutions becomes clear, when comparing the heat maps. Here, A-Opt 3 results in a more uniform visualization than A-Opt 4 and A-Opt 5, cf. Figure 7-4. Nevertheless, all optimization runs have a similar result.

Summarizing, the findings from the patch number study, the presented example showed that different patch numbers create similar results, in areas of the Pareto front accessible with one, two or three patches, cf. Figure 7-4 (a). Furthermore, it could be seen, that the influence of the discrete modeling of design parameters is less pronounced for larger patch numbers, since the gaps between two steps in the Pareto front are closed by solutions cut at the border of the plate, as the Pareto front shows, cf. Figure 7-4 (a). Additionally the influence of the number of design parameters on the actual mutation probability has been discussed. Thereby has been shown, that for larger patch numbers the probability for a mutation of all design parameters is significantly low, and therefore it is ensured that the crossover remains the main search operator.



Figure 7-4: Considered section of the Pareto front (a), and the corresponding heat maps: A-Opt 3 (b), A-Opt 4 (c), A-Opt 5 (d)

Application example plate-3

For the last plate example, the same load case and the same optimization objective as for plate-2 is used, cf. Figure 7-3 (b) and equation (64). Compared to plate-2, the maximum number of generations has been raised from $n_{max} = 50$ to $n_{max} = 200$. However, the optimization converged after $n_{max} = 136$ generations. The further settings of the algorithm are the same as for test case A-Opt 5, see Table 7-4.

 Table 7-4:
 Setup of the evolutionary algorithm used for the study of the influence of the maximum number of generations

Name	Crossover	Muta- tion	Replace- ment	Nich- ing	Number of patches
A-Opt 6	Parameterized binary	High	Below- limit	No	3

The final Pareto front found during the optimization is compared to A-Opt 5 to evaluate its quality, Figure 8-4 (a). It can be seen, that the optimization with a higher number of generations can increase the performance of the Pareto front, especially in the area of higher patch usage. This is also visualized by a significantly larger dominated area, cf. Figure 8-4 (b). Since the largest part of the performance increase is within an early generation, it is obviously not caused by the increase of the generation number. The explanation for the increase is the mutation, which is a random based procedure and can therefore randomly vary between a local search, as for A-Opt 5, and a global search, as for A-Opt 6, where the global search is characterized by larger improvements within the dominated area between two successive generations.

As expected, the number of found solutions for the optimization with the higher number of generations, A-Opt 6, is significantly higher than for A-Opt 5. However, the number of solutions found up to the 50th generation is approximately similar. Comparing the heat maps, cf. Figure 7-4 (d) and Figure 7-5 (d), can be seen that the difference is negligible.

Concluding the study on the influence of the maximum number of generations, the highest impact of a higher number of generations is on the total quantity of solutions found on the final Pareto front. Therefore, the dominated area could be a useful criteria for the convergence of a solution, since for the event of convergence of the optimization, the dominated area approximates a horizontal line. Comparing the qualitative results, in terms of the heat map, the influence is negligible, therefore it should be sufficient to continue with a smaller number of maximum generations.



Figure 7-5: Comparison of the results for the variation of maximum number of generations (A-Opt 5: n=AAA, A-Opt 6: n=200), (a) Comparison of the final Pareto fronts, (b) the dominated area for the evaluation of the convergence behavior, (c) development of the elements on the current Pareto front for each generation, (d) heat map for the final generation of A-Opt 6.

7.2. Slightly curved structure

The second example is a slightly curved structure, in which the kinematic draping simulation has a larger effect than in the previous example, where the kinematic algorithm only checked a possible overlapping of patches beyond the plate boundaries. Likewise as for the first example, the optimization problem can be formulated based on equation (9) as

> Minimize F(u) =(66) Minimize [global strain energy, patch usage]^T.

Based on the findings from the plate structure, the crossover type is kept constant for this example (multi-point binary crossover), while the optimization parameters for mutation, replacement and niching are systematically varied to show their influence on the performance of the optimization. The settings for the calculation are summarized in Table 7-5. The following results have been published by Fengler et al. [103].

Name	Crossover	Muta- tion	Replace- ment	Nich- ing	Number of patches
B-Opt 1	Multi-point bi- nary	Low	Elitist	No	2
B-Opt 2	Multi-point bi- nary	High	Elitist	No	2
B-Opt 3	Multi-point bi- nary	Low	Below- limit	No	2
B-Opt 4	Multi-point bi- nary	Low	Elitist	Yes	2

Table 7-5: Setup of the evolutionary algorithm for the second application example

The load case is a bending load with two constrained areas, cf. Figure 7-6 (c). As for the plate structure, the Pareto fronts obtained for the different setups (cf. Table 7-5) are compared with predefined reference points to evaluate the

results, cf. Figure 7-6 (a). Thereby, the patch reinforcement of reference point 4 ends at the constraint area, while the reinforcement from point 3 is limited by the part geometry, Figure 7-6 (b).

Comparing the different mutation settings, the higher mutation (B-Opt 2) creates a slightly better result regarding stiffness maximization for large patch lengths, cf. Figure 7-7 (a). This is due to the fact that the changes applied by the more flexible mutation operator work similar to the more flexible crossover process, and therefore increase the search power of the optimization. The dominated area does not converge faster compared to the low mutation (Figure 7-7 (b)), but starts at a higher value. When looking at the number of found solutions, as a second quality criterion, the number of found solutions at the final front is higher for the higher mutation rate, cf. Figure 7-7 (c). Comparing the heat maps, it can be seen, that both optimization runs end up in similar results, cf. Figure 7-10 (a) and (b). The better performance in terms of finding the extreme point regarding stiffness maximization is not visible in the heat map (Figure 7-10 (b)), since only a small proportion of solutions is in the extreme area, and is therefore underrepresented within the heat map. This shows also, that the heat map is an additional tool, but should not be considered as the only basis of decision, but always in combination with the Pareto front.

Comparing the results obtained by calculation B-Opt 1, B-Opt 3 (replacement type below-limit, where also dominated individuals are passed to the next generation), and B-Opt 4 (with niching), no significant change regarding the Pareto front and the convergence rate can be seen, cf. Figure 7-8 and Figure 7-9 each (a) and (b). The difference in the results of the different setups becomes more obvious comparing the heat maps, cf. Figure 7-10. Here it can be seen, that the distribution of the resulting patch positions is more balanced (reflected in a more pronounced symmetrical picture in the heat map), when more fronts are taken into account (B-Opt 3) or a niching pressure is applied (B-Opt 4). This effect results from a higher diversity of the found solutions along the Pareto front.



Reference point 4

Figure 7-6: (a) Comparison of the Pareto fronts obtained for the curved structure, (b) predefined reference points to classify the results, and (c) load conditions. (from [103], modified)

For the given example, a reinforcement covering the position of the structural kink has a large effect on the total component's stiffness. This becomes evident when comparing reference points 2 and 3, cf. Figure 7-6 (b), as well as in the heat maps, represented by the red areas, cf. Figure 7-10 (c) and (d). The red areas in the heat maps for B-Opt 1 and B-Opt 2 are smaller compared to those of B-Opt 3 and B-Opt 4, resulting from a lower diversity, and therefore an allocation of solutions with smaller patch length.

Summarizing the results obtained with the curved structure, all optimizations converge to a similar final Pareto front. This shows that the proposed approach is capable to solve the patch optimization problem. Furthermore, it could be seen that a higher mutation rate is likely to improve the ability of finding extreme points regarding stiffness maximization. However, the diversity of the solutions is still low, which results in a more asymmetrical heat map. Utilizing the heat maps, the best results could be achieved by incorporating a niching pressure and using the below-limit replacement method. This was demonstrated by a more symmetrical picture in the heat map. The effect on the convergence rate was found to be small for the proposed configurations, except for the higher mutation rate, which creates a slightly higher convergence rate, represented by the dominated area. Based on this, a higher mutation rate is suggested, if the finding of extreme solutions (maximum stiffness) has a higher preference. Additionally, a niching pressure and a belowlimit replacement are helpful to achieve a more balanced Pareto front and therefore more suitable heat maps.



Figure 7-7: Comparison of the results for the variation of the mutation (B-Opt 1: low mutation rate, B-Opt 2: high mutation rate), (a) Comparison of the final Pareto fronts, (b) the dominated area for the evaluation of the convergence behavior, (c) development of the elements on the current Pareto front for each generation, (d) percentage share of the solutions along the Pareto front for each length-group [103, 103]



Figure 7-8: Comparison of the results for the variation of the replacement type (B-Opt 1: elitist replacement, B-Opt 3: below-limit replacement), (a) to (d) as inFigure 7-7. [103]



Figure 7-9: Comparison of the results for no-niching and niching (B-Opt 1: no-niching, B-Opt 4: niching), (a) to (d) as in Figure 7-7. [103]



Figure 7-10: Top view of the generated heat-maps for the results obtained along the Pareto front (red: high patch concentration, blue: low patch concentration): (a) basic setup (B-Opt 1), (b) higher mutation rate (B-Opt 2), (c) change of replacement type (B-Opt 3), (d) niching pressure (B-Opt 4). [103]

7.3. IRTG reference structure

In this section the reference structure developed within the DFG-GRK2078 will be used to demonstrate the performance of the algorithm. First a stiffness optimization is performed with both crossover operators, to demonstrate the influence of the crossover for a rather complex structure (example 1). The second optimization run consists of a combined warpage and stiffness optimization along the proposed optimization chain (example 2), cf. Section 6.2, for which only one crossover operator is considered. In the presented examples, the fiber orientation from a mold filling simulation is used.

Application example GRK2078-reference structure 1

Based on equation (9) the optimization problem is formulated as

$$Minimize F(u) =$$
(67)
Minimize[strain energy, patch usage]^T.

The parameters used for the evolutionary algorithm are given in Table 7-6. Here the crossover operator is varied to validate the findings from the plate structure, cf. Section 7.1, with a 3D structure. Furthermore, a niching pressure is applied here, since this is excepted to result in a more uniform distribution. In both cases the optimization is run for n = 30 generations.

Name	Crossover	Muta- tion	Replace- ment	Nich- ing	Number of patches
C-Opt 1	Parameterized binary	Low	Elitist	Yes	2
C-Opt 2	Multi-point bi- nary	Low	Elitist	Yes	2

Table 7-6: Setup of the evolutionary algorithm for the study with the 3D structure

The load case used for the structural simulation is a four-point-bending load, cf. Figure 7-11 (a), where the structure is loaded with two line loads at B and constrained at four support points A1 to A4. Additionally, it should be mentioned that the proposed structure is not symmetric. The slope of the two sides C and D, cf. Figure 7-11 (b), is 140° and 120°. Whereas the two sides E have an equal slope of 135°.



Figure 7-11: Reference structure used as a 3D validation structure: (a) load case with the four support points A1 to A4 and the line loads B, (b) top view of the structure with the sides with different slope C and D, and the sides with an equal slope E

Comparing the Pareto fronts, the multi-point crossover creates a slightly better result than the parametrized binary crossover. This has also been observed in the first application example, cf. Section 7.1. Furthermore, the unsymmetrical behavior of the example structure can be seen by looking at the reference points. When comparing reference point 3 and reference point 4, cf. Figure 7-12, the difference in the performance of mirrored solutions can be seen. This effect is enlarged by the process-induced fiber orientations, which are due to the asymmetric geometry also asymmetric.



Figure 7-12: Comparison of the Pareto fronts achieved with the two crossover types (C-Opt 1: parameterized binary, B-Opt 2: multi-point binary) with four reference points to classify the results. In reference point 3 and 4 the smaller patch is equal to the minimum patch length of 25 mm.

The performance of the two crossover types is compared with the development of the dominated area, cf. Figure 7-13 (a). It is noticeable, that unlike in the previous examples, a large increase of the dominated area between generation 1 and 2 occurs. Additionally, for both crossover types, there are phases in which non or almost non progress is achieved, like between generation 2 to 10 for C-Opt 1 or generation 6 to 14 for C-Opt 2. This can be explained by the probability based characteristic of the evolutionary algorithm, which can results in phases with large- or non-progress, as in the presented example. Comparing the number of individuals on the front per generation, cf. Figure 7-14 (b), C-Opt 2 finds also a larger number of solutions. However, C-Opt 1 creates a significantly larger number of solutions in the group of larger patch lengths. Compared to the previous examples, cf. Section 7.2, the distribution within the search space is more balanced here. The influence of the fiber orientation and of the asymmetrical geometry is visible in the heat maps, cf. Figure 8-4. In both cases, the area with a more pronounced reinforcement is on the side with the smaller angle.



Figure 7-13: Comparison of the results for the variation of the crossover (C-Opt 1: parameterized binary, B-Opt 2: multi-point binary), (a) Comparison of the dominated area for the evaluation of the convergence behavior, (b) development of the elements on the current Pareto front for each generation, (c) percentage share of the solutions along the Pareto front for each length-group

Summarizing the results for the optimization of the GRK2078 reference structure, both crossover types achieve a similar result in terms of the final Pareto front, which shows that the proposed algorithm is able to solve the patch optimization problem for a complex 3D structure independent of the evolutionary configuration. Again, the performance of the multi-point crossover is better than the one of the parametrized binary crossover, which was also observed in the first example.



Figure 7-14: Heat maps of the two optimization runs, each with perspective and top view: (a) and (b) with parameterized binary crossover (C-Opt 1); (c) and (d) with multi-point binary crossover (C-Opt 2);

Application example GRK2078-reference structure 2

The last application example is used to demonstrate the performance of the proposed algorithm, by incorporating the warpage simulation in the optimization loop. For this purpose, the same geometry as for the previous example is used. Utilizing equation (9), the optimization problem can be formulated as

$$Minimize F(u)$$
(68)
=
$$\frac{Min [strain energy (structural load case),}{strain energy (curing), distortion]^{T}}.$$

Hereafter, the identifiers F_1 , F_2 , and F_3 are used for strain energy resulting from the structural load case, strain energy resulting from curing, and the distortion objective. For the structural load case, the same conditions are applied as for reference structure 1, cf. Figure 7-11 (a). The optimization of the occurring warpage is performed with two objectives, minimization of processinduced displacements and strain energy. The reason for considering both is that a component can be distortion-free, with the drawback of a significant amount of residual stresses. For the distortion minimization objective, the mean value from the four evaluation points C1 to C4 is used, Figure 7-15 (a), while the strain energy is taken from the whole model. The temperature profile used for the curing and warpage simulation is presented in Figure 7-15 (b).

The setup of the evolutionary algorithm is the same as for C-Opt 2, and is shown in Table 7-7.

Name	Crossover	Muta- tion	Replace- ment	Nich- ing	Number of patches
C-Opt 3	Multi-point bi- nary	Low	Elitist	Yes	2

Table 7-7: Setup of the evolutionary algorithm used for the warpage optimization



Figure 7-15: Load case for the warpage simulation: (a) model with the constraint points (A1: x and y direction, A2: z direction) and the evaluation points for the distortion criteria (C1 to C4), (b) temperature profile used for the curing and warpage simulation

The three-dimensional Pareto front, as a result of the combined structural and warpage optimization, is shown in Figure 7-16 (a). In addition to the Pareto optimal results, an approximation of the Pareto front is shown. Besides, the Pareto front is analyzed in each search space individually, cf. Figure 7-16 (b) to (d). Therefore, all results from the 3D Pareto front are shown in the individual search spaces, and the subset which would correspond to the search space Pareto front is highlighted.

The most distinct creation of a front is shown for the search space covering the two strain energy objective functions, cf. Figure 7-16 (b). This is due to the fact that the two objective functions are most contradictory, since longer patches are required for higher stiffness, which also leads to higher curing stresses. Looking at the distribution in the F2/F3 search space, it can be seen that the majority of solution is allocated in one area the search space. This is caused by the close link between the two objective functions. Nevertheless, this is not the fact for all solutions, since there are solutions for which both objective functions differ considerably. These results correspond with solutions with ether high distortion and therefore low residual stresses or vice versa, therefore it is reasonable to consider both objective functions during the optimization, to ensure a solution with a minimum of distortion and residual stress. Furthermore, the result of the optimization is visualized with a heat map, cf. Figure 7-17. Comparing the heat map with those from the first application example, cf. Figure 7-14, can be seen that the highest patch concentration is on the same side, though the area with a high patch concentration. Besides the considering the warpage objective during the optimization. Besides this, the patch length is in general small than for the previous example. This is caused by the two manufacturing process based objectives, F2 and F3, since a smaller patch length results in lower distortions and residual stresses. In addition, the patch concentration on the side with the higher geometrical stiffness, cf. Figure 7-17 (b) lower part of the component, is higher. This leads to the deduction that the ratio of stiffness improvement to resulting warpage in this area of the component is better than the ratio of stiffness improvement to patch usage, and thus the use of patch at this point is more advantageous, with regard to the optimization objectives for the combined warpage and stiffness optimization.

Summarizing the findings of the warpage optimization, a three-dimensional Pareto front could be determined, considering strain energy from a structural load case and, distortion and strain energy from the curing process as objective functions. Based on the given example, the combination of the three objectives is a useful approach for the optimization of local reinforcements, since manufacturing influences can be considered during the optimization process. In addition, the heat maps are again a very good way to visualize the optimization results.



Figure 7-16: Results for the combined structural and warpage optimization: (a) 3D representation of the final Pareto front (results and interpolation); Analysis of the Pareto front in the three solution spaces (b) strain energy from curing and load case, (c) strain energy from load case and distortion, (d) distortion and strain energy from curing, (e) dominated area for the evaluation of the convergence behavior, (f) development of the elements on the current Pareto front for each generation



Figure 7-17: Heat maps of the optimization run with warpage consideration, (a) perspective and (b) top view

7.4. Conclusion on application results

Three application examples have been studied to show the ability of the proposed algorithm to solve the patch optimization problem. Starting from a rather simple plate structure, the geometrical complexity was increase to a slightly curved and finally to a 3D reference structure.

The plate structure was used to perform basic feasibility studies and to compare the performance of the different crossover operators. Thereby, the multi-point binary crossover offers a better performance in terms of convergence rate and number of found solutions, while the found Pareto fronts are similar with both crossover types. Furthermore, the influence of the patch number on the performance and quality of the found Pareto fronts has been analyzed. Thereby, it could be seen that gaps in the Pareto front, caused by the discrete modeling of the design parameters, are closed when using a larger n umber of patches. The reason therefore are patches cut at the border of the plate, which are more likely to appear for larger patch numbers. In addition, the different patch numbers create similar results, in areas accessible with one, two, and three patches. The last study with the plate structure analyzed the influence of the maximum number of generations on the optimizations performance. Thereby, could be demonstrated that once the Pareto front has converged to a final Pareto front, the highest impact of a higher number of generations is on the total quantity of solutions found. Therefore it should be sufficient to continue with a smaller number of maximum generations, though it has to be ensured that the optimization converges.

The curved structure was used to analyse the influence of different settings of the evolutionary algorithm on the optimizations performance. Thereby, all optimizations converge to a similar final Pareto front, which shows that the proposed approach is capable to solve the patch optimization problem. Additionally, it could be demonstrated that a higher mutation rate is likely to improve the algorithm's ability to find solutions in extreme areas, like high stiffness or low patch usage. A more balanced distribution of the solutions along the final Pareto front can be ensured when a niching pressure is applied. Furthermore, the influence of the two different selection types, elitist and below limit, on the optimization result has been studied. Thereby, the below limit method results in a more balanced Pareto front than the elitist method. The effect on the convergence rate was found to be small for the proposed configurations, except for the higher mutation rate, which creates a slightly higher convergence rate.

The last application example studied here, was the reference structure developed within the DFG-GRK2078. Again, the performance of the multi-point binary crossover was better than those of the parametrized binary crossover. After the structural optimization was demonstrated successfully with the algorithm, a combined warpage and stiffness optimization was performed. Contrary to the first example, the three objective functions, strain energy from a structural load case, distortion, and strain energy from curing, have been used here. Thereby could be demonstrated that the concurrent use of distortion and strain energy from curing is a good approach to consider effects resulting from warpage in the optimization.

8 Robustness study

8.1. Robustness measurements

According to Jin and Branke [94], a robust design should still work satisfactory when inaccuracies, e.g. from the manufacturing process, influence the design parameters. Therefore, perturbations and changes are applied on each design variable of the optimal solutions, once the optimization procedure is done. This definition of a robust solution is also used in the context of this thesis. Therefore, the robustness evaluation is used to rate the solutions on the Pareto front in terms of sensibility against inaccuracies of the design parameter, while the determination of the robust front is not focused here. Methods to determine the final robust front have been presented by Deb and Gupta [132], and Gaspar-Cunha et al. [93].

The variation of the design parameter is applied in the design space, while the evaluation of the robustness is done in the solution space, cf. Figure 3-2. Thereby, the same variation of the design parameter can result in different variations in the solution space, cf. Figure 8-1. Furthermore, small changes in the design space can result in larger changes in the solution space. The inaccuracies of the design parameters are taken from the manufacturing process, cf. Section 6.1, while the allowed deviation in the solution space comes from tolerance management and is a user defined input parameter. Based on this input, two different ratios are applied to rate the robustness of a solution, the degree of robustness and the robustness index.



Figure 8-1: Effect of the variation of the design parameters on the solutions for two exemplary designs, where equal variation of the design parameters may result in different variations in the solution space

8.1.1. Degree of robustness

The concept of a degree of robustness for multi-objective optimization was first introduced by Barrico and Antunes [133]. They defined the degree of robustness of a solution u as a value k, for which

- 1. the percentage of solutions in the neighborhood $k\delta$ is greater or equal than a predefined value p, and
- 2. the percentage of solutions in the neighborhood $(k + 1)\delta$ is lower than p.

Thereby, δ represents the initial test neighborhood size, and $k\delta$ the size of the k^{th} neighborhood, for which a predefined percentage of solutions p_k ,

$$p_k = \frac{A_{k,\text{robust}}}{A_{k,\text{sample}}},\tag{69}$$

has to be within the neighborhood. Here, $A_{k,\text{sample}}$ is a randomly created set of h solutions u_j in the $k\delta$ neighborhood, and $A_{k,\text{robust}}$ the set of robust solutions u_j within the same $k\delta$ neighborhood defined by

$$A_{k,\text{robust}}$$

$$= \{ \boldsymbol{u}_j \in A_{k,\text{sample}} | F_i(\boldsymbol{u}_j) \le F_{i,0}(\Delta \boldsymbol{u}_0), \forall i \} \quad \text{with } j$$

$$= 1, 2, \dots h,$$

$$(70)$$

with the number of fitness functions *i*, the test sample points u_j , and the allowed deviation of the fitness function $F_{i,0}(\Delta u_0)$. In addition, the size of the test sample is calculated by

$$h = h_0 + (k - 1) * d * h_0 , (71)$$

where h_0 is the user-defined initial sample size, and d the grow rate for the sample size for increasing degree of robustness k. The definition of the degree of robustness in the design and solution space, cf. Section 3.2, is visualized in Figure 8-2.



Figure 8-2: Definition of the degree of robustness k in the design (left) and solution space (right) where $\Delta F_{0,1}$ and $\Delta F_{0,2}$ represents the maximum allowed deviation in the solution space ([133] modified)

8.1.2. Robustness index

The second robustness measure used here, is the robustness index, and was introduced by Gunawan and Azarm [134] for single-objective optimization. The method was later extended for multi-objective optimization by Li et al. [135], and Gunawan and Azarm [136]. The method applied in this work is a variation, proposed by Li et al. [137], where they use the variation of the design parameter for the calculation of a sensitivity region.

The basis for the robustness index is the calculation of the sensitivity region of a test solution u_0 . The sensitivity set Ω is given by

$$\Omega(\boldsymbol{u}_0 + \Delta \boldsymbol{u}) =$$

$$\{\Delta \boldsymbol{u} \in \Re | [F(\boldsymbol{u}_0 + \Delta \boldsymbol{u}) - F(\boldsymbol{u}_0)]^2 \leq [\Delta F_0(\Delta \boldsymbol{u}_0)]^2 \},$$
(72)

where $F(\boldsymbol{u}_0)$ is the fitness of the initial point, $F(\boldsymbol{u}_0 + \Delta \boldsymbol{u})$ is the current test point's fitness, $\Delta \boldsymbol{u}$ the deviation of the design variables, and $\Delta F_0(\Delta \boldsymbol{u}_0)$ the allowed deviation of the fitness function, which is called acceptable objective variation range (AOVR).

A consideration of a worst case scenario regarding the sensitivity region is assumed, to calculate the worst-case-objective-sensitivity-region (WCOSR), cf. Figure 8-3. Here, a worst case scenario means, that always the most sensitive direction is considered for the calculation of the robustness index. The WCOSR method will thereby always result in an underestimation of the actual sensitivity region.

The tolerance region is a hyper-rectangle in the design space, formed by all acceptable values of Δu around the current point u_0 , which is defined by $\Delta u^{lower} \leq \Delta u \leq \Delta u^{upper}$. In Figure 8-3 the tolerance region is visualized exemplarily for a design space with two design parameters.



Figure 8-3: Definition of a tolerance region in the design space (left) and the corresponding objective sensitivity region (OSR) with the resulting worst-case-objective-sensitivityregion (WCOSR) and the acceptable objective variation range (AOVR) (right), ([137] modified)

The most sensitive direction, used for the WCOSR, can be found by solving the following optimization problem

$$\max_{\Delta \boldsymbol{u}} R_{\mathrm{f}}(\Delta \boldsymbol{u}) = \left[\sum_{i=1}^{n} |\Delta F_i(\Delta \boldsymbol{u})|^2\right]^{1/2}$$
(73)

with the number of fitness functions n, the radius of the sensitivity region R, and

$$\Delta F_i(\Delta \boldsymbol{u}) = \frac{F_i(\boldsymbol{u}_0 + \Delta \boldsymbol{u}) - F_i(\boldsymbol{u}_0)}{\Delta F_{i,0}}$$
(74)

$$\Delta \boldsymbol{u}^{\text{lower}} \leq \Delta \boldsymbol{u} \leq \Delta \boldsymbol{u}^{\text{upper}}.$$
 (75)

Based on the radius if the OSR, the robustness index can be defined as [137]

$$\eta = \frac{R_{\rm f}}{R_{\rm I}},\tag{76}$$

where $R_{\rm I}$ is the external radius of the required size of the AOVR. A solution is thereby defined as robust, by the mean of the robustness index, if its OSR is completely enclosed by the AVOR, cf. Figure 8-3.

8.2. Kriging meta-model

The basic definition of a meta-model is given in Section 2.8. Based on this, the Kriging meta-model approach consists of a known set of approximation functions g and a realization of a stochastic process Z. With this, the unknown function of interest can be defined by

$$f(\boldsymbol{u}) = \boldsymbol{g}^{\mathrm{T}}(\boldsymbol{u})\widehat{\boldsymbol{\beta}} + Z(\boldsymbol{u}), \qquad (77)$$

where beta represents the vector of the estimated trend function coefficients. Typical approximation functions, used for the Kriging method, are linear, polynomial or constant. A universal Kriging approach can consist of a set of approximation functions. Within this thesis, linear, quadratic, and reduced quadratic approximation functions are used. [138]

The covariance matrix of Z(u) is defined by

$$Cov[Z(\boldsymbol{u}^{i}), Z(\boldsymbol{u}^{j})] = \sigma^{2}R([\mathbb{R}(\boldsymbol{u}^{i}, \boldsymbol{u}^{j})])$$
(78)

with the variance σ^2 , the correlation function \mathbb{R} for any of the n_s sample points \boldsymbol{u}^i and \boldsymbol{u}^j , and the symmetric correlation matrix R. Thereby, R is a $(n_s \times n_s)$ symmetric matrix with ones on the diagonal. The correlation function \mathbb{R} is a user defined function. In the presented approach, a Gaussian correlation function of the form

$$\mathbb{R}(\boldsymbol{u}^{i}, \boldsymbol{u}^{j}) = \exp\left[-\sum_{k=1}^{n_{\mathrm{dv}}} \left(u_{k}^{i} - u_{k}^{j}\right)^{2} * \theta_{k}\right]$$
(79)

is used. Here, θ_k are the unknown correlation parameters, used to fit the model, n_{dv} is the number of design variables, while u_k^i and u_k^j are the *k*th components of the sample points u^i and u^j .

The predicted estimates \hat{F} for a point \hat{u} , other than the sample points u, is given by

$$\widehat{F}(\widehat{\boldsymbol{u}}) = \boldsymbol{g}^{\mathrm{T}}(\boldsymbol{u})\widehat{\boldsymbol{\beta}} + \boldsymbol{r}^{\mathrm{T}}(\widehat{\boldsymbol{u}})R^{-1}(\boldsymbol{f} - G\widehat{\boldsymbol{\beta}})$$
(80)

where **f** is a vector of the size n_s , consisting of the sample points, and *G* is the matrix of regression functions. Furthermore, **r** is the correlation vector between the untried point \hat{u} and the sample points u^i , and is given by

$$\boldsymbol{r}^{\mathrm{T}}(\boldsymbol{\hat{u}}) = [\mathbb{R}(\boldsymbol{\hat{u}}, \boldsymbol{u}^{1}), \mathbb{R}(\boldsymbol{\hat{u}}, \boldsymbol{u}^{2}), \dots, \mathbb{R}(\boldsymbol{\hat{u}}, \boldsymbol{u}^{n_{s}})].$$
(81)

In addition, $\widehat{oldsymbol{eta}}$ can be estimated by

$$\widehat{\boldsymbol{\beta}} = (G^{\mathrm{T}}R^{-1}G)^{-1}G^{\mathrm{T}}R^{-1}\boldsymbol{f}.$$
(82)

The variance of an untried point $\hat{\sigma}^2(\hat{u})$ of the underlying model $\hat{\beta}$ and f can be estimated by

$$\hat{\sigma}^{2}(\hat{\boldsymbol{u}}) = \sigma^{2} \left[1 - \left[\boldsymbol{g}^{\mathrm{T}}(\hat{\boldsymbol{u}}) \ \boldsymbol{r}^{\mathrm{T}}(\hat{\boldsymbol{u}}) \right] \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{0} & \boldsymbol{G}^{\mathrm{T}} \\ \boldsymbol{G} & \boldsymbol{R} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{g}(\hat{\boldsymbol{u}}) \\ \boldsymbol{r}(\hat{\boldsymbol{u}}) \end{bmatrix} \right], \tag{83}$$

where σ^2 represents the maximum variance, and is defined by

$$\sigma^{2} = \left(\frac{1}{n_{s}}\right)\left(\boldsymbol{f} - \boldsymbol{G}\hat{\boldsymbol{\beta}}\right)^{\mathrm{T}}\boldsymbol{R}^{-1}\left(\boldsymbol{f} - \boldsymbol{G}\hat{\boldsymbol{\beta}}\right)$$
(84)

The Kriging model used here is implemented in the Surfpack software library [139], which is part of the Dakota software package [130].

8.3. Implemented workflow

The method presented here, was developed within the master thesis of Bastian Schäfer [140].

The general workflow of the developed robustness evaluation method is shown in Figure 8-4. The results of the optimization process, cf. Chapter 1, can be used as input for a subsequent robustness study. Thereby, not only the final Pareto front is used, but further solutions created by the evolutionary algorithm should be part of the training data set. Hence, the first step is a data treatment to select suitable data points. Thereby the results are sorted according to their domination value, cf. Section 3.4. Furthermore, duplicates are removed from the data set. Duplicates can arise, since the patch is cut at the border of the initial component. Therefore different values for the design parameter length l can result in identical fitness values. It should be defined

here, that for all individuals with the same fitness value for patch usage, only the individual with the shortest initial length is kept.

The next step is the selection of the training data, used to create the metamodel, cf. Section 8.2. Here, only data points close to the Pareto front are taken into account, since the robustness is only evaluated for the points on the final Pareto front, and therefore the meta-model creation focuses on this part of the design space. For this purpose, the acceptable objective variation range (AOVR), which corresponds to the range in which the solutions are considered to be robust, is multiplied by a scaling factor, to define the range which is used as training set. Based on the training data, the meta-model is created. Therefore, the data is divided into ten equal sized sets, where nine sets are used to train the model, and one set is used for verification, to predict the resulting model error. Here, every combination of the ten data sets is used to train a model, and the mean error value of all ten models is used as quality criteria for the model. This procedure is repeated for different trend functions of the Kriging model, cf. Section 8.2. Finally, a meta-model for each objective function is selected, and trained with all training points within the defined training data set.

The initial meta-model, created before the training data set was increased, is used at first to calculate the robustness index, cf. Section 8.1.2. Afterwards, the model construction and calculation of the robustness index is repeated for the meta-model of the increased data set. This step is necessary to check, if the number of training points for the meta-model was sufficient enough. Hence, the quality of the model is rated by comparing the calculated robustness index changes, resulting from the increased training data set, with a predefined threshold. Since the calculation of the robustness index is much faster than for the degree of robustness, the robustness index is used here. After the meta-model has been setup successfully, the degree of robustness can be calculated as well, cf. Section 8.1.1.

After the calculation of degree of robustness and robustness index, the results are visualized. Besides a diagram for each robustness measurement, a heat

map is created. The heat map is created similar to those presented in Section 6.4. Here, the degree of robustness is mapped on the structure, thereby, only one solution is considered at a time. Besides the original solution, the areas for different values of k are mapped on the initial component.

The presented workflow of the robustness evaluation is implemented in MatLab. For the meta-model, an implementation in Dakota [130] is used.



Figure 8-4: Workflow of the robustness evaluation method, based on the results created by the optimization [140]
8.4. Application example

As application example for the robustness evaluation workflow, the results from the optimization run B-Opt 4, presented in Section 7.2, are taken.

The parameter used for the calculation of robustness index and degree of robustness are given in Table 8-1 . The allowed deviations of the fitness values $\Delta F_{1,0}$ and $\Delta F_{2,0}$ are given as absolute values, instead of a percentage change, since this definition is more applicable here. For example for the patch-usage fitness criterion, a definition in percent would result in larger acceptable length changes for longer patches, which is not the case with an absolute deviation definition.

Degree of robustness			
Parameter	Symbol	Value	Unit
Neighborhood size in x	δ_x	±1	mm
Neighborhood size in y	δ_y	± 1	mm
Neighborhood size in $arphi$	δ_{arphi}	± 1	٥
Neighborhood size in <i>l</i>	δ_l	± 1	mm
Initial sample size	h_0	100	-
Grow rate	d	0.5	-
Threshold	p	95	%
Robustness index			
Parameter	Symbol	Value	Unit
Deviation of design variable x	Δu_x	± 3	mm
Deviation of design variable y	Δu_y	<u>±</u> 3	mm
Deviation of design variable $arphi$	Δu_{arphi}	<u>±</u> 3	0
Deviation of design variable l	Δu_l	<u>±</u> 3	mm
AOVR fitness 1	$\Delta F_{1,0}$	± 0.004	J
AOVR fitness 2	$\Delta F_{2,0}$	± 10	mm

Table 8-1: Parameter setup for the robustness evaluation of the application example

The robustness index η , calculated for each individual on the final front is shown in Figure 8-5 (a). In general, solutions with $\eta < 1$ are considered as robust solutions, since here the maximum deviation of the design parameters, defined in Table 8-1, results in a lower deviation of the fitness values than the applied constraint. The boundary between the robust and non-robust region is furthermore marked with the black solid line ($\eta = 1$). In addition, the degree of robustness was calculated for each individual on the Pareto front, cf. Figure 8-5 (b). Here a higher k value corresponds to a higher robustness of a solution.

A degree of robustness of k = 3 is comparable with a robustness index of $\eta = 1$, considering the presented example parameter set. The slight difference is caused by the different approaches to calculate the robustness measurements. When calculating the degree of robustness, only a defined threshold p (in this example 95%) has to be within the allowed deviation, while the robustness index calculates the worst case with a given deviation, which would be equal to a threshold of p = 100%.

Comparing both robustness measurements, it can be seen that the predicted robust regions have a similar trend. In both cases the solutions at the extreme ends of the Pareto front, high stiffness or low patch usage, have a lower maximum robustness (green dots in Figure 8-5). This effect could be caused by the meta-model, because the quality of the meta-model, used to calculate the robustness measurements, is lower in the extreme areas, since a lower number of training points in present here. In addition to the robustness of each solution, the Pareto front is plotted with black dots, which helps to classify the results. Furthermore, the scattering of the degree of robustness, in the middle region of the Pareto front, results from solutions for which only small deviations in the design parameters cause large deviations of the fitness values.



Figure 8-5: Results of the calculation of robustness index (a) and degree of robustness (b), both in comparison with the final Pareto front (black dots)

Based on the degree of robustness, a heat map is created. The visualization via a heat map is only meaningful for the degree of robustness, since here a distinction between the different robustness neighborhoods k can be made, while for the robustness index, only the area which was a-priori defined to be robust would be visualized.

In Figure 8-6, the point with the best performance regarding stiffness, i.e. fitness 1 (b) and a point with a high robustness (c) are used for demonstration purposes. The area marked in the heat maps has a similar size for both cases. However, the number of neighbourhood enlargements, and thus the degree of robustness, is significantly higher for point 2 than for point 1, cf. Figure 8-6 (b) and (c). By comparing the robust areas it can be seen, that changes of the patch position affect the fitness values more than changes in the orientation of the patch. This is demonstrated by a larger robust area, caused by orientation changes. Furthermore, the influence of the chosen draping method can be seen in the heat maps, since all changes of the orientation are performed with the center of the patch as center of rotation.



Figure 8-6: (a) Pareto front with the selected points and the created robustness heat maps, (b) for the stiffest point (point 1, k = 4), and (c) for a point with a high robustness (point 2, k = 10)

8.5. Conclusion on robustness studies

A robustness evaluation strategy was developed, which uses the results of the optimization as input data. Therefore, a data selection procedure has been presented, which focuses on a selection of the training data considering that the meta-model has to be more precise around the Pareto front, since the robustness is evaluated for those points.

The robustness was evaluated taking two different approaches into account. First, the degree of robustness calculates the maximum possible changes of the design parameters, which result in solutions that are still robust. The second approach is the robustness index, where the worst case deviation of the design parameters is evaluated to check whether it is still robust or not.

The approach is demonstrated with a heat map created for this purpose. The heat map is a useful tool for process and quality engineers, since it shows the areas in which the patch has to be, to remain the optimal solution. This means, the heat map can be used as an additional decision making tool.

9 Conclusion and outlook

9.1. Conclusion

In this work an optimization strategy for the positioning of local fiber reinforcement patches, under consideration of manufacturing constraints, has been developed. Therefore an evolutionary algorithm has been used as optimization algorithm. The principal concept, consisting of the steps fitness evaluation, crossover, mutation, and selection has been discussed, and their influence on the optimization performance has been studied. To consider manufacturing effects in conjunction with the structural performance, a kinematic draping, a warpage, and a structural simulation are included in the fitness evaluation of the workflow.

The first step is to perform a kinematic draping simulation to predict the final, deformed geometry of the patch. A kinematic draping simulation has been chosen, since a large number of function evaluations is necessary during the optimization process, and therefore a very efficient method is required. Therefore, a comparison of kinematic and mechanical draping methods has been presented to show the advantages and disadvantages of a kinematic draping approach. Within this study, three patch configurations with increasing degree of geometrical complexity have been compared on the basis of a three-dimensionally curved reference structure. Taking the results of the comparison with the mechanical draping simulation into account, the kinematic draping simulation can be seen as a good approximation of the patch's forming behavior. Compared with the mechanical method, the kinematic draping simulation is much faster, and requires no material parameters. Therefore, the kinematic draping suits best for the proposed optimization workflow. Additionally, the optimization shall work as a suggestion for the designer and not as a final verification. Therefore, a mechanical draping simulation must be performed afterwards to ensure manufacturability of the optimized patch setup without forming defects like wrinkling, fiber fracture or gapping.

For the warpage simulation, the curing behavior of the resin has to be predicted. Therefore, an approach presented by Kamal [73] was used. A comparison of the simulation results with experimental results, for the cure rate and degree of cure, showed a good accordance by different heat rates. Furthermore, a process-induced strain calculation was performed based on the method proposed by Svanberg and Holmberg [82]. With their approach, the influence of the incorporation of chemical strain during the curing process could be demonstrated. Furthermore, the effective coefficients of thermal expansion for the UD reinforcement patch were calculated in dependence on fiber orientation and fiber volume content with the method of Schapery [122]. The anisotropic thermal coefficients for the discontinuous fiber reinforced component were calculated with the approach proposed by Rosen and Hashin [123]. Furthermore, the assumption was made, that the effective coefficients of chemical shrinkage can be calculated with the same approach as the coefficients of thermal expansion.

Beside the effects resulting from warpage and draping, further manufacturing inaccuracies influence the performance of the final part. Therefore, two main sources of deviations, orientation and size changes of the patch, could be identified and their consideration during the optimization process has been discussed. Thereby, orientation changes refer to misalignments of the whole patch or the fibers, whereas size changes occur in terms of length and width changes. Furthermore, the most important question to be answered is, how accurate the process has to be, to ensure that a predicted optimum remains an optimum for the real part. Therefore, a robustness evaluation is performed after the optimization.

To rate the structural performance of a configuration a structural simulation is performed, in which the results from the draping simulation are included. Therefore, a linear elastic simulation of the component is performed, and the strain energy is used to rate the fitness of the current configuration. For the evaluation of the optimizations performance and results, a number of criteria have been developed. The presented visualization approach by means of a heat map, is a helpful tool for the designer to decide, in which part of the component the reinforcement has the highest impact.

The presented workflow and the evaluation criteria have been applied to a number of demonstration applications. Thereby, the degree of complexity has been increased from a simple plate structure to a complex 3D component. First, the plate structure was used to perform basic feasibility studies and to compare the performance of the different crossover operators. Thereby, the multi-point binary crossover offers a better performance in terms of convergence rate and number of found solutions, while the found Pareto fronts are similar with both crossover types. Utilizing an optimization run with a large number of generations, the ability of the dominated area to work as a convergence criteria has been demonstrated. While increasing the complexity of the application example, the influence of different settings of the evolutionary algorithm on the optimization's performance has been studied. Thereby, all different settings converge to a similar Pareto front, which shows that the approach is capable to trustworthy solve the patch optimization problem. Thereby, the use of a niching pressure ensures a more balanced result, while a higher mutation rate results in a better coverage of the extreme areas of the search space. The last application example studied here, was the reference structure developed within the DFG-GRK2078. This example showed the ability of the proposed approach to also solve complex optimization problems. Furthermore, the reference structure has been used to perform an optimization with the three objectives, strain energy from a structural load case, and distortion and strain energy from curing. Thereby, could be shown that it is possible to find a three-dimensional Pareto front with the proposed approach. Furthermore, it was shown that the combination of distortion and strain energy from curing, is a suitable approach to consider manufacturing influences in the optimization.

Based on the final Pareto front a decision for one patch configuration has to be made by the designer. Since the presented optimization workflow results in a number of Pareto optimal solutions, usually a trade-off between the objective functions has to be made when choosing one solution. Therefore, the robustness of a solution is introduced as an additional decision criterion. The developed robustness study uses the results of the optimization as input data, to create a meta model, which is then used during the robustness evaluation. Therefore, a data selection procedure has been presented, which focuses on a selection of the training data considering that the meta-model has to be more precise around the Pareto front. The robustness was evaluated taking two different approaches into account. First, the degree of robustness calculates the maximum possible changes of the design parameters, which result in solutions that are still robust. The second approach is the robustness index, where the worst case deviation of the design parameters is evaluated to check whether it is still robust or not. Finally, the proposed robustness workflow was demonstrated, using the slightly curved structure. Thereby could be shown that the robustness is a helpful further criteria for the decision maker for the selection of a solution on the final Pareto front. Additionally, the robustness measurements are useful tool for the consideration of manufacturing inaccuracies during the part design process.

9.2. Outlook

The proposed optimization workflow showed its ability to optimize local reinforcement patches. Furthermore, the integration of manufacturing constraints as well as draping and warpage simulation within the optimization workflow improved the quality of the results. Here, an integration of the mold filling process in the optimization loop could be useful, to further improve the quality of the results. Thereby, the influence of the mold filling process on the final patch position and geometry could be considered during the optimization. The robustness study showed that the use of meta models, instead of computationally expensive simulations, is a promising approach. Hence, the optimization performance could be enhanced by integrating meta models in the optimization workflow. Therefore, two different approaches seem to be promising, the setup of meta models a-priori or an alternating use of meta models and simulations. By using a-priori created meta models, a number of simulations is performed, according to a design of experiments (DoE), to create the required training data. For the second approach, meta models and simulation are used alternating, where the data created by the simulations can be used to train the meta models. Thereby, the meta models could especially be used to replace the warpage simulation, since it is computationally more expensive than the structural simulation.

In addition, the robustness evaluation could be directly integrated into the optimization loop. Thereby, the robustness of a solution could serve either as constraint or as and additional objective of the optimization.

10 References

- [1] D. Bücheler, A. Trauth, A. Damm, T. Böhlke, F. Henning, L. Kärger, T. Seelig, and K. A. Weidenmann, "Processing of continuous-discontinuous-fiber-reinforced thermosets," SAMPE Europe Conference, Stuttgart, 2017.
- [2] S. D. Sharma, L. Sowntharya, and K. K. Kar, "Polymer-Based Composite Structures: Processing and Applications," in *Composite Materials: Processing, Applications, Characterizations*, K. K. Kar, Ed., Springer, Berlin, 2017, pp. 1–36.
- [3] D. M. Corbridge, L. T. Harper, D.S.A. de Focatiis, and N. A. Warrior, "Compression moulding of composites with hybrid fibre architectures," *Composites Part A: Applied Science and Manufacturing*, vol. 95, pp. 87– 99, 2017.
- [4] K. Akiyama, "Development of PCM* technology: * Prepreg Compression Molding," Presentation at SPE ACCE Conference, Troy (Michigan), USA, 2011.
- [5] M. Bruderick, D. Denton, M. Shinedling, and M. Kiesel, "Applications of carbon fiber SMC for the Dodge Viper," Presentation at SPE ACCE Conference, Troy (Michigan), USA, 2002.
- [6] K. Saitou, K. Izui, S. Nishiwaki, and P. Papalambros, "A Survey of Structural Optimization in Mechanical Product Development," *Journal of Computing and Information Science in Engineering*, vol. 5, no. 3, 2005.
- [7] L. Harzheim, *Strukturoptimierung: Grundlagen und Anwendungen*, 2nd ed., Europa-Lehrmittel, Haan-Gruiten, 2014.
- [8] H. A. Eschenauer and N. Olhoff, "Topology optimization of continuum structures: A review," *Applied Mechanics Reviews*, vol. 54, no. 4, p. 331, 2001.

- [9] A. Rindi, E. Meli, E. Boccini, G. Iurisci, S. Corbò, and S. Falomi, "Static and Modal Topology Optimization of Turbomachinery Components," *Journal of Engineering for Gas Turbines and Power*, vol. 138, no. 11, 112602-1 – 112602-9, 2016.
- [10] M. Zhou, R. Fleury, Y.-K. Shyy, H. Thomas, and J. Brennan, "Progress in Topology Optimization with Manufacturing Constraints," in 9th AIAA/ISSMO Symposium on Multidisciplinary Analysis and Optimization, Atlanta, Georgia, 2002.
- [11] K.-T. Zuo, L.-P. Chen, Y.-Q. Zhang, and J. Yang, "Manufacturing- and machining-based topology optimization," *The International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology*, vol. 27, no. 5-6, pp. 531–536, 2006.
- [12] H. Gruber, C. Förtsch, E. Rieder, and G. Schuhmacher, "Numerische Strukturoptimierung als Unterstützung bei der Entwicklung der Heckstruktur des Transportflugzeugs A400M," in NAFEMS - Magazin, vol. 3, NAFEMS - Magazin: Zeitschrift für numerische Simulationsmethoden und angrenzende Gebiete, K. Rohwer, Ed., Werbos GbR, Bernau am Chiemsee, 2006, pp. 30–36.
- [13] J. Liu and Y. Ma, "A survey of manufacturing oriented topology optimization methods," *Advances in Engineering Software*, vol. 100, pp. 161– 175, 2016.
- [14] C. D. Chapman, M. J. Jakiela, and K. Saitou, "Genetic Algorithms as an Approach to Configuration and Topology Design," *Journal of Mechanical Design*, vol. 118, no. 1, p. 89, 1996.
- [15] V. Toğan and A. T. Daloğlu, "Genetic Algorithms for Optimization of 3D Truss Structures," in *Modeling and optimization in science and technologies*, Volume 7, *Metaheuristics and optimization in civil engineering*, X.-S. Yang, G. Bekdaş, and S. M. Nigdeli, Eds., Springer, Cham, 2016, pp. 115–134.
- [16] R. T. Haftka and R. V. Grandhi, "Structural shape optimization—A survey," *Computer Methods in Applied Mechanics and Engineering*, vol. 57, no. 1, pp. 91–106, 1986.

- [17] S. N. Skinner and H. Zare-Behtash, "State-of-the-art in aerodynamic shape optimisation methods," *Applied Soft Computing*, vol. 62, pp. 933– 962, 2018.
- [18] R. E. Perez and K. Behdinan, "Particle swarm approach for structural design optimization," *Computers & Structures*, vol. 85, no. 19-20, pp. 1579–1588, 2007.
- [19] G.-C. Luh, C.-Y. Lin, and Y.-S. Lin, "A binary particle swarm optimization for continuum structural topology optimization," *Applied Soft Computing*, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 2833–2844, 2011.
- [20] J. Liu and A. C. To, "Deposition path planning-integrated structural topology optimization for 3D additive manufacturing subject to self-support constraint," *Computer-Aided Design*, vol. 91, pp. 27–45, 2017.
- [21] J. P. Blasques and M. Stolpe, "Multi-material topology optimization of laminated composite beam cross sections," *Composite Structures*, vol. 94, no. 11, pp. 3278–3289, 2012.
- [22] Y. Dai, M. Feng, and M. Zhao, "Topology optimization of laminated composite structures with design-dependent loads," *Composite Structures*, vol. 167, pp. 251–261, 2017.
- [23] Z. Liu, J. Lu, and P. Zhu, "Lightweight design of automotive composite bumper system using modified particle swarm optimizer," *Composite Structures*, vol. 140, pp. 630–643, 2016.
- [24] M. Kalantari, C. Dong, and I. J. Davies, "Multi-objective robust optimization of multi-directional carbon/glass fibre-reinforced hybrid composites with manufacture related uncertainties under flexural loading," *Composite Structures*, vol. 182, pp. 132–142, 2017.
- [25] A. R. Vosoughi, A. Darabi, N. Anjabin, and U. Topal, "A mixed finite element and improved genetic algorithm method for maximizing buckling load of stiffened laminated composite plates," *Aerospace Science and Technology*, vol. 70, pp. 378–387, 2017.
- [26] T. Rettenwander, M. Fischlschweiger, and G. Steinbichler, "Computational structural tailoring of continuous fibre reinforced polymer matrix composites by hybridisation of principal stress and thickness optimisation," *Composite Structures*, vol. 108, pp. 711–719, 2014.

- [27] V. Savic, M. E. Tuttle, and Z. B. Zabinsky, "Optimization of composite Isections using fiber angles as design variables," *Composite Structures*, vol. 53, no. 3, pp. 265–277, 2001.
- [28] X. Legrand, D. Kelly, A. Crosky, and D. Crépin, "Optimisation of fibre steering in composite laminates using a genetic algorithm," *Composite Structures*, vol. 75, no. 1-4, pp. 524–531, 2006.
- [29] A. A. Skordos, M. P.F. Sutcliffe, J. W. Klintworth, and P. Adolfsson, "Multi-Objective Optimisation of Woven Composite Draping using Genetic Algorithms," Proceedings of 27th International Conference SAMPE EUROPE, Paris, France, 2006.
- [30] S. Chen, L. T. Harper, A. Endruweit, and N. A. Warrior, "Formability optimisation of fabric preforms by controlling material draw-in through inplane constraints," *Composites Part A: Applied Science and Manufacturing*, vol. 76, pp. 10–19, 2015.
- [31] L. Kärger, S. Galkin, C. Zimmerling, D. Dörr, J. Linden, A. Oeckerath, and K. Wolf, "Forming optimisation embedded in a CAE chain to assess and enhance the structural performance of composite components," *Composite Structures*, vol. 192, pp. 143–152, 2018.
- [32] M. Kaufmann, D. Zenkert, and M. Åkermo, "Cost/weight optimization of composite prepreg structures for best draping strategy," *Composites Part A: Applied Science and Manufacturing*, vol. 41, no. 4, pp. 464–472, 2010.
- [33] F. O. Sonmez and M. Akbulut, "Process optimization of tape placement for thermoplastic composites," *Composites Part A: Applied Science and Manufacturing*, vol. 38, no. 9, pp. 2013–2023, 2007.
- [34] R. Le Riche and R. T. Haftka, "Optimization of laminate stacking sequence for buckling load maximization by genetic algorithm," AIAA Journal, vol. 31, no. 5, pp. 951–956, 1993.
- [35] N. Zehnder and P. Ermanni, "Optimizing the shape and placement of patches of reinforcement fibers," *Composite Structures*, vol. 77, no. 1, pp. 1–9, 2007.
- [36] A. Albanesi, F. Bre, V. Fachinotti, and C. Gebhardt, "Simultaneous plyorder, ply-number and ply-drop optimization of laminate wind turbine

blades using the inverse finite element method," *Composite Structures*, vol. 184, pp. 894–903, 2018.

- [37] D. Sadagopan and R. Pitchumani, "Application of genetic algorithms to optimal tailoring of composite materials," *Composites Science and Technology*, vol. 58, no. 3-4, pp. 571–589, 1998.
- [38] N. Jansson, W.D. Wakeman, and J.-A.E. Månson, "Optimization of hybrid thermoplastic composite structures using surrogate models and genetic algorithms," *Composite Structures*, vol. 80, no. 1, pp. 21–31, 2007.
- [39] C. C. Qian, L. T. Harper, T. A. Turner, and N. A. Warrior, "Structural optimisation of random discontinuous fibre composites: Part 1 – Methodology," *Composites Part A: Applied Science and Manufacturing*, vol. 68, pp. 406–416, 2015.
- [40] C. C. Qian, L. T. Harper, T. A. Turner, and N. A. Warrior, "Structural optimisation of random discontinuous fibre composites: Part 2 – Case study," *Composites Part A: Applied Science and Manufacturing*, vol. 68, pp. 417–424, 2015.
- [41] J.-D. Mathias, X. Balandraud, and M. Grediac, "Applying a genetic algorithm to the optimization of composite patches," *Computers & Structures*, vol. 84, no. 12, pp. 823–834, 2006.
- [42] T. Rettenwander, M. Fischlschweiger, M. Machado, G. Steinbichler, and Z. Major, "Tailored patch placement on a base load carrying laminate: A computational structural optimisation with experimental validation," *Composite Structures*, vol. 116, pp. 48–54, 2014.
- [43] D. Klein, S. Caballero, and S. Wartzack, "Berechnung beanspruchungsgerechter Faserorientierungen in CFK-Strukturen," ANSYS Conference & 31th CADFEM Users' Meeting 2013, Mannheim, 2013.
- [44] M. Kashfuddoja and M. Ramji, "Design of optimum patch shape and size for bonded repair on damaged Carbon fibre reinforced polymer panels," *Materials & Design (1980-2015)*, vol. 54, pp. 174–183, 2014.
- [45] J. Zhang, W.-H. Zhang, and J.-H. Zhu, "An extended stress-based method for orientation angle optimization of laminated composite structures," *Acta Mechanica Sinica*, vol. 27, no. 6, pp. 977–985, 2011.

- [46] V. Pareto, A. S. Schwier, and A. N. Page, Manual of political economy: Englisch translation of "Manuale di Economica Politica", Macmillan, London, England, 1972.
- [47] V. Pareto, Manuale di economica politica, societa editrice libraria, Società Editrice Libraria, Milan, Italy, 1906.
- [48] R. T. Marler and J. S. Arora, "Survey of multi-objective optimization methods for engineering," *Structural and Multidisciplinary Optimization*, vol. 26, no. 6, pp. 369–395, 2004.
- [49] R. T. Marler and J. S. Arora, "The weighted sum method for multi-objective optimization: New insights," *Structural and Multidisciplinary Optimization*, vol. 41, no. 6, pp. 853–862, 2010.
- [50] M. Walker and R. E. Smith, "A technique for the multiobjective optimisation of laminated composite structures using genetic algorithms and finite element analysis," *Composite Structures*, vol. 62, no. 1, pp. 123– 128, 2003.
- [51] F. S. Almeida and A. M. Awruch, "Design optimization of composite laminated structures using genetic algorithms and finite element analysis," *Composite Structures*, vol. 88, no. 3, pp. 443–454, 2009.
- [52] H. Hemmatian, A. Fereidoon, and E. Assareh, "Optimization of hybrid laminated composites using the multi-objective gravitational search algorithm (MOGSA)," *Engineering Optimization*, vol. 46, no. 9, pp. 1169– 1182, 2013.
- [53] H. Hemmatian, A. Fereidoon, A. Sadollah, and A. Bahreininejad, "Optimization of laminate stacking sequence for minimizing weight and cost using elitist ant system optimization," *Advances in Engineering Software*, vol. 57, pp. 8–18, 2013.
- [54] V. G. Mejlej, P. Falkenberg, E. Türck, and T. Vietor, "Optimization of Variable Stiffness Composites in Automated Fiber Placement Process using Evolutionary Algorithms," *Procedia CIRP*, vol. 66, pp. 79–84, 2017.
- [55] T. Vo-Duy, D. Duong-Gia, V. Ho-Huu, H. C. Vu-Do, and T. Nguyen-Thoi, "Multi-objective optimization of laminated composite beam structures using NSGA-II algorithm," *Composite Structures*, vol. 168, pp. 498–509, 2017.

- [56] A. Ermakova and I. Dayyani, "Shape optimisation of composite corrugated morphing skins," *Composites Part B: Engineering*, vol. 115, pp. 87–101, 2017.
- [57] B. Eck, S. Comas-Cardona, C. Binetruy, and C. Aufrere, "Multi-objective composite part mechanical optimization enhanced by a Process Estimator," *Composite Structures*, vol. 119, pp. 620–629, 2015.
- [58] A. Dal Monte, S. de Betta, M. Raciti Castelli, and E. Benini, "Proposal for a coupled aerodynamic–structural wind turbine blade optimization," *Composite Structures*, vol. 159, pp. 144–156, 2017.
- [59] A. I. Akmar, O. Kramer, and T. Rabczuk, "Probabilistic multi-scale optimization of hybrid laminated composites," *Composite Structures*, vol. 184, pp. 1111–1125, 2018.
- [60] M. Pohlak, J. Majak, K. Karjust, and R. Küttner, "Multi-criteria optimization of large composite parts," *Composite Structures*, vol. 92, no. 9, pp. 2146–2152, 2010.
- [61] T.-C. Lim and S. Ramakrishna, "Modelling of composite sheet forming: A review," *Composites Part A: Applied Science and Manufacturing*, vol. 33, no. 4, pp. 515–537, 2002.
- [62] D. Dörr, F. J. Schirmaier, F. Henning, and L. Kärger, "A viscoelastic approach for modeling bending behavior in finite element forming simulation of continuously fiber reinforced composites," *Composites Part A: Applied Science and Manufacturing*, vol. 94, pp. 113–123, 2017.
- [63] F. J. Schirmaier, D. Dörr, F. Henning, and L. Kärger, "A macroscopic approach to simulate the forming behaviour of stitched unidirectional non-crimp fabrics (UD-NCF)," *Composites Part A: Applied Science and Manufacturing*, vol. 102, pp. 322–335, 2017.
- [64] A.J.M. Spencer, "Theory of fabric-reinforced viscous fluids," *Composites Part A: Applied Science and Manufacturing*, vol. 31, no. 12, pp. 1311–1321, 2000.
- [65] P. Boisse, Y. Aimène, A. Dogui, S. Dridi, S. Gatouillat, N. Hamila, M. Aurangzeb Khan, T. Mabrouki, F. Morestin, and E. Vidal-Sallé, "Hypoelastic,

hyperelastic, discrete and semi-discrete approaches for textile composite reinforcement forming," *International Journal of Material Forming*, vol. 3, no. 2, pp. 1229–1240, 2010.

- [66] B. P. van West, R. B. Pipes, and M. Keefe, "A Simulation of the Draping of Bidirectional Fabrics over Arbitrary Surfaces," *The Journal of The Textile Institute*, vol. 81, no. 4, pp. 448–460, 1990.
- [67] A. C. Long and C. D. Rudd, "A Simulation of Reinforcement Deformation during the Production of Preforms for Liquid Moulding Processes," AR-CHIVE: Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Part B: Journal of Engineering Manufacture 1989-1996 (vols 203-210), vol. 208, no. 4, pp. 269–278, 2016.
- [68] C. Mack and H. M. Taylor, "39—The Fitting of Woven Cloth to Surfaces," *Journal of the Textile Institute Transactions*, vol. 47, no. 9, T477-T488, 1956.
- [69] K. Vanclooster, S. V. Lomov, and I. Verpoest, "Simulating and validating the draping of woven fiber reinforced polymers," *International Journal* of Material Forming, vol. 1, no. S1, pp. 961–964, 2008.
- [70] S. B. Sharma and M. P. F. Sutcliffe, "Draping of woven fabrics: Progressive drape model," *Plastics, Rubber and Composites*, vol. 32, no. 2, pp. 57–64, 2013.
- [71] A. K. Pickett, G. Creech, and P. D. Luca, "Simplified and advanced simulation methods for prediction of fabric draping," *Revue Européenne des Éléments Finis*, vol. 14, no. 6-7, pp. 677–691, 2012.
- [72] M. Holst, "Reaktionsschwindung von Epoxidharz-Systemen," Dissertation, Deutsches Kunststoff-Institut, Technische Universität Darmstadt, Darmstadt, 2001.
- [73] M. R. Kamal, "Thermoset characterization for moldability analysis," *Polymer Engineering and Science*, vol. 14, no. 3, pp. 231–239, 1974.
- [74] M. R. Kamal and S. Sourour, "Kinetics and thermal characterization of thermoset cure," *Polymer Engineering and Science*, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 59–64, 1973.
- [75] L. J. Lee, "Curing of compression molded sheet molding compound," Polymer Engineering and Science, vol. 21, no. 8, pp. 483–492, 1981.

- [76] P. J. Halley and M. E. Mackay, "Chemorheology of thermosets: An overview," *Polymer Engineering and Science*, vol. 36, no. 5, pp. 593–609, 1996.
- [77] S.-C. Tseng and T. A. Osswald, "Prediction of Shrinkage and Warpage of Fiber Reinforced Thermoset Composite Parts," *Journal of Reinforced Plastics and Composites*, vol. 13, no. 8, pp. 698–721, 1994.
- [78] D. W. Radford and T. S. Rennick, "Separating Sources of Manufacturing Distortion in Laminated Composites," *Journal of Reinforced Plastics and Composites*, vol. 19, no. 8, pp. 621–641, 2000.
- [79] T. A. Bogetti and J. W. Gillespie, "Process-Induced Stress and Deformation in Thick-Section Thermoset Composite Laminates," *Journal of Composite Materials*, vol. 26, no. 5, pp. 626–660, 1992.
- [80] M. Svanberg, "Prediction of Manufacturing Induced Shape Distortions: high performance thermoset composites," Dissertation, Division of Polymer Engineering, Lulea University of Technology, Lulea, Sweden, 2002.
- [81] M. J. Svanberg and A. J. Holmberg, "Prediction of shape distortions. Part II. Experimental validation and analysis of boundary conditions," *Composites Part A: Applied Science and Manufacturing*, vol. 35, no. 6, pp. 723–734, 2004.
- [82] M. J. Svanberg and A. J. Holmberg, "Prediction of shape distortions Part I. FE-implementation of a path dependent constitutive model," *Composites Part A: Applied Science and Manufacturing*, vol. 35, no. 6, pp. 711– 721, 2004.
- [83] M. R. Wisnom, M. Gigliotti, N. Ersoy, M. Campbell, and K. D. Potter, "Mechanisms generating residual stresses and distortion during manufacture of polymer–matrix composite structures," *Composites Part A: Applied Science and Manufacturing*, vol. 37, no. 4, pp. 522–529, 2006.
- [84] M. Hossain, "Modelling and Computation of Polymer Curing," Dissertation, Lehrstuhl für Technische Mechanik, Universität Erlangen-Nürnberg, Erlangen, 2011.
- [85] Y. Gao and X. Wang, "Surrogate-based process optimization for reducing warpage in injection molding," *Journal of Materials Processing Technology*, vol. 209, no. 3, pp. 1302–1309, 2009.

- [86] E. Oliaei, B. S. Heidari, S. M. Davachi, M. Bahrami, S. Davoodi, I. Hejazi, and J. Seyfi, "Warpage and Shrinkage Optimization of Injection-Molded Plastic Spoon Parts for Biodegradable Polymers Using Taguchi, ANOVA and Artificial Neural Network Methods," *Journal of Materials Science & Technology*, vol. 32, no. 8, pp. 710–720, 2016.
- [87] R. Unal and E. B. Dean, "Taguchi Approach to Design Optimization for Quality and Cost: An Overview," Proceedings of the 13th Annual Conference of the International Society of Parametric Analysts, New Orleans (Louisiana), USA, 1991.
- [88] G. Taguchi, Introduction to quality engineering: Designing quality into products and processes. Original title: Sekkeisha no tame no hinshitsu kanri [translated into English by the Asian Productivity Organization], Asian Productivity Organization, Tokyo, 1986.
- [89] C. A. Conceição António, "A hierarchical genetic algorithm for reliability based design of geometrically non-linear composite structures," *Composite Structures*, vol. 54, no. 1, pp. 37–47, 2001.
- [90] Y. Jin and B. Sendhoff, "Trade-Off between Performance and Robustness: An Evolutionary Multiobjective Approach," in *Evolutionary Multi-Criterion Optimization*, 2003, pp. 237–251.
- [91] K. Deb and H. Gupta, "Searching for Robust Pareto-Optimal Solutions in Multi-objective Optimization," in *Evolutionary Multi-Criterion Optimization*, 2005, pp. 150–164.
- [92] G. Sun, G. Li, S. Zhou, H. Li, S. Hou, and Q. Li, "Crashworthiness design of vehicle by using multiobjective robust optimization," *Structural and Multidisciplinary Optimization*, vol. 44, no. 1, pp. 99–110, 2011.
- [93] A. Gaspar-Cunha, J. Ferreira, and G. Recio, "Evolutionary robustness analysis for multi-objective optimization: Benchmark problems," *Structural and Multidisciplinary Optimization*, vol. 49, no. 5, pp. 771–793, 2014.
- [94] Y. Jin and J. Branke, "Evolutionary Optimization in Uncertain Environments—A Survey," *IEEE Transactions on Evolutionary Computation*, vol. 9, no. 3, pp. 303–317, 2005.

- [95] H.-G. Beyer and B. Sendhoff, "Robust optimization A comprehensive survey," *Computer Methods in Applied Mechanics and Engineering*, vol. 196, no. 33-34, pp. 3190–3218, 2007.
- [96] G. I. Schuëller and H. A. Jensen, "Computational methods in optimization considering uncertainties – An overview," *Computer Methods in Applied Mechanics and Engineering*, vol. 198, no. 1, pp. 2–13, 2008.
- [97] D. Troll, "Optimierung langfaserverstärkter Strukturen unter Berücksichtigung der streuenden Materialeigenschaften und der Robustheit," Disseration, Institut für Produktentwicklung, Karlsruher Institut für Technologie, Karlsruhe, 2015.
- [98] T. W. Simpson, J. D. Poplinski, P. N. Koch, and J. K. Allen, "Metamodels for Computer-based Engineering Design: Survey and recommendations," *Engineering with Computers*, vol. 17, no. 2, pp. 129–150, 2001.
- [99] D. G. Krige, "A statistical approach to some basis mine valuation problems on the witwatersrand," *Journal of the Southern African Institute of Mining and Metallurgy*, vol. 52, no. 9, pp. 201–203, 1952.
- [100] H.-S. Park and X.-P. Dang, "Structural optimization based on CAD–CAE integration and metamodeling techniques," *Computer-Aided Design*, vol. 42, no. 10, pp. 889–902, 2010.
- [101] M. Rouhi, H. Ghayoor, S. V. Hoa, and M. Hojjati, "Computational efficiency and accuracy of multi-step design optimization method for variable stiffness composite structures," *Thin-Walled Structures*, vol. 113, pp. 136–143, 2017.
- [102] G. G. Wang and S. Shan, "Review of Metamodeling Techniques in Support of Engineering Design Optimization," *Journal of Mechanical Design*, vol. 129, no. 4, pp. 370–380, 2007.
- [103] B. Fengler, L. Kärger, F. Henning, and A. Hrymak, "Multi-Objective Patch Optimization with Integrated Kinematic Draping Simulation for Continuous–Discontinuous Fiber-Reinforced Composite Structures," *Journal of Composites Science*, vol. 2, no. 2, p. 22, 2018.
- [104] J. H. Holland, Adaptation in natural and artificial systems: An introductory analysis with applications to biology, control, and artificial intelligence, University of Michigan Press, Ann Arbor (Michigan), USA, 1975.

- [105] T. Bäck, Evolutionary Algorithms in Theory and Practice: Evolution Strategies, Evolutionary Programming, Genetic Algorithms, Oxford University Press, Oxford, England, 1996.
- [106] L. B. Booker, D. E. Goldberg, and J. H. Holland, "Classifier systems and genetic algorithms," *Artificial Intelligence*, vol. 40, no. 1-3, pp. 235–282, 1989.
- [107] M. Giger, "Representation Concepts in Evolutionary Algorithm-Based Structural Optimization," Dissertation, Centre of Structure Technologies, Eidgenössische Technische Hochschule Zürich, Zürich, 2007.
- [108] E. Zitzler, "Evolutionary Algorithms for Multiobjective Optimization: Methods and Applications," Dissertation, Institut für Technische Informatik und Kommunikationsnetze, Eidgenössische Technische Hochschule Zürich, Zürich, 1999.
- [109] E. Zitzler, Ed., Evolutionary multi-criterion optimization: First international conference, Zurich, Switzerland, March 7 - 9, 2001; proceedings, Springer, Berlin, 2001.
- [110] K. Weicker, Evolutionäre Algorithmen, 2nd ed., B.G. Teubner Verlag / GWV Fachverlage GmbH, Wiesbaden, 2007.
- [111] N. Beume, B. Naujoks, and G. Rudolph, "SMS-EMOA Effective evolutionäre Mehrzieloptimierung (SMS-EMOA – Effective Evolutionary Multiobjective Optimization)," at - Automatisierungstechnik, vol. 56, no. 7/2008, 2008.
- [112] K. Deb, A. Pratap, S. Agarwal, and T. Meyarivan, "A fast and elitist multiobjective genetic algorithm: NSGA-II," *IEEE Transactions on Evolutionary Computation*, vol. 6, no. 2, pp. 182–197, 2002.
- [113] K. Deb and R. B. Agrawal, "Simulated Binary Crossover for Continuous Search Space," *Complex Systems*, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 115–148, 1995.
- [114] M. Srinivas and L. M. Patnaik, "Genetic algorithms: A survey," Computer, vol. 27, no. 6, pp. 17–26, 1994.
- [115] A. Lipowski and D. Lipowska, "Roulette-wheel selection via stochastic acceptance," *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications*, vol. 391, no. 6, pp. 2193–2196, 2012.

- [116] T. Bäck, "Selective pressure in evolutionary algorithms: A characterization of selection mechanisms," in *Proceedings of the First IEEE Conference on Evolutionary Computation: IEEE World Congress on Computational Intelligence*, Orlando (Florida), USA, 1994, 57-62.
- [117] D. Dörr, F. Henning, and L. Kärger, "Nonlinear hyperviscoelastic modelling of intra-ply deformation behaviour in finite element forming simulation of continuously fibre-reinforced thermoplastics," *Composites Part A: Applied Science and Manufacturing*, vol. 109, pp. 585–596, 2018.
- [118] D. Dörr and F. Henning, Internal communications: Results from FE based draping simulation, Karlsruher Institut für Technologie - Institut für Fahrzeugsystemtechnik, Teilinstitut Leichtbautechnologie (FAST-LBT), Karlsruhe, 2018.
- [119] D. Kupzik and J. Fleischer, Internal communications: Experimental resutls from patch draping, Karlsruher Institut für Technologie - wbk Institut für Produktionstechnik, Teilinstitut Maschinen, Anlagen und Prozessautomatisierung, Karlsruhe, 2018.
- [120] G. O. Piloyan, I. D. Ryabchikov, and O. S. Novikova, "Determination of Activation Energies of Chemical Reactions by Differential Thermal Analysis," *Nature*, vol. 212, no. 5067, p. 1229, 1966.
- [121] F. Schwab and B. Nestler, Internal communications: Fitting parameter from DSC messurement, Karlsruher Institut für Technologie - Institut für Angewandte Materialien Computational Materials Science (IAM-CMS), Karlsruhe, 2017.
- [122] R. A. Schapery, "Thermal Expansion Coefficients of Composite Materials Based on Energy Principles," *Journal of Composite Materials*, vol. 2, no. 3, pp. 380–404, 1968.
- [123] B.W. Rosen and Z. Hashin, "Effective thermal expansion coefficients and specific heats of composite materials," *International Journal of Engineering Science*, vol. 8, no. 2, pp. 157–173, 1970.
- [124] DSM, "Daron 41/B1," Product data sheet, Heerlen, Netherlands, 2012.
- [125] L. Kehrer and T. Böhlke, Internal communications: Homogenized material data, Karlsruher Institut für Technologie - Institut für Technische

Mechanik, Fachgebiet Kontinuumsmechanik im Maschinenbau, Karlsruhe, 2017.

- [126] agy, "High Strength Glass Fibers: Technical paper," Product data sheet, Aiken (South Carolina), USA, 2006.
- [127] M. Suchitra and N. M. Renukappa, "The Thermal Properties of Glass Fiber Reinforced Epoxy Composites with and without Fillers," *Macromolecular Symposia*, vol. 361, no. 1, pp. 117–122, 2016.
- [128] D. Bücheler and F. Henning, *Internal communications: Discussion of constraints from the manufacturing process on the optimization*, Fraunhofer Institut für chemische Technologie (ICT), Karlsruhe, 2016.
- [129] D. Bücheler and F. Henning, "Hybrid resin improves position and alignment of continously reinforced prepreg during compression co-molding with sheet molding compound," ECCM17 - 17th European Conference on Composite Materials, München, Germany, 2017.
- [130] B.M. Adams, L.E. Bauman, W.J. Bohnhoff, K.R. Dalbey, M.S. Ebeida, J.P. Eddy, M.S. Eldred, P.D. Hough, K.T. Hu, J.D. Jakeman, J.A. Stephens, L.P. Swiler, D.M. Vigil, and T.M. Wildey, "Dakota, A Multilevel Parallel Object-Oriented Framework for Design Optimization, Parameter Estimation, Uncertainty Quantification, and Sensitivity Analysis: Version 6.0 User's Manual; July 2014. Updated November 2015 (Version 6.3)," Sandia National Laboratories, Sandia Technical Report SAND2014-4633, 2014. [Online] Available: https://dakota.sandia.gov/content/citing-dakota. Accessed on: Mar. 13 2017.
- [131] B. Fengler, L. Kärger, and A. Hrymak, "Influence of the tape number on the optimized structural performance of locally reinforced composite structures," in 7th GACM Colloquium on Computational Mechanics for Young Scientists from Academia and Industry: Proceedings; a conference under the auspice of the German Association for Computational Mechanics (GACM), Stuttgart, 2017.
- [132] K. Deb and H. Gupta, "Introducing robustness in multi-objective optimization," *Evolutionary Computation*, vol. 14, no. 4, pp. 463–494, 2006.
- [133] C. Barrico and C. H. Antunes, "Robustness Analysis in Multi-Objective Optimization Using a Degree of Robustness Concept," in *Proceedings of*

the IEEE Congress on Evolutionary Computation, Vancouver (British Columbia), Canada, 2006, pp. 1887–1892.

- [134] S. Gunawan and S. Azarm, "Non-Gradient Based Parameter Sensitivity Estimation for Single Objective Robust Design Optimization," *Journal of Mechanical Design*, vol. 126, no. 3, p. 395, 2004.
- [135] M. Li, S. Azarm, and V. Aute, "A multi-objective genetic algorithm for robust design optimization," in *Proceedings of GECCO 2005: Genetic and Evolutionary Computation Conference*, Washington (District of Columbia), USA, 2005, pp. 771–778.
- [136] S. Gunawan and S. Azarm, "Multi-objective robust optimization using a sensitivity region concept," *Structural and Multidisciplinary Optimization*, vol. 29, no. 1, pp. 50–60, 2005.
- [137] M. Li, S. Azarm, and A. Boyars, "A New Deterministic Approach Using Sensitivity Region Measures for Multi-Objective Robust and Feasibility Robust Design Optimization," *Journal of Mechanical Design*, vol. 128, no. 4, p. 874, 2006.
- [138] J. D. Martin and T. W. Simpson, "Use of Kriging Models to Approximate Deterministic Computer Models," AIAA Journal, vol. 43, no. 4, pp. 853– 863, 2005.
- [139] A. Giunta, L. Swiler, S. Brown, M. Eldred, M. Richards, and E. Cyr, "The Surfpack Software Library for Surrogate Modeling of Sparse Irregularly Spaced Multidimensional Data," in *Multidisciplinary Analysis Optimization Conferences, 11th AIAA/ISSMO Multidisciplinary Analysis and Optimization Conference,* American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics, Portsmouth (Virginia), USA, 2006.
- [140] B. Schäfer, "Robustness Study of the Influence of Manufacturing Inaccuracies on Multi-Objective Optimization," Master Thesis, Institut für Fahrzeugsystemtechnik - Leichtbautechnologie, Karlsruher Institut für Technologie and Department of Chemical and Biochemical Engineering - Faculty of Engineering, University of Western Ontario, Karlsruhe and London (Ontario), Canada, 2018.

11 List of figures

Figure 2-1:	Process for continuous-discontinuous-fiber
	reinforced thermoset components, used within
	GRK2078; discontinuous-fiber prepreg preparation
	(a), continuous fiber prepreg preparation (b),
	handling and near net-shape draping (c), position and
	orientation control of the continuous reinforcement
	(d), co-molding (e), and final deburring (f) [1]6
Figure 2-2:	Comparison of structural optimization approaches [9]7
Figure 2-3:	Example of a stacking sequence optimization for a
	wind turbine blade [36]13
Figure 2-4:	Example of a local tow reinforcement [38]14
Figure 2-5:	Composite optimization procedure implemented in
	OptiStruct (Source: altairhyperworks.com)15
Figure 2-6:	Example of a spline-based definition of a local repair
	patch [41] 16
Figure 2-7:	Main objectives of a multi-objective optimization:
	Convergence to an optimal front and a high diversity
	along the final front19
Figure 2-8:	Assumptions of the simple shear deformation
	behavior of unidirectional fiber reinforcements, used
	for the kinematic draping simulation, where fiber
	length and distance between the fibers remain
	unchanged during the draping procedure [61]
Figure 3-1:	Visualization of the patch optimization problem, with
	the center point \pmb{M} , the center point coordinates
	x,y, patch orientation $arphi$, length l , and width w

Figure 3-2:	Definition of search space, design space, and solution space for an optimization problem
Figure 3-3:	General workflow of an evolutionary algorithm with the main steps fitness evaluation, crossover, mutation, and selection
Figure 3-4:	Example for a multi-point parametrized binary crossover with number of points $\mu=1$
Figure 3-5:	Example for a multi-point binary crossover with number of points $\mu=2$
Figure 3-6:	A special behavior of the binary crossover operator is that the decoded average of both parent and offspring strings stays the same
Figure 3-7:	Example for a bit switching mutation operation
Figure 3-8:	Subdivision of the results into different fronts, with fronts good (a) and bad (b) for a below-limit selection method
Figure 3-9:	Visualization of the domination values and dominated areas for an example set of individuals
Figure 4-1:	Node calculation, starting from the initial paths A and B (a), and for all further nodes (b)
Figure 4-2:	Tool geometry with two different angles at the sides D1 and D2, and three reference patch configurations A, B, C
Figure 4-3:	Comparison of the results for configuration A: kinematic method (green) is congruent with mechanical method (blue) [118])52
Figure 4-4:	Comparison of the results for configuration B: the kinematic model (green) differs from the mechanical model (blue) only in the corners of the structure,

	perspective view (a), top (b), bottom view (c) [118], experimental result (d) [119]	53
Figure 4-5:	Comparison of the results for configuration C: top view with details D1 and D2 (green: kinematic method blue: mechanical method [118])	54
Figure 5-1:	Temperature curve of the heat rates used for DSC experiments and simulations	65
Figure 5-2:	Comparison of the results from the DSC experiments (dashed lines) and simulations (solid lines) for two different heat rates (15 K/min, 20 K/min): development of the cure rate (a) and degree of cure (b) over time; development of the cure rate (c) and degree of cure (d) over process temperature	67
Figure 5-3:	Plate model with the constraints B1, B2, B3, and the reference evaluation point A (a), and temperature profile (b)	70
Figure 5-4:	Resulting displacement (a) and resulting strain (b) at reference point A, cf. Figure 5-3 (a) with consideration of curing and without consideration of curing	71
Figure 6-1:	Inaccuracies during the prepreg production: misalignment of patch and fiber direction during cutting (a), and shift in the fiber orientation of the semi-finished product (b)	74
Figure 6-2:	Resulting total deformation (left) and displacement (right) for a patch reinforcement during the manufacturing process [129]	75
Figure 6-3:	CAE chain used for the patch optimization	76
Figure 6-4:	Integration of the fitness calculation in the genetic optimization algorithm of the Dakota tool box (a),	

	used to solve the patch optimization problem (b) by applying the two-step fitness calculation (c)
Figure 6-5:	Fitness calculation when incorporating a warpage simulation in the optimization78
Figure 6-6:	Dominated area calculation for generation $m{i}$ (black solid line) and $m{i}+m{1}$ (grey dotted line), and the maximum points $m{k1}$ and $m{k2}$ (red dots)
Figure 6-7:	Heat map with the individuals from the final Pareto front only, where the colour represents the patch concentration along the final front (red = high patch concentration, blue = low patch concentration), while the abscissa and ordinate axes represent the initial components x and y coordinates
Figure 6-8:	Heat map with all results obtained during the optimization (colour and axes as for Figure 6-7)
Figure 6-9:	(b) Heat map with a selected number of individuals (colour and axes as for Figure 6-7); here the 15 stiffest individuals are visualized ((a) red dots in the Pareto front)85
Figure 7-1:	Distribution of all calculated individuals in the search space of A-Opt 1 (parametrized binary crossover) in comparison with four reference solutions (a). The blue points represent the final Pareto front. Load case used for application example plate-1, where A represents the constraint and B the load (b). Patch configurations of four reference solutions (c). The red bars illustrate the resulting percentage share of all individuals (blue and grey dots in (a)) for each patch- usage group with a step-length of 25mm (d). (from [103], modified)

Figure 7-2:	Comparison of the results of the two crossover
	processes A-Opt 1 (parameterized binary crossover)
	and A-Opt 2 (multi-point binary crossover): (a)
	Comparison of the final Pareto fronts, (b) the
	dominated area for the evaluation of the
	convergence behavior, (c) development of the
	number of elements on the current Pareto front for
	each generation, (d) percentage share of the
	solutions along the Pareto front (blue dots in (a)) for
	each length-group with a step-length of 25mm, (e)
	heat map for A-Opt 1, (f) heat map for A-Opt 2. [103] 91
Figure 7-3:	Load case and evaluation of the example structure
2	plate-2 for different patch numbers: Comparison of
	the different Pareto fronts (a), load case used for all
	calculation (b), the dominated area for the evaluation
	of the convergence behavior (c), development of the
	number of elements on the current Pareto front for
	each generation (d)94
Figure 7-4:	Considered section of the Pareto front (a), and the
-	corresponding heat maps: A-Opt 3 (b), A-Opt 4 (c), A-
	Opt 5 (d)
Figure 7-5:	Comparison of the results for the variation of
U	maximum number of generations (A-Opt 5: n=AAA,
	A-Opt 6: n=200), (a) Comparison of the final Pareto
	fronts, (b) the dominated area for the evaluation of
	the convergence behavior, (c) development of the
	elements on the current Pareto front for each
	generation, (d) heat map for the final generation of
	A-Opt 6
Figure 7-6:	(a) Comparison of the Pareto fronts obtained for the
	curved structure, (b) predefined reference points to

	classify the results, and (c) load conditions. (from [103], modified)101
Figure 7-7:	Comparison of the results for the variation of the mutation (B-Opt 1: low mutation rate, B-Opt 2: high mutation rate), (a) Comparison of the final Pareto fronts, (b) the dominated area for the evaluation of the convergence behavior, (c) development of the elements on the current Pareto front for each generation, (d) percentage share of the solutions along the Pareto front for each length-group [103, 103]
Figure 7-8:	Comparison of the results for the variation of the replacement type (B-Opt 1: elitist replacement, B-Opt 3: below-limit replacement) , (a) to (d) as inFigure 7-7. [103]
Figure 7-9:	Comparison of the results for no-niching and niching (B-Opt 1: no-niching, B-Opt 4: niching), (a) to (d) as in Figure 7-7. [103]105
Figure 7-10:	Top view of the generated heat-maps for the results obtained along the Pareto front (red: high patch concentration, blue: low patch concentration): (a) basic setup (B-Opt 1), (b) higher mutation rate (B-Opt 2), (c) change of replacement type (B-Opt 3), (d) niching pressure (B-Opt 4). [103]
Figure 7-11:	Reference structure used as a 3D validation structure: (a) load case with the four support points A1 to A4 and the line loads B, (b) top view of the structure with the sides with different slope C and D, and the sides with an equal slope E
Figure 7-12:	Comparison of the Pareto fronts achieved with the two crossover types (C-Opt 1: parameterized binary,

	B-Opt 2: multi-point binary) with four referencepoints to classify the results. In reference point 3 and4 the smaller patch is equal to the minimum patchlength of 25 mm
Figure 7-13:	Comparison of the results for the variation of the crossover (C-Opt 1: parameterized binary, B-Opt 2: multi-point binary), (a) Comparison of the dominated area for the evaluation of the convergence behavior, (b) development of the elements on the current Pareto front for each generation, (c) percentage share of the solutions along the Pareto front for each length-group
Figure 7-14:	Heat maps of the two optimization runs, each with perspective and top view: (a) and (b) with parameterized binary crossover (C-Opt 1); (c) and (d) with multi-point binary crossover (C-Opt 2);
Figure 7-15:	Load case for the warpage simulation: (a) model with the constraint points (A1: x and y direction, A2: z direction) and the evaluation points for the distortion criteria (C1 to C4), (b) temperature profile used for the curing and warpage simulation
Figure 7-16:	Results for the combined structural and warpage optimization: (a) 3D representation of the final Pareto front (results and interpolation); Analysis of the Pareto front in the three solution spaces (b) strain energy from curing and load case, (c) strain energy from load case and distortion, (d) distortion and strain energy from curing, (e) dominated area for the evaluation of the convergence behavior, (f) development of the elements on the current Pareto front for each generation

Figure 7-17:	Heat maps of the optimization run with warpage consideration, (a) perspective and (b) top view	116
Figure 8-1:	Effect of the variation of the design parameters on the solutions for two exemplary designs, where equal variation of the design parameters may result in different variations in the solution space	120
Figure 8-2:	Definition of the degree of robustness k in the design (left) and solution space (right) where $\Delta F0$, 1 and $\Delta F0$, 2 represents the maximum allowed deviation in the solution space ([133] modified)	121
Figure 8-3:	Definition of a tolerance region in the design space (left) and the corresponding objective sensitivity region (OSR) with the resulting worst-case-objective- sensitivity-region (WCOSR) and the acceptable objective variation range (AOVR) (right), ([137] modified)	122
Figure 8-4:	Workflow of the robustness evaluation method, based on the results created by the optimization [140]1	128
Figure 8-5:	Results of the calculation of robustness index (a) and degree of robustness (b), both in comparison with the final Pareto front (black dots)	131
Figure 8-6:	(a) Pareto front with the selected points and the created robustness heat maps, (b) for the stiffest point (point 1, $k = 4$), and (c) for a point with a high robustness (point 2, $k = 10$)	132
12 List of tables

Table 4-1:	Comparison of the computational times for the reference configurations	. 55
Table 5-1:	Fitting parameters of the Kamal-Malkin curing model, based on DSC measurements performed by Schwab [121]	. 65
Table 5-2:	Material parameters used for the calculation of the expansional strain	. 69
Table 7-1:	Setup of the evolutionary algorithm used for the test calculations with the plate structure	. 88
Table 7-2:	Setup of the evolutionary algorithm used for the patch number influence study	. 92
Table 7-3:	Calculated actual probability of mutation, based on the number of design variables and a probability of mutation $\vartheta m = 0.2$. 93
Table 7-4:	Setup of the evolutionary algorithm used for the study of the influence of the maximum number of generations	. 96
Table 7-5:	Setup of the evolutionary algorithm for the second application example	. 99
Table 7-6:	Setup of the evolutionary algorithm for the study with the 3D structure	107
Table 7-7:	Setup of the evolutionary algorithm used for the warpage optimization	112
Table 8-1:	Parameter setup for the robustness evaluation of the application example	129

13 List of symbols

Optimization

- **D** Design space
- *d* Domination value
- *F* Set of feasible solutions
- *F_i* Fitness value
- **G** Search space
- *K_i* Number of offspring in generation *i*
- k_1, k_2 Extreme points of Pareto front
- *l* Patch length
- **S** Solutions space
- **U** Set of feasible designs
- *u* Vector of design variables
- w Patch width
- *x* Patch position in *x* direction
- *y* Patch position in *y* direction
- ϑ_c Probability for crossover
- ϑ_m Probability for mutation

<i>κ_i</i> Offspring from generati	on i	
--	------	--

- μ Number of crossover points
- φ Patch orientation
- Ψ Number of individuals in population *i*
- ψ Population *i*
- ω_i Weighting factor for the heat-map

Draping

A Path in fiber direct

- *a_i* Node *i*
- *B* Path perpendicular to fiber orientation
- *M* Midpoint of the patch
- *m* Mesh size

Curing

- *A_i* Material dependent fitting parameter
- *E* Young's modulus
- H_{max} Total reaction enthalpy
- H(t) Accumulated enthalpy until time t
- *K* Bulk modulus

- *k*_{*i*} Material dependent fitting parameter
- *p_i* Fitting parameter
- *q* Degree of cure
- R Universal gas constant
- S_{kkij} Compliance matrix
- T Temperature
- *T*_g Glass transition temperature
- $T_{g\infty}$ Glass transition temperature of the fully cured system
- $T_{\rm g0}$ Glass transition temperature of the uncured system
- t Time
- ΔV Volume shrinkage
- α Coefficient of thermal expansion
- β Coefficient of chemical shrinkage
- ε Strain
- η Poisson's ratio
- θ Fiber volume content
- λ Material dependent fitting parameter
- ρ Density

Robustness study

- *A* Set of solutions
- *d* Grow rate
- ΔF Acceptable objective variation range
- h_0 Initial sample size
- *k* Neighborhood number / degree of robustness
- *p* Percentage of individuals to be within the robust neighborhood
- Δu Deviation of the design variables
- δ Size of the test neighborhood
- η Robustness index
- Ω Sensitivity set

14 Vocabulary for evolutionary algorithm

Fitness	Quality of the solution
Gene	Solution in search space representation
Generation	Iteration
Individual	Potential solution, vector of design variables
Mutation	Random based change in the gene
Offspring / children	New individual
Parent	Individual, used to create new individuals
Population	Set of solutions
Crossover	Operator to create new solutions from existing so- lutions
Selection	Operator to determine how survives to the next generation

Karlsruher Schriftenreihe Fahrzeugsystemtechnik (ISSN 1869-6058)

Herausgeber: FAST Institut für Fahrzeugsystemtechnik

Band 1	Urs Wiesel Hybrides Lenksystem zur Kraftstoffeinsparung im schweren Nutzfahrzeug. 2010 ISBN 978-3-86644-456-0
Band 2	Andreas Huber Ermittlung von prozessabhängigen Lastkollektiven eines hydrostatischen Fahrantriebsstrangs am Beispiel eines Teleskopladers. 2010 ISBN 978-3-86644-564-2
Band 3	Maurice Bliesener Optimierung der Betriebsführung mobiler Arbeitsmaschinen Ansatz für ein Gesamtmaschinenmanagement. 2010 ISBN 978-3-86644-536-9
Band 4	Manuel Boog Steigerung der Verfügbarkeit mobiler Arbeitsmaschinen durch Betriebslasterfassung und Fehleridentifikation an hydrostatischen Verdrängereinheiten. 2011 ISBN 978-3-86644-600-7
Band 5	Christian Kraft Gezielte Variation und Analyse des Fahrverhaltens von Kraftfahrzeugen mittels elektrischer Linearaktuatoren im Fahrwerksbereich. 2011 ISBN 978-3-86644-607-6
Band 6	Lars Völker Untersuchung des Kommunikationsintervalls bei der gekoppelten Simulation. 2011 ISBN 978-3-86644-611-3
Band 7	3. Fachtagung Hybridantriebe für mobile Arbeitsmaschinen. 17. Februar 2011, Karlsruhe. 2011 ISBN 978-3-86644-599-4

Die Bände sind unter www.ksp.kit.edu als PDF frei verfügbar oder als Druckausgabe bestellbar.

Band 8	Vladimir Iliev Systemansatz zur anregungsunabhängigen Charakterisierung des Schwingungskomforts eines Fahrzeugs. 2011 ISBN 978-3-86644-681-6
Band 9	Lars Lewandowitz Markenspezifische Auswahl, Parametrierung und Gestaltung der Produktgruppe Fahrerassistenzsysteme. Ein methodisches Rahmenwerk. 2011 ISBN 978-3-86644-701-1
Band 10	Phillip Thiebes Hybridantriebe für mobile Arbeitsmaschinen. Grundlegende Erkenntnisse und Zusammenhänge, Vorstellung einer Methodik zur Unterstützung des Entwicklungsprozesses und deren Validierung am Beispiel einer Forstmaschine. 2012 ISBN 978-3-86644-808-7
Band 11	Martin Gießler Mechanismen der Kraftübertragung des Reifens auf Schnee und Eis. 2012 ISBN 978-3-86644-806-3
Band 12	Daniel Pies Reifenungleichförmigkeitserregter Schwingungskomfort – Quantifizierung und Bewertung komfortrelevanter Fahrzeugschwingungen. 2012 ISBN 978-3-86644-825-4
Band 13	Daniel Weber Untersuchung des Potenzials einer Brems-Ausweich-Assistenz. 2012 ISBN 978-3-86644-864-3
Band 14	7. Kolloquium Mobilhydraulik. 27./28. September 2012 in Karlsruhe. 2012 ISBN 978-3-86644-881-0
Band 15	4. Fachtagung Hybridantriebe für mobile Arbeitsmaschinen 20. Februar 2013, Karlsruhe. 2013 ISBN 978-3-86644-970-1
Band 16	Hans-Joachim Unrau Der Einfluss der Fahrbahnoberflächenkrümmung auf den Rollwiderstand, die Cornering Stiffness und die Aligning Stiffness von Pkw-Reifen. 2013 ISBN 978-3-86644-983-1

Die Bände sind unter www.ksp.kit.edu als PDF frei verfügbar oder als Druckausgabe bestellbar.

Band 17	Xi Zhang Untersuchung und Entwicklung verschiedener Spurführungsansätze für Offroad-Fahrzeuge mit Deichselverbindung. Nicht erschienen ISBN 978-3-7315-0005-6
Band 18	Stefanie Grollius Analyse des gekoppelten Systems Reifen-Hohlraum-Rad- Radführung im Rollzustand und Entwicklung eines Rollgeräuschmodells. 2013 ISBN 978-3-7315-0029-2
Band 19	Tobias Radke Energieoptimale Längsführung von Kraftfahrzeugen durch Einsatz vorausschauender Fahrstrategien. 2013 ISBN 978-3-7315-0069-8
Band 20	David Gutjahr Objektive Bewertung querdynamischer Reifeneigenschaften im Gesamtfahrzeugversuch. 2014 ISBN 978-3-7315-0153-4
Band 21	Neli Ovcharova Methodik zur Nutzenanalyse und Optimierung sicherheitsrelevanter Fahrerassistenzsysteme. 2014 ISBN 978-3-7315-0176-3
Band 22	Marcus Geimer, Christian Pohlandt Grundlagen mobiler Arbeitsmaschinen. 2014 ISBN 978-3-7315-0188-6
Band 23	Timo Kautzmann Die mobile Arbeitsmaschine als komplexes System. 2014 ISBN 978-3-7315-0187-9
Band 24	Roman Weidemann Analyse der mechanischen Randbedingungen zur Adaption der oszillierenden Hinterschneidtechnik an einen Mobilbagger. 2014 ISBN 978-3-7315-0193-0
Band 25	Yunfan Wei Spurführungsregelung eines aktiv gelenkten Radpaars für Straßenbahnen. 2014 ISBN 978-3-7315-0232-6

Band 26	David Schmitz Entwurf eines fehlertoleranten Lenkventils für Steer-by-Wire Anwendungen bei Traktoren. 2014 ISBN 978-3-7315-0264-7
Band 27	Christian Schwab Beitrag zu einer universellen Baggerschnittstelle zur Übertragung elektrischer und hydraulischer Leistung sowie elektronischer Signale für komplexe Anbaugeräte. 2014 ISBN 978-3-7315-0281-4
Band 28	Peter Dengler Untersuchung zum effizienten Betrieb von Hydraulik- zylindern in Konstantdrucksystemen unter Verwendung einer Zwischendruckleitung. 2015 ISBN 978-3-7315-0295-1
Band 29	Manuel Bös Untersuchung und Optimierung der Fahrkomfort- und Fahr- dynamikeigenschaften von Radladern unter Berücksichtigung der prozessspezifischen Randbedingungen. 2015 ISBN 978-3-7315-0310-1
Band 30	5. Fachtagung Hybride und energieeffiziente Antriebe für mobile Arbeitsmaschinen. 25. Februar 2015, Karlsruhe. 2015 ISBN 978-3-7315-0323-1
Band 31	Michael Eckert Energieoptimale Fahrdynamikregelung mehrmotoriger Elektrofahrzeuge. 2015 ISBN 978-3-7315-0332-3
Band 32	Martin Scherer Beitrag zur Effizienzsteigerung mobiler Arbeitsmaschinen. Entwicklung einer elektrohydraulischen Bedarfsstromsteuerung mit aufgeprägtem Volumenstrom. 2015 ISBN 978-3-7315-0339-2
Band 33	Rinaldo Arnold Automatische Abstimmung der Sekundärseite eines dreiphasigen Systems zur berührungslosen induktiven Energieübertragung. 2015 ISBN 978-3-7315-0355-2
Band 34	Johannes Gültlinger Kraftübertragung und Fahrbahnverschleiß durch Spikereifen. 2015 ISBN 978-3-7315-0358-3

Band 35	Thorsten Dreher Energieeffizienz von Konstantdrucksystemen mit sekundärgeregelten Antrieben beim Einsatz in mobilen Arbeitsmaschinen. 2015 ISBN 978-3-7315-0377-4
Band 36	Steffen Kölling Konzeptionelle Untersuchung zur Neigekompensation von Stromabnehmern. 2015 ISBN 978-3-7315-0387-3
Band 37	Michael Fritz Entwicklungswerkzeuge für die Fahrzeugklimatisierung von Nutzfahrzeugen. 2015 ISBN 978-3-7315-0384-2
Band 38	Ralf Oberfell Stochastische Simulation von Energieflüssen im Nutzfahrzeug. Ein einsatzorientiertes Bewertungs- und Optimierungsverfahren. 2015 ISBN 978-3-7315-0403-0
Band 39	Christoph Sturm Bewertung der Energieeffizienz von Antriebssystemen mobiler Arbeitsmaschinen am Beispiel Bagger. 2015 ISBN 978-3-7315-0404-7
Band 40	Florian Netter Komplexitätsadaption integrierter Gesamtfahrzeugsimulationen. 2016 ISBN 978-3-7315-0414-6
Band 41	Markus Springmann Auslegung eines asynchronen Langstatorlinearmotors mit großem Luftspalt als Straßenbahnantrieb. 2015 ISBN 978-3-7315-0418-4
Band 42	Alexander Basler Eine modulare Funktionsarchitektur zur Umsetzung einer gesamtheitlichen Betriebsstrategie für Elektrofahrzeuge. 2015 ISBN 978-3-7315-0421-4
Band 43	Hans-Georg Wahl Optimale Regelung eines prädiktiven Energiemanagements von Hybridfahrzeugen. 2015 ISBN 978-3-7315-0422-1

Band 44	Jennifer Heck Zur Simulation des Rad-Schiene-Verschleißes bei Straßenbahnen. 2016 ISBN 978-3-7315-0443-6
Band 45	Moritz Vaillant Design Space Exploration zur multikriteriellen Optimierung elektrischer Sportwagenantriebsstränge: Variation von Topologie und Komponenteneigenschaften zur Steigerung von Fahrleistungen und Tank-to-Wheel Wirkungsgrad. 2016 ISBN 978-3-7315-0452-8
Band 46	Philip Nagel Entwicklung einer Betriebsstrategie zur Energierückgewinnung in hybriden Mehrverbrauchersystemen. 2016 ISBN 978-3-7315-0479-5
Band 47	Matthias Pfriem Analyse der Realnutzung von Elektrofahrzeugen in kommerziellen Flotten zur Definition einer bedarfsgerechten Fahrzeugauslegung. 2016 ISBN 978-3-7315-0489-4
Band 48	Mohanad El-Haji Ontologie-basierte Definition von Anforderungen an Validierungswerkzeuge in der Fahrzeugtechnik. 2016 ISBN 978-3-7315-0496-2
Band 49	9. Kolloquium Mobilhydraulik 22./23. September 2016 in Karlsruhe. 2016 ISBN 978-3-7315-0573-0
Band 50	6. Fachtagung Hybride und energieeffiziente Antriebe für mobile Arbeitsmaschinen. 15. Februar 2017, Karlsruhe. 2017 ISBN 978-3-7315-0601-0
Band 51	Fabian Schirmaier Experimentelle Untersuchung und Simulation des Umformverhaltens nähgewirkter unidirektionaler Kohlenstofffasergelege. 2017 ISBN 978-3-7315-0620-1
Band 52	Mathias Cabrera Cano Neuronale Netze mit externen Laguerre-Filtern zur automatischen numerischen Vereinfachung von Getriebemodellen. 2017 ISBN 978-3-7315-0621-8

Band 53	Arwed Schmidt Flottenbetrieb von elektrischen und autonomen Serviceagenten im städtischen Personennahverkehr. 2017 ISBN 978-3-7315-0633-1
Band 54	Katharina Knaisch Untersuchung von Spulensystemen zur induktiven Energie- übertragung von Elektrofahrzeugen. Vergleich von Topologien und Entwicklung einer Auslegungsmethodik. 2017 ISBN 978-3-7315-0630-0
Band 55	Frank Christof Stalter Ansätze zur akustischen Optimierung von Reifen und Fahrbahnen für Elektrofahrzeuge unter Antriebsmoment. 2017 ISBN 978-3-7315-0645-4
Band 56	Steffen Rose Modellbildung und Simulation von mobilen Arbeitsmaschinen. Untersuchungen zu systematischen Modellvereinfachungen in der Simulation von Antriebssystemen am Beispiel Bagger. 2017 ISBN 978-3-7315-0684-3
Band 57	Ulrico Peckelsen Objective Tyre Development. Definition and Analysis of Tyre Characteristics and Quantification of their Conflicts. 2017 ISBN 978-3-7315-0713-0
Band 58	Stefan Haag Sequentieller Versuch zur HiL-unterstützten Validierung hybrider Antriebssysteme mit gekoppelten Antriebseinheiten. 2018 ISBN 978-3-7315-0752-9
Band 59	Dirk Hülsebusch Fahrerassistenzsysteme zur energieeffizienten Längsregelung - Analyse und Optimierung der Fahrsicherheit. 2018 ISBN 978-3-7315-0755-0
Band 60	Christian Pohlandt Intelligentes Gesamtmaschinenmanagement für elektrische Antriebssysteme. 2018 ISBN 978-3-7315-0774-1
Band 61	Oliver Maier Modellbasierte Entwicklung eines aktiven Sicherheitssystems für elektrifizierte Fahrräder. 2018 ISBN 978-3-7315-0778-9

Band 62	Stephan Rhode Robust and Regularized Algorithms for Vehicle Tractive Force Prediction and Mass Estimation. 2018 ISBN 978-3-7315-0807-6
Band 63	Péter Megyesi Methode zur Einbindung realer Nutzerprofile in die ökologische und ökonomische Bewertung von Fahrzeugkonzepten. 2018 ISBN 978-3-7315-0808-3
Band 64	Benedikt Reick Methode zur Analyse und Bewertung von stufenlosen Traktorgetrieben mit mehreren Schnittstellen. 2018 ISBN 978-3-7315-0815-1
Band 65	Matthias Graf Entwicklung und Validierung einer neuen Methode zur Charakterisierung des Scherverhaltens von Carbonfaser- gewebe mit Binderauftrag unter Normalkraft und viskoser Reibung bei hohen Prozesstemperaturen. 2018 ISBN 978-3-7315-0838-0
Band 66	Christoph Kühn Simulation von Fahrspielen und Energieflüssen in Nahverkehrssystemen. 2018 ISBN 978-3-7315-0740-6
Band 67	7. Fachtagung Hybride und energieeffiziente Antriebe für mobile Arbeitsmaschinen. 20. Februar 2019, Karlsruhe. 2019 ISBN 978-3-7315-0873-1
Band 68	Oliver Krauss Experimentelle Untersuchungen zum Innengeräusch von Fahrzeugluftreifen. 2019 ISBN 978-3-7315-0867-0
Band 69	Tristan Reich Beurteilung der Prüfprozesseignung bei Fahrzeugversuchen mit mobilen Arbeitsmaschinen. 2019 ISBN 978-3-7315-0848-9
Band 70	Matthias Bürckert Realitätsnahe Bewertung des Einflusses der Oberflächen- spannung flüssiger Zwischenmedien auf den maximalen Reibschluss zwischen Reifen und Fahrbahn. 2019 ISBN 978-3-7315-0891-5

Band 71	Matthias Greiner Verfahren zur Prädiktion des Rollwiderstands bei variablen Betriebsparametern auf Basis standardisierter Rollwiderstandsmessungen. 2019 ISBN 978-3-7315-0898-4
Band 72	David Hummelberger Hybride Werkstoffsysteme: Systematische Betrachtung und Bewertung der physikalischen Wirkmechanismen. 2019 ISBN 978-3-7315-0901-1
Band 73	Michael Kerber Analyse dynamischer Reifeneigenschaften und deren Auswirkung auf den Schwingungskomfort. 2019 ISBN 978-3-7315-0944-8
Band 74	Kilian Berthold Techno-ökonomische Auslegungsmethodik für die Elektrifizierung urbaner Busnetze. 2019 ISBN 978-3-7315-0953-0
Band 75	Bernd Wassertheurer Reifenmodellierung für die Fahrdynamiksimulation auf Schnee, Eis und nasser Fahrbahn. 2019 ISBN 978-3-7315-0957-8
Band 76	Kai-Lukas Bauer Echtzeit-Strategieplanung für vorausschauendes automatisiertes Fahren. 2020 ISBN 978-3-7315-0949-3
Band 77	Thomas Schirle Systementwurf eines elektromechanischen Fahrwerks für Megacitymobilität. 2020 ISBN 978-3-7315-0995-0
Band 78	Dominik Dörr Simulation of the thermoforming process of UD fiber-reinforced thermoplastic tape laminates. 2021 ISBN 978-3-7315-0998-1
Band 79	Dominik Robert Naake Simulation of damage mechanisms in weave reinforced materials based on multiscale modeling. 2020 ISBN 978-3-7315-1005-5

- Band 80 Martin Hohberg Experimental investigation and process simulation of the compression molding process of Sheet Molding Compound (SMC) with local reinforcements. 2021 ISBN 978-3-7315-1007-9
- Band 81 Benedikt Fengler Manufacturing-constrained multi-objective optimization of local patch reinforcements for discontinuous fiber reinforced composite parts. 2021 ISBN 978-3-7315-1006-2

Karlsruher Schriftenreihe Fahrzeugsystemtechnik



Diese Arbeit leistet einen Beitrag zur Optimierung von lokalen endlosfaserverstärkten Patches, unter Berücksichtigung von Fertigungsbedingungen. Der in dieser Arbeit entwickelte Mehrziel-Optimierungsansatz verwendet dabei einen evolutionären Algorithmus als Optimierungsalgorithmus. Da diese Klasse von Algorithmen eine Vielzahl von Funktionsauswertungen erfordert, sind effiziente Methoden zur Bewertung der Fitnesswerte notwendig. Aus diesem Grund wird eine kinematische Drapiersimulation zur Vorhersage der Patch-Geometrie verwendet. Als Zielfunktionen für die Mehrzieloptimierung werden sowohl strukturelle als auch prozessbezogene Ziele verwendet. Als strukturelles Optimierungsziel wird die Bauteilsteifigkeit verwendet, welche mittels einer linear-elastischen Struktursimulation ermittelt wird, während für das prozessbezogene Ziel eine Verzugssimulation durchgeführt wird. Neben dem Verzugsziel werden weitere relevante Fertigungseinflüsse und -randbedingungen aus dem Halbzeug-, Drapier- und Co-Molding-Prozess diskutiert und finden während der Optimierung Berücksichtigung.

